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The primary objective of this dissertation is to 

determine the factors that have shaped the corporate 

financial reporting practices in Bahrain. Prior researchers 

have offered two explanations, environmental factors and 

cultural importation, for the emergence of financial 

reporting practices in developing countries. The 

environmental explanation suggests that a nation's financial 

reporting practices will be shaped by its socioeconomic 

structure. The cultural importation explanation states that 

the desire for international legitimacy creates incentives 

for developing nation to adopt Western financial reporting 

practices. 

Bahrain provided an excellent environment in which to 

examine the two explanations since its public and closed 

corporations have similar economic characteristics. Only 

public corporations are legally required to publish 

financial reports. I posited that public corporations would 

try to gain legitimacy for their published reports by 

adopting Western standards, while closed corporations would 

not have a similar incentive. 



I used an interpretive framework to analyze the Bahrain 

socioeconomic environment and to examine the general 

financial reporting practices of Bahraini corporations. I 

found that closed corporations provided data responsive to 

the Bahraini environment. Public corporations, however, 

adopted International Accounting Standards. My analysis 

supported prior researchers7 findings that colonialism, the 

need for international legitimacy, and international audit 

firms were important factors in gaining acceptance for 

Western accounting practices. 

The adoption of Western financial reporting practices 

may be dysfunctional to a developing nation like Bahrain if 

these practices do not provide relevant information about 

corporate performance. Therefore, Bahrain, as well as other 

developing countries, needs to proceed cautiously before 

adopting Western corporate reporting practices. 
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CHAPTER I 

INTRODUCTION 

The literature on accounting and reporting practices in 

developing countries is so general that it is difficult to 

discern the specific reporting practices in these countries. 

In their review of research on financial reporting in a 

transnational context, Meek and Saudagaran (1990: p.147) 

concluded that "most of the descriptive work to date is 

limited to developed nations, and there is clearly scope for 

additional research on accounting in socialist and 

developing countries." They also pointed out that there is 

more descriptive literature on accounting and reporting 

practices in socialist countries than in developing 

countries. Within developing countries, the accounting 

literature that deals with accounting and reporting 

practices in the Persian/Arabian Gulf (hereafter referred to 

as the Gulf) countries is extremely limited. This is 

specially true with respect to English language literature. 

Given this scarcity, there is clearly room for research that 

examines the accounting and reporting practices in this area 

of the world. 

The primary objective of this dissertation was to 

determine the factors that have influenced the corporate 



financial reporting and disclosure practices in Bahrain, one 

of the countries in the Gulf. I begin by examining the 

relevance of the economic based hypotheses that agency 

theorists posit to have led to demands for traditional 

financial reporting and disclosure practices. My objective 

is to show why those hypotheses do not appear to be relevant 

in Bahrain. I then examine two alternative hypotheses, the 

environmental hypothesis and the cultural importation 

hypothesis, that are expected to provide more relevant 

explanations for corporate financial reporting and 

disclosure practices in Bahrain. 

An Examination of Agency Theory Hypotheses 

Market incentives for Western financial reporting and 

disclosure practices offered by agency theorists, such as 

the monitoring hypothesis and the information hypothesis, 

do not appear to be relevant to Bahrain since Bahrain has a 

socio-economic environment that differs from that of the US 

and other Western developed nations. For example, 

widespread ownership and separation of ownership and control 

assumed by agency theorists to create demands for accounting 

information to monitor management (stewardship hypothesis) 

do not exist in Bahraini corporations. Most Bahraini 

corporations are closely held by the government of Bahrain, 



institutional investors, and a small number of wealthy 

individuals. 

The information hypothesis also does not seem to apply 

in Bahrain. Providing accounting information to raise 

capital appears to be unimportant in Bahrain because most 

Bahraini corporations are net lenders, not borrowers, of 

capital. The Bahrain Stock Exchange, which was established 

in 1989, is generally inactive. 

The auxiliary agency theory hypotheses, bonus 

compensation, debt covenants and political visibility 

(size), also appear to be irrelevant to Bahrain. In Bahrain 

there is no independent managerial class from which small 

shareholders should be protected. Management is appointed 

and directly controlled by boards of directors that are made 

up of major shareholders. Since there is no perceived need 

to align shareholder and managerial interests, management 

compensation is not tied to reported accounting profit. 

Also, debt covenants do not create incentives for the type 

of information found in Western financial reports because 

Bahraini corporations rarely incur any long term debt. Nor 

do political visibility (size) create an incentive for 

traditional accounting information since the government has 

either a controlling or significant influence in most 

Bahraini major corporations. 



Bahrain has a planned market economy that is dominated 

by a monopolistic/oligopolistic operating environment and 

extensive government control and ownership. The government 

of Bahrain administers prices and exercises close control 

over the nation's economic activities in general and over 

large corporations in particular. The prices of about 50 

"essential" commodities are controlled by the government. 

In addition, most Bahraini key industries (e.g., oil and 

gas, aluminum, petrochemicals, flour milling, shipbuilding, 

cinema, telecommunications, air lines, poultry, hotels, 

commercial banking) are either monopolistic or 

oligopolistic. In this managed, monopolistic corporate 

operating environment, traditional Western profit 

calculations cannot be interpreted to be a measure of 

managerial efficiency. In such circumstances, traditional 

accounting profit measurement may be dysfunctional as it 

could result in a misallocation of resources. 

Finally, in a small developing nation like Bahrain, 

long-term growth and stability are the most important 

corporate objectives. These objectives may best be achieved 

through extensive cooperation and coordination between the 

government and the business sector. Traditional Anglo 

American corporate reporting practices that create 

incentives for short-term profit maximization appear to be 



inconsistent with the need for long-term investments to 

ensure corporate stability (Reich, 1983). 

In sum, economic based hypotheses offered by agency 

theorists do not appear to be relevant in Bahrain. 

Therefore, I examined two hypotheses, the environmental 

hypothesis and the cultural importation hypothesis, that 

provide alternative explanations for a nation's corporate 

financial reporting and disclosure practices. The two 

hypotheses are discussed below. 

The Environmental Hypothesis 

Accounting researchers have increasingly recognized 

that accounting is not a "natural" phenomenon. Rather, it 

is a man-made system that is based on socially constructed 

reality and shaped by different socio-political systems 

(Hopwood 1983, Chua 1986, Hines 1988, Morgan 1988, Dillard 

1991). Samuels and Oliga (1982, p. 81) concluded that: 

There is no agreed theory of accounting, no 
commonly accepted conceptual framework. 
Accounting is not a natural technology, recording 
all information required for the purpose of 
stewardship and the measurement of performance. 
The data that it is decided to record, and the 
way in which this is disclosed in accounting 
statements are based on what a society, or 
certain groups within that society, consider to 
be relevant to users' needs. 

Because accounting is a socially determined 

technology, many accounting researchers have contended that 

the accounting system should develop in a manner relevant to 



the society in which it exists. Mueller (1968), Radebaugh 

(1975), Arpan and Radebaugh (1985), Hove (1986), and Choi 

and Mueller (1992), to name only a few, have posited that 

accounting is a product of the socio-economic environment in 

which it operates and that its meaningfulness depends upon 

its ability to mirror its environment. This body of 

researchers, thus, have developed an "environmental" 

hypothesis, namely that an accounting information system 

should be designed to provide information relevant to a 

particular socio-economic environment (AAA, 1977). 

Given the socio-economic environment of Bahrain, 

Bahraini corporations should be expected to provide 

accounting information that differs significantly from the 

Anglo American model if the environmental hypothesis is 

correct. The information provided should be tailored to 

assessing managerial effectiveness in meeting national 

goals. Currently, one of the major concerns of the Bahraini 

people is Bahrainization, i.e., the replacement of 

expatriate workers with Bahrainis. Thus, I expected to 

find Bahraini corporations disclosing information on their 

performance with respect to recruiting, training, and 

improving the standards of living of Bahraini workers. In 

addition, since the importance of oil as a main source of 

Bahrain's hard currency is declining, the ability of a 

corporation to generate hard currency through export has 



become an important measure of management's efficiency. 

Therefore, I expected to find Bahraini corporations 

disclosing export information. Finally, since corporate 

growth and stability, rather than short-term profit 

maximization, are of major concern in Bahrain, I expected to 

find Bahraini corporations disclosing detailed production 

data. 

The Cultural Importation Hypothesis 

Since accounting technology and ideas can be readily 

imported and exported, a country's accounting and reporting 

practices may not be consistent with its local environment. 

Many accounting researchers have pointed out that the 

accounting and reporting practices of most developing 

countries reflect those of the Western developed nations, 

especially the US and the UK (e.g., Briston 1978; Samuels 

and Oliga 1982; Briston and Al-Ashkar 1983; Hove 1986; 

Belkaoui 1988). These researchers have developed a 

"cultural importation" hypothesis, namely a country may 

import or adopt accounting and reporting practices that are 

inconsistent with its basic socio-economic environment. 

Researchers have offered three explanations for the 

cultural importation phenomenon: (1) colonial rule, 

(2) influence of large accounting firms, and (3) desire for 

external legitimacy. Briston (1978) examined the colonial 
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influence and found that the British colonial power played a 

major role in transferring the British accounting and 

reporting practices to its former colonies. Seidler (1969) 

contended that international accounting firms are the most 

effective vehicle for the transfer of the Anglo American 

accounting and reporting practices to developing countries. 

Belkaoui (1988) posited that importation of western 

accounting and reporting practices by developing nations may 

result from a country's desire for external legitimacy. A 

developing nation may adopt internationally accepted 

accounting and reporting practices in order to legitimize 

its status as a full-fledged member of the international 

community. 

The cultural importation hypothesis provides an 

explanation for corporate accounting and reporting practices 

in Bahrain since all three factors that explain why we 

might find cultural importation are relevant to Bahrain. 

First, Bahrain was a British protectorate for over 100 

years. Second, all Big Six international accounting firms 

(i.e., Arthur Anderson & Co., Deloitte and Touche, Ernst & 

Young, Price Waterhouse, Coopers & Lybrand, and KPMG) are 

practicing in Bahrain. Finally, the desire for external 

legitimacy is strong in Bahrain since one of the Bahraini 

government's main objectives is to establish the country as 



an "international business and finance center." 

As suggested earlier the primary objective of this 

dissertation is to determine the circumstances and 

conditions under which local socio-cultural factors shape 

accounting and financial reporting practices and those under 

which external factors seem to be dominant. Bahrain 

provides an excellent environment in which to test the two 

hypotheses. First, while all Bahraini corporations, both 

publicly and privately held, must provide audited financial 

statements to the Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture, only 

publicly held corporations have a legal obligation to 

publish their financial statements. Since both types of 

companies must incur the cost of providing audited financial 

information to the government, cost does not seem to be an 

important consideration for Bahraini managers in making the 

decision of whether or not they will publish their financial 

reports. Second, Bahraini publicly and privately held 

corporations do not differ significantly with respect to 

economic variables, such as size, ownership, capital 

structure. I posit that publicly held corporations, faced 

with the legal requirement to publish their financial 

statements, will feel a need to legitimize their reports in 

the international community by adopting established Western 

practices and, therefore, cultural importation may be 
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expected to occur. Since they can choose what information 

to provide, closed corporations tailor their reports to 

provide information relevant to the socioeconomic conditions 

of Bahrain. 

The remainder of this chapter is divided into three 

sections. In the first section, I provide general 

background information about Bahrain. In the second 

section, I explain why the interpretive perspective provides 

an appropriate framework for examining accounting practices 

in Bahrain. In the last section, I present a general 

framework for analyzing Bahraini corporate accounting and 

reporting practices. 

Background Information- Bahrain 

The purpose of this section is to provide background 

information about Bahrain*. The section covers the 

following areas: geography and people, recent history and 

government, education, the economy, type of business 

organizations, corporate formation, the stock market, the 

accounting profession, social welfare, and labor and public 

pressure groups. 

(1) Unless otherwise stated, the following is the source 
of all statistical data in this section: Directorate of 
Statistics, State of Bahrain, Statistical Abstract 1991, 
Manama, Bahrain: Arabian Printing and Publishing House, 
1992. 
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Geography and People: 

The State of Bahrain consists of a group of 36 

islands. The islands are situated midway along the Persian 

(Arabian) Gulf, about 15 miles from the east coast of Saudi 

Arabia (to which it is linked by a causeway), and 17 miles 

from the west coast of Qatar. The largest of these islands 

is Bahrain itself, which is about 30 miles long and between 

8 miles and 15 miles wide. The total area of the islands is 

estimated at about 268.46 square miles (Directorate of 

Statistics, State of Bahrain, 1992). 

Currently, Bahrain has a population of about half a 

million of which about one third are expatriate workers. 

Expatriate workers are mostly from South and East Asia and 

Europe. Almost all Bahraini citizens are Muslims. Non-

Bahrainis include Muslims, Christians and adherents of other 

religions. A limited number of both Roman Catholic and 

Protestant churches exist in Bahrain. The official language 

is Arabic, but English is also widely spoken (Price 

Waterhouse, 1984). 

Although Bahrain is conventionally considered a 

"traditional " Arab society, in which social relations are 

primarily determined by tribal or religious factors, this 

picture is seriously misleading. Because (a) of the fact 

that Bahrain was a British protectorate for over 100 years, 

and (b) due to the arrival of numerous American and British 
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firms subsequent to the discovery and exploration of oil in 

the 1920's and 1930's, Bahrain assimilated a number of 

Western values. However, Arab and Islamic cultures are 

still dominant in the Bahraini society. 

In general, the people of Bahrain can be classified 

into two societal classes: a dominant class, and a 

subordinate class2. The dominant class consists of members 

of the ruling family and wealthy Bahraini families. The 

subordinate class is composed of all other Bahrainis such as 

small traders, government employees, laborers, farmers, 

craftsmen, and fishermen. The social environment under 

which the two groups live and interact can be characterized 

as peaceful and cooperative. 

Recent History and Government:3 

The recent history of Bahrain started when the current 

ruling family, A1-Khalifa, occupied Bahrain in the late 18th 

century. Coming from Kuwait, the Al-Khalifa family first 

attempted to reside in Bahrain in about 1760. However, Bani 

(2) Although there are large number of expatriate workers 
in Bahrain, this classification is limited to Bahraini 
citizens. Expatriate workers are excluded because they 
represent temporary workers who are not expected and are not 
allowed to stay in the country after the expiration of their 
work contracts. 

(3) The historical information provided in this section 
is based on Lawson's (1989) book. 
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Madhkur, an Omani tribe whose chief ruled Bahrain on behalf 

of the Shah of Persia, forced Al-Khalifa out of Bahrain. 

This led Al-Khalifa to settle at Zubara on the northwestern 

coast of Qatar. From Qatar, the Al-Khalifa family paid 

friendly pearl-buying visits to Bahrain and established a 

presence on the islands. In the late 1800s, the Al-Khalifa 

family supported by their cousins, Al-Sabah of Kuwait, drove 

out the Persian garrison from Bahrain and occupied the 

islands. 

In 1820, the ruling family in Bahrain, Al-Khalifa, 

created close ties with Britain by signing a treaty of 

protection, known as the General Treaty of Peace. The 

treaty specified that the ruler could not dispose of any of 

his territory except to the UK and could not enter into 

foreign relationships without British consent. In return, 

the British promised to protect Bahrain from all outside 

aggression. Under the treaty, the ruler and his British 

advisor governed Bahrain. 

In January 1968, when the British Government announced 

its intention to withdraw British military forces from the 

area, Bahrain joined Qatar and the Trucial Sheikhdoms (now 

the United Arab Emirates) in an effort to form a union of 

Arab emirates. By mid 1971, however, the nine sheikhdoms 

still had not agreed on terms of union. Accordingly, 

Bahrain sought independence as a separate entity. In 
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August 15, 1971, Bahrain became an independent state and 

signed a new treaty of friendship with the UK. 

Bahrain is governed by an Amir who is the head of 

state. The day-to-day administration of the Government is 

carried out by a council of ministers, which is headed by 

the Amir's brother, Prime Minster Sheikh Khalifa Bin Salman 

Al-Khalifa, and sixteen ministers drawn from within the Al-

Khalifa family and other important families in Bahrain. In 

1973, the Amir, Sheikh Isa Bin Salman Al-Khalifa, enacted a 

new constitution for the country. The Constitution provided 

for a National Assembly which would contain cabinet 

ministers and 30 elected members. In December 19 73, 

elections were held for the new Assembly. However, In 

August 1975, the Prime Minister submitted his resignation 

to the Amir, complaining of obstruction by the National 

Assembly. In the same year, the Amir dissolved the National 

Assembly and reappointed Sheikh Khalifa as a prime minister. 

New elections were promised, but no date has been announced. 

Education: 

Formal education was started in Bahrain in 1919 when 

the first boys' school was opened. Nine years later, in 

1928, the first girls' school was opened (Directorate of 

Statistics, State of Bahrain, 1992). Over the last ten 

years (1982-1991), annual actual recurrent educational 
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expenditures as percentage of total government expenditure 

ranged between 12.8% and 15.1%. In 1985, the average rate 

of adult illiteracy among Bahraini population was 27.3% 

(20.7% for males and 35.9% for females). Today, the 

illiteracy rate is much lower because of the Government's 

aggressive efforts, which started in mid 1980's, towards the 

objective of zero illiteracy among the Bahraini people in 

the year 2000. 

Education in Bahrain is not compulsory, but state 

education is available free of charge. Pre-college 

education is divided into three stages: Primary stage (6 

years), Intermediate stage (3 years), and Secondary stage (3 

years). The government also provides free religious 

education. However, this type of education is not popular. 

In 1991, there were only 313 students (all males) enrolled 

in religious education out of a total student population of 

100,658 (50,603 males and 50,055 females). Beside 

government schools, there are also a number of national and 

foreign private schools. Foreign private schools are those 

schools which have been established by the expatriate 

communities in Bahrain and include Indian, Pakistani, 

British, French, and American schools. In 1991, the total 

number of students enrolled in private schools was 12,944 

students (6,963 males and 5,961 females). College education 

in Bahrain is mainly provided by the University of Bahrain, 
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the Arabian Gulf University and a number of specialized 

colleges and training centers such as the Bahrain Institute 

of Banking and Finance, the College of Health Sciences, and 

the Bahrain Hotel and Catering Training Center. Of the 

above, the University of Bahrain is the largest with a 5,590 

students in 1991. Also, the University of Bahrain is the 

only academic institution that offers a degree in accounting 

in Bahrain. 

The Economy 

The economy of Bahrain is mainly oil-based. However, 

because Bahrain's oil reserves are small, the importance of 

oil as a mainstay of the economy is declining. In 1975, 

crude oil accounted for about 36% of the country's gross 

domestic product (GDP). By 1988, crude oil contributed 13% 

of GDP. Further evidence of the decline in the importance 

of oil is evident from the analysis of export receipts or 

revenues. Export receipts from oil as a percentage of total 

export receipts declined from 77% in 1975 to 49.7% in 1988 

(Bahrain Monetary Agency, 1992). 

Over the last two decades, Bahrain has pursued a rapid 

economic diversification program. The emphasis has been 

placed on the development of export-oriented manufacturing 

(e.g., aluminum, petrochemicals, ship-repairing) and service 

(e.g., banking, insurance) industries. Bahrain has been 
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especially successful in establishing itself as a regional 

financial center. Among the main factors that have 

contributed to its success is the country's highly developed 

telecommunications and transportation infrastructure and its 

tolerance of Western attitudes and customs. Also, unlike 

the situation in some neighboring Arab countries, there are 

no restraints to the use of interest in banking operations 

in Bahrain since the Bahraini people have accepted Western 

banking practices for a long time. In fact, Western banking 

practices started in Bahrain in 1921 when a branch of a 

British bank was opened. Bahrain is now home to over 120 

local and international financial institutions (Bahrain 

Monetary Agency, 1992). 

Types of Business Organizations 

Like most countries, Bahrain has a range of business 

organizations. These business organizations take, in 

general, three major forms: proprietorship, partnerships, 

and corporations. Although there are still a considerable 

number of sole traders and family partnerships operating in 

Bahrain, corporations have become increasingly popular in 

the last two decades. The surge of money in circulation in 

the 1970's (as a result of the sharp increase in oil prices) 

and the attendant increase in commercial activities have led 
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to the emergence and development of locally based and owned 

corporations (Deloitte Haskins & Sells, 1984). 

Corporate Formation 

The Commercial Companies Law of 1975, as amended, 

governs corporate formation and operation in Bahrain4. The 

Law allows two legal forms of corporations: public and 

closed. The main difference between public and closed 

corporations is that closed corporations cannot issue shares 

for public subscription. The promoters of closed 

corporations are required to subscribe for all of its 

shares. Closed corporations also are prohibited from 

issuing negotiable bonds or debentures to the public. In 

addition, legal requirements with respect to formation 

procedures and capital requirements for the two types of 

corporations exist. 

Corporate formation procedures start with submitting 

an application to the Directorate of Company Affairs at the 

Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture. Following the 

approval by the Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture, a 

(4) Before 1975, there was no commercial companies law in 
Bahrain. This is because the country became an independent 
state only in 1971. Before 1975, business enterprises were 
governed by the Commercial Registration Law of 1961. This 
law, however, did not contain any requirements with respect 
to accounting and financial reporting. 
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public corporation will be established by an Amiri Decree . 

An Amiri Decree is not required for the establishment of 

closed corporations. 

Bahraini corporations are required to have a minimum 

of 51% Bahraini ownership. A maximum of 49% of the 

shareholders may be non-Bahraini where there is a need for 

foreign expertise. In addition, the citizens of the Gulf 

Cooperation Council Countries (GCC) can acquire a maximum of 

25% of issued capital of Bahraini public firms, provided 

that Bahraini shareholding is not less than 51%°. 

The Commercial companies Law (1975) requires that the 

minimum issued capital for a public corporation to be 

BD500,000 (US$1,325,000) and for a closed corporation to be 

BD200,000 (US$530,000). The capital is divided into shares 

with equal par value between 100 fils (US$0.26) and BD100 

(US$265). Shares may be issued at either par value or at a 

premium, but shares cannot be issued at discount. There is 

no legislation concerning the issuance of preferred, 

convertible, voting or nonvoting shares. 

(5) An Amiri Decree is a decree that is issued by the 
Amir of Bahrain. 

(6) The Gulf Co-operation Council (GCC) was established 
in February 1981 by six Gulf states: Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, 
Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates. 
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After the approval by its shareholders at an ordinary 

general meeting, a public corporation may issue negotiable 

bonds. But public corporations cannot issue negotiable 

bonds until the corporation's capital has been fully paid. 

The value of the bonds that a public corporation issues can 

not exceed the value of its paid-up capital. 

A corporation is administered by a board of directors 

whose formation, remuneration and period of membership are 

specified in the corporation's bylaws (memorandum and 

article of associations). The board of directors must 

consist of at least three and not more than twelve persons. 

Each director is appointed for a period of three years and 

appointment can be renewed by a majority vote of 

shareholders. A director must own a number of shares whose 

par value must not be less than BD2,500 (US$6,625). Any 

corporation that owns more than 10% of the share capital of 

another corporation has the right to appoint representatives 

to the board in proportion to their share in the capital. 

The Stock Market: 

Although shares were traded in Bahrain as early as the 

1960's, there was no official stock exchange in Bahrain 

until 1989 when the Government established an organized 

stock market. Before the opening of the Bahrain Stock 

Exchange, shares of Bahraini public corporations were traded 
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informally on a limited scale. Transactions in shares were 

conducted either through officially registered brokers or 

directly among investors. The settlement of transactions 

was on a cash basis (Bahrain Monetary Agency, 1992) . 

To organize and regulate stock trading in Bahrain, the 

government of Bahrain established the Bahrain Stock Exchange 

(Bahrain Monetary Agency, 1992). The Exchange is governed 

by the Bahrain Stock Exchange Law (Law No. 4 of 1987). The 

stated objectives of the Exchange are ( Article 3 of the 

1987 Stock Exchange Law): 

(1) To develop the Exchange in such a manner as to serve 
the economic policy of the State. Particularly the 
development activities, through the issue and trading 
of securities and to help enhance the country's 
economic position regionally and internationally; 

(2) To develop and rationalize trading methods in the 
Exchange with a view to ensuring proper and sound 
dealings and providing protection to investors; 

(3) To establish and promote ties with Arab and 
international securities exchanges so that knowledge 
of their operations could be utilized to accelerate 
the development of the Bahrain Stock Exchange; 

(4) To encourage savings and to promote the investment 
awareness of citizens with a view to allocation of 
savings to economic sectors yielding high returns to 
individuals and the society; 

(5) To oversee the organization and regulation of trading 
in securities in the market; and 

(6) To provide the necessary finance for supporting the 
economic and social development. 

The shares of 3 0 Bahraini corporations were listed in 

the Exchange in 1989. No additional firms were listed 
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during the years 1990 and 1991 (Bahrain Stock Exchange, 

1993). The names of corporations listed and their market 

capitalization as of December 31, 1991 is presented in 

Table 1 (page 23). 

The Accounting Profession 

The modern accounting history of Bahrain dates back to 

1928 when Ernst and Young, still known by many Bahraini as 

Whinney Murray, opened its first Middle East office in 

Bahrain7. From 1928 to 1955, Ernst and Young was the only 

accounting firm in the country. In 1955, Saba & Co (a 

Jordanian accounting firm) opened a Bahrain office. This 

was followed by the establishment of the first local 

accounting firm in 1968, Fakhro Establishment. In the 

1970's and 1980's a number of international accounting firms 

opened offices in Bahrain8. Price Waterhouse opened its 

Bahrain office in 1976, Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. in 

(7) Ernst and Young came to Bahrain in 1928 in order to 
provide accounting and auditing services to the American and 
British oil firms which arrived on the island subsequent to 
the discovery and exploration of oil in the 1920's. 

(8) These international accounting firms arrived in 
Bahrain to share the huge auditing market created in the 
last two decades by: (1) the establishment of a large number 
of local and regional companies, and (2) the huge increase 
in the number of international financial institutions 
operating in the country. 
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TABLE 1 

FIRMS LISTED IN THE BAHRAIN STOCK EXCHANGE AND THEIR MARKET 
CAPITALIZATION AS AT DECEMBER 31 , 1991 

Name Market 
Capitalization 

1. National Bank of Bahrain *BD 161,280,000 
2. Bank of Bahrain & Kuwait 61,600,000 
3. Al-Ahli Commercial Bank 16,040,000 
4. Bahrain Islamic Bank 9,775,000 
5. The Bahraini Saudi Bank 26,400,000 
6. Gulf Investment Bank NA 
7. Pearl Investment Co. NA 
8. Arab Banking Corporation 461,825,000 
9. United Gulf Bank 40,000,000 
10. Bahrain International Bank 66,203,568 
11. Investcorp Bank 158,400,000 
12. Bank of Bahrain & Middle East 20,431,771 
13. Bahrain Insurance Co. 3,960,000 
14. Bahrain & Kuwait Insurance Co. 3,556,800 
15. Al-Ahli Insurance Co. 1,220,000 
16. Arab International Insurance Co. 1,234,800 
17. Union Gulf Insurance Co. 3,606,120 
18. Bahrain Ship Repairing & Engineering Co 6,720,000 
19. Bahrain Cinema Co. 3,628,454 
20. National Imports and Exports 42,600,000 
21. General Trading and Food Processing Co. 13,150,000 
22. Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile International 42,120,000 
23. Bahrain Telecommunications Co. 324,000,000 
24. Bahrain Car Park Co. 10,055,364 
25. Bahrain Flour Mill Co. 3,569,000 
26. Bahrain Light Industries Co. 781,250 
27. Delmon Poultry Co. 5,338,416 
28. Bahrain Hotels Co. 26,810,957 
29. National Hotels Co. 23,612,318 
30. Bahrain Tourism Co. 12,204,000 

TOTAL MARKET CAPITALIZATION 1,550,122,818 

* 1 BD= 2.65 US$ 
NA= Not Available 

Source: Bahrain Stock Exchancre. 1991 Annual Report. 
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1977, Arthur Anderson & Co. in 1978, Deloitte and Touche in 

1981, and Coopers & Lybrand in 1988. Currently, Ernst & 

Young, Price Waterhouse, and Arthur Anderson operate as 

local branches of their United States or United Kingdom 

offices. The other three international accounting firms are 

associated with local accounting firms. 

In addition to the six international accounting firms 

and their associated local or regional firms, there are 

three accounting firms who have no association with foreign 

firms. These are: (1) Nabeel Al-Saie Public Accountants (a 

local firm established in 1985), (2) Nawar & Co. Chartered 

Accountants ( an Egyptian firm that established its Bahrain 

office in 1977), and (3) Talal Abu-Ghazaleh & Co.( a 

Jordanian firm established that its Bahrain Office in 1972). 

Accounting firms in Bahrain are not subject to any 

professional supervision from any governmental unit or any 

professional organization. Firms assume responsibility for 

the standards of auditing and the quality of their work. 

Usually, international accounting firms use auditing 

standards that are prescribed by their head offices. Most 

international accounting firms also conduct periodic quality 

control reviews, carried out by members of the firm from 

other locations, of their Bahraini office (Deloitte, Haskins 

& Sells, 1984). 



25 

In addition, Bahrain has no legal or professional body-

responsible for formulating accounting standards. There is 

no single set of accounting and reporting standards 

generally accepted in Bahrain. Firms operating in Bahrain 

prepare their financial statements using a combination of 

accounting standards issued by the International Accounting 

Standard Committee (IASC) and the accounting regulatory 

bodies in the developed countries, especially those in the 

United States (U.S.) and the United Kingdom (U.K.). 

Social Welfare 

Bahrain is to a large extent a tax-free welfare state. 

There are no taxes in Bahrain on personal income, sales, 

capital gains, or property. Comprehensive medical care is 

offered free of charge to all residents, including 

expatriates. The state also provides free education and 

administers benefits programs for the old and disabled. 

In addition, Bahrain has a comprehensive national 

social security scheme for Bahraini workers. The scheme 

covers old age pension, disability, death benefits, and end 

of service benefits. The scheme is financed by 

contributions from both employer and employee, calculated on 

a percentage of wages. The current contribution rate is 

12%; 7% paid by the employer and 5% by the employee. 

Expatriate workers are not covered under the above scheme. 
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However, under Bahrain Labor Law 1976, expatriate workers 

are entitled to receive an end-of-service indemnity at the 

end of their employment contracts. The indemnity is 

calculated based on employees' length of services and their 

Q 

latest salaries and allowances . In addition to the above, 

all workers in Bahrain (Bahrainis and expatriates) are 

covered by insurance against employment injuries. The cost 

of this insurance (3% of wages) is borne by employers (Ernst 

& Young, 1992). 

Labor and Public Pressure Groups 

Unlike Western nations, Bahrain has no strong public 

pressure groups such as consumer and environmental groups 

which claim a right to information on corporate activities 

and performance. No consumer protection group was ever 

formed in Bahrain. In addition, labor unions are illegal in 

Bahrain. However, the Labor Law allows for the 

establishment of joint consultative committees between 

management and employees to discuss matters of mutual 

interest (Price Waterhouse, 1984). According to the Labor 

(9) Currently, the indemnity is calculated on the 
following basis: (a) 15 days' pay for every year of service 
for the first 3 years of continuous service; (b) one month's 
pay for every year of service thereafter. However, if the 
employment is terminated by the employee, the employer is 
only obligated to pay one-third of the end of service 
indemnity (Bahrain Monitory Agency, 1992). 
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Law for the Private Sector of 1976, as amended, these joint 

labor committees are established by a decree from the 

Minister of Labor and Social Affairs. No more than one 

committee can be established in a firm. Each joint 

committee is made up of 10 members: 5 representing 

management and 5 representing employees. Workers elect 

their representatives. The joint committees are 

consultative, i.e., they have no decision-making power. As 

of the end of 1992, eleven Bahraini firms had joint labor 

committees; one public company and ten closed firms 

(interview with Yousif, 1993)10. 

The Interpretive Perspective 

Burrell and Morgan (1979) argued that all social 

scientists, including accounting researchers, approach their 

subject through assumptions about the nature of the social 

science and the nature of the social world. One of the main 

assumptions about the nature of science is the assumption 

about the nature of the phenomena under study, i.e, the 

ontological assumption. Ontologically, some researchers are 

(10) Yousif, A. Y. is the general secretary of the 
General Committee for Bahrain Workers. This Committee is 
made up of the workers' representatives in the 11 individual 
joint committees. 
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realists, believing in objective reality that is external to 

people. Because reality is something "out there", realists 

search for universal laws and generalizable relations11. 

Other researchers are nominalists, viewing reality as 

subjective and socially constructed. As such, nominalists 

seek to understand and explain human actions. 

Recently, a number of accounting researchers have 

pointed out that accounting is not a "natural" phenomenon 

that is independent of human beings, rather it is a man-made 

system that is constantly changing and evolving within its 

environment. Stamp (1981) depicts accounting as a cultural 

product that deals with objects that think and feel, have 

traditions and cultures, and are subject to various social, 

economic, cultural, and political influences. Similarly, 

Hines (1988) argues that accounting reality is created by 

accountants and is not something "out there" independent of 

human beings. D'Amico (1989) pointed out skepticism about 

"objective" reality and argued that institutions (systems of 

knowledge) like accounting interact with their environment. 

More recently, Dillard (1991) suggests that accounting is a 

socially determined technology that influences and is 

(11) For detail criticism of functional view of 
"objective" reality from accounting perspective, see Stamp 
(1981), Hopwood (1983), Chua (1986), Hines (1988), Mouck 
(1989), Dillard (1991), and Williams (1992); and from 
economic perspective see Dugger (1989) and Klamer (1989). 
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influenced by the social system. It is based on socially 

constructed reality and shaped by the socio-political 

system. 

Recognizing the subjective and socially created nature 

of accounting reality, many accounting researchers have 

called for the use of an interpretive perspective to study 

accounting within its particular historical and cultural 

context, i.e., to study accounting in action. Chua (1986, 

p. 618) argued that "there is much to be gained by moving 

accounting into the life-world of actors". Morgan (1988, p. 

477) asserted that by viewing accounting as socially 

constructed reality, "accountants have a means of developing 

a new epistemology of accounting that will emphasize the 

interpretive as opposed to the supposedly 'objective' 

aspects of the discipline, perhaps in a way that will help 

broaden and deepen the accountants' contributions to 

economic and social lifes". 

The interpretive perspective is most appropriate for 

examining a nation's accounting and reporting practices 

because it recognizes that accounting is a cultural product, 

not a natural phenomenon. This perspective also emphasizes 

understanding human actions within a particular historical 

and cultural context. Understanding the circumstances and 

conditions that led to the emergence of a nation's 

accounting and reporting practices requires detailed 
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analysis of that nation's historical and cultural 

environments. In examining accounting and reporting 

practices of Bahraini corporations, I use the interpretive 

framework since it not only allows me to provide a rich 

description of the accounting and reporting practices of 

Bahraini corporations but also to explain and interpret why 

such practices exist and how they emerged. 

The Framework of Analysis 

In analyzing the accounting and reporting practices of 

Bahraini corporations, I distinguish between the two types 

of Bahraini corporations: public corporations, and 

closed corporations. For the first group (public 

corporations), I investigate both: (1) the general financial 

reporting practices, and (2) the accounting and reporting 

practices for specific accounting issues. However, for the 

second group (closed corporations), I only discuss the 

reporting practices based on the unaudited annual reviews 

which are issued by these corporations. The reason for not 

examining the specific accounting practices of closed 

corporations is that such corporations do not make their 

financial statements or the accounting policies used in 

preparing those statements available to the public. 

The discussion of the general reporting practices of 

Bahraini corporations covers the type, frequency and content 
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of published financial statements and annual reviews. The 

specific accounting and reporting practices focus on 

specific balance sheet and income statement items, and other 

important accounting topics. More specifically, the 

following 15 topics are investigated: 

Balance Sheet Items: 
1. Property, Plant and Equipment 
2. Investments 
3. Accounts Receivable 
4. Inventories 
5. Current Liabilities 
6. Capital and Reserves 

Income Statement Items: 
7. Revenue Recognition 
8. Government Grants and Assistance 
9. Extraordinary or Unusual Items 

10. Earnings per Share 

Other Specific Accounting and Reporting Practices: 
11. Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
12. Foreign Currency Translation 
13. Accounting Changes 
14. Related Party Transactions 

15. Segmental Information 

The methodology used for selecting these 15 topics is 

discussed in Chapter V. 

In his discussion of accounting in developing 

countries, Enthoven (1985, p. 190) classified accounting 

into three major areas: enterprise accounting (including 

financial accounting and management accounting), government 

accounting (including financial recording, budgeting, and 

taxation) and macro or national accounting (including 

national income account, input-output account, flow of funds 

account, balance of payments accounts, and national balance 
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sheet). This dissertation focuses on enterprise financial 

accounting. More specifically, the study is limited to 

corporate financial accounting and reporting practices. 

Thus, no attempt is made to examine management accounting, 

government accounting, or macro or national accounting. In 

addition, the financial reporting practices of non-corporate 

forms of business, such as sole proprietorships or 

partnerships, are considered outside the scope of this 

study. 

This study did not seek to explicitly establish a 

cause-effect relationship between accounting and reporting 

practices of Bahraini corporations and a single 

environmental factor. However, by the detailed analysis of 

the financial reporting environment in Bahrain, I found 

evidence suggesting that the Bahraini cultural environment 

had an impact on the accounting and reporting practices of 

local corporations. 

The balance of this dissertation is divided into five 

chapters. In Chapter II, I provide an analysis of the 

environment under which Bahraini corporations operate and 

further develop expectations about corporate accounting 

practices in Bahrain. In Chapter III, I investigate the 

reporting practices of closed corporations. In Chapter IV, 

I examine the financial reporting practices of public 

corporations. In Chapter V, I discuss the accounting and 
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reporting practices of public firms with respect to specific 

balance sheet and income statement items and other important 

accounting issues. In the last chapter, I summarize the 

findings of this study and provide concluding remarks. 



CHAPTER II 

CORPORATE FINANCIAL REPORTING ENVIRONMENT 

Accounting researchers (e.g., Mueller 1968, Arpan and 

Radebaugh 1985, Nobes and Parker 1985, Choi and Mueller 

1992) have posited that a country's specific environmental 

factors influence its accounting and reporting practices. 

If accounting is shaped by and reflects characteristics 

unique to each country's environment, then differences in 

nations' environments should explain the variations in their 

accounting practices1. Thus, environmental analysis is a 

valuable tool in understanding and evaluating a nation's 

accounting and reporting practices. As argued by Sy Cip 

(1981) "accounting principles, standards, and practices are 

usually a direct product of the circumstances and influences 

of their environment and are most meaningful if viewed 

against such factors." 

This chapter provides an analysis of the environment 

under which Bahraini corporations operate. The chapter is 

(12) The analysis in this chapter assumes a 
unidirectional relationship between accounting and its 
environment, i.e., a one way influence of the environment on 
accounting. However, it is to be noted that accounting is 
not only shaped by its environment, but it can also play an 
important role in shaping its environment (Cooper and Sherer 
1984; Hines 1988; Dillard 1991). 

34 
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divided into six sections. Section one provides an analysis 

of the economic environment in Bahrain. Section two covers 

the socio-cultural environment of Bahrain. Section three 

examines the legal environment under which Bahraini 

corporations operate. Section four discusses the accounting 

profession in Bahrain. Section five examines international 

influences on the accounting practices of Bahraini 

corporations. Based on the environmental analysis in the 

previous sections, the last section develops expectations 

about accounting and reporting practices of Bahraini 

corporations. 

The Economic Environment 

Accounting researchers have hypothesized that a 

nation's economic characteristics have a direct impact on 

its accounting practices. The AAA's 1975-1976 Committee on 

International -Accounting Operations and Education (AAA, 

1977), among others, has suggested that a country's 

economic system has an influence on its accounting 

practices. The Committee classified economic systems into 

four types: (1) traditional system (i.e., primitive 

societies), (2) market economy (e.g., the USA), (3) planned 

market economy (e.g., Japan), and (4) planned economy (e.g., 

China). 
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Although British colonial rule influenced Bahrain in 

adopting British disclosure requirements that are more 

consistent with a type 2 economic system (i.e., a market 

economy), Bahrain's economic system is classified as type 3 

(i.e., a planned market economy). In a planned market 

economy, the government plays an important role in 

organizing and coordinating business activities. Corporate 

stability, continuity, and growth, rather than profit 

maximization, become the major objectives (Jinnai, 1990). 

These objectives are pursued not through market competition, 

but through extensive coordination between the Government 

and business sectors. 

There are a number of characteristics that distinguish 

Bahrain from an individualistic market economy^. Among the 

most important are: (1) extensive government control and 

management of the economy in general and large corporations 

in particular, (2) absence of widespread ownership of 

corporations, (3) dominance of a monopolistic/oligopolistic 

operating environment in many key industries, (4) limited 

needs for long-term credit or financing, and (5) a weak and 

inactive stock market. Each of these characteristics is 

discussed below. 

(13) For detailed analysis of individualism and an 
individualistic market economy, see Veblen (1910), and 
Abercrombie, Hill and Turner (1986) 
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Extensive Government Control and Management of the Economy 

In an individualistic market economy, government's 

role is to protect private property and contracting rights. 

The market, not the government, is assumed to be the most 

efficient allocator of resources14. Competition would 

ensure efficiency and equity and laissez faire policies 

produce the best of all possible worlds. 

In Bahrain, unlike individualistic market economy, the 

government exercises extensive control over the country's 

economic activities. Both direct and indirect means are 

used to plan, coordinate and control the economy. The 

direct means of control used by the Government include: 

(1) close control over the issuance of business licenses, 

(2) extensive regulations of business and labor, and 

(3) price controls over selected commodities. The indirect 

means of control include: (1) government spending policy, 

(2) investment incentive plans, and (3) control over foreign 

exchange and interest rates. 

As part of its ongoing process of managing the 

economy, the Government of Bahrain formed in early 1985 a 

"Strategic Choices Committee" (SCC) to study possible areas 

for future economic development and the role of the 

(14) For criticism of the "market" as allocator of 
resources, see Dewey (1910) , Veblen (1919), Galbraith 
(1987), and (Duggar (1989). 
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Government in promoting them. The SCC, which was made up of 

senior government officials, formed a number of sub-

committees relating to fields such as: (a) public finance, 

(b) trade and industry, (c) manpower planning and training, 

and (d) financial and other services. Many economic policy 

decisions made by the Government during the period 1985-1990 

reflect the recommendations of these committees (Bahrain 

Monetary Agency, 1992). 

Absence of Widespread Ownership 

When ownerships of corporations are widespread, 

accounting reports represent an important source of 

information about corporate activity and performance for 

large numbers of small investors. Meek and Saudagran (1990, 

p.150) hypothesized that: 

Disclosure levels tend to be higher when there 
is a large number of capital providers, when 
their information needs are diverse, and/or when 
they have a remote relationship with the business. 
However, disclosure levels are lower when 
businesses rely on relatively few sources of 
capital with similar information needs and which 
maintain a close relationship. Under the latter 
situation, the capital providers have direct 
access to whatever accounting information is 
needed and extensive public disclosures are not 
as necessary. 

In Bahrain, however, most corporations are closely 

held. The majority of closed corporations are controlled by 



39 

the Government of Bahrain15. The Government has major 

ownerships in almost all large manufacturing firms operating 

in Bahrain. The government controls the oil and gas, 

aluminum, petrochemicals, and shipbuilding industries. The 

Government also has considerable ownership in service firms. 

For example, the Government and quasi-government 

organizations own more than 50% of the following closed 

corporations: Bahrain Tourism, Tourism Projects Co., and 

Bahrain Aviation Fuelling Co. 

Beside closed corporations, public corporations are 

also closely held. Most public corporations are controlled 

by the Government of Bahrain, quasi-government 

organizations, other public corporations, and small number 

of wealthy individuals. Widespread ownership by a small 

investors is uncommon. In 1989, for example, the number of 

individual shareholders in public firms ranged between 132 

and 14,433, with a median of 2,120 shareholders and an 

average of 4,299 shareholders. The percentage of ownership 

by individual stockholders ranged between 8.64% and 84.38%, 

with a median of 40% and an average of 3 8.65% (Bahrain Stock 

Exchange, 1991). 

(15) The Commercial Companies Law of 1975, as amended, 
requires that the number of shareholders in closed 
corporations not exceed fifty. 
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Because most Bahraini corporations are closely held, 

agency costs associated with the separation of ownership 

from control appear to be of little relevance for Bahraini 

corporations16. These corporations are managed by boards of 

directors made up of major shareholders. In fact, in 

Bahrain there is no independent managerial class from which 

shareholders should be protected. Managements are appointed 

and directly controlled by boards of directors. Board of 

directors, together with auditors, determine the accounting 

and reporting practices of their corporations (interview 

with Fakhro, J., 1993)17. 

Monopolistic Competition 

In an individualistic, market-based economy one of the 

government's most important roles is to insure competition. 

Disclosure of accounting data was viewed and used by 

regulators as an important device to promote market 

competition. Examining the origins of disclosure in the 

United States, Merino and Neimark (1982, p.36) stated: 

Roosevelt (1907, p.70) regarded the antitrust 
legislation, which was intended to maintain 
competitive markets, as both costly and 

(16) For discussion of the agency problem and the role of 
accounting reports in mitigating agency costs, see Jensen 
and Meckling (1976). 

(17) Fakhro, J. is a Partner at KPMG-Fakhro, Bahrain 
office. 
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ineffective One alternative to restoring 
"actual" competition was to demand publicity 
of corporate accounts so potential competitors 
would be attracted to high-profit industries. 

Disclosure of accounting data for the purpose of 

promoting market competition is, however, irrelevant to the 

Bahraini environment. The Government of Bahrain is not 
• . , , 1 Q 

concerned with promoting competition °. Because of this 

non-concern, Bahrain has neither monopoly nor antitrust 

laws. In fact, competition does not exist in many Bahraini 

industries. Bahraini monopolistic industries include: oil 

and gas, aluminum, petrochemicals, flour milling, 

shipbuilding, cinema, telecommunications, and air lines. 

There are also some industries in Bahrain that operate as 

oligopolies such as poultry, hotels, and commercial banking. 

Limited Long-Term Financing 

Another aspect of the economic environment that can 

influence accounting practices is the primary source of 

corporate funds. Arpan and Radebaugh (1985) posit that when 

the major source of funds for corporations is loans from 

banks, as in Germany, then accounting practices will tend to 

(18) The reason for the non-concern with market 
competition in Bahrain is that the socio-cultural 
environment of Bahrain does not glorify individualism or 
emphasize individual property rights. More details on the 
socio-cultural environment of Bahrain is provided in the 
next section. 
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be more conservative and disclosure will be limited. 

Conversely, Al-Hashim and Arpan (1988) suggest that when 

shareholders are a dominant source of corporate funds, as in 

the US, accounting will have a strong capital market 

orientation and will include such important investor 

information as earnings per share and more extensive public 

disclosure. 

The above two sources of funds, however, have no 

impact on the accounting and reporting practices of Bahraini 

corporations. In Bahrain, banks find that they can judge 

credit risks better by considering who owns the company 

than by reviewing its financial data, i.e., banks in Bahrain 

are mostly name lenders (interviews with Abdulla, A. and Al-

Ojan, N., 1993)1^. In fact, most Bahraini public 

corporations are net lenders not borrowers. Of 13 public 

firms, only 2 had long-term liabilities at the end of 1991. 

Short-term bank credits are also limited. At the end of 

1991, only 4 of 13 public firms had short-term bank 

liabilities (see Table 10, page 98)20. 

(19) Abdulla, A. is a Senior Manager- Marketing, at 
National Bank of Bahrain, the largest commercial bank in the 
country. Al-Ojan, N. is a Manager- Marketing and Credit, at 
Al-Ahli Commercial Bank. 

(20) These thirteen firms represent all Bahraini public 
firms other than financial institutions, i.e., banks and 
insurance companies. More details on long-term and short-
term liabilities of public corporations is provided in 
Chapter IV. 
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Although the dominant source of corporate funds in 

Bahrain is shareholders, this does not create an incentive 

for extensive public disclosure since corporate ownership is 

not widespread. Most Bahraini corporations are closely held 

by the Government of Bahrain and a small number of large 

investors. Through their membership in board of directors, 

these owners have access to all information they need. 

Weak and Inactive Stock Market 

Choi (1973) and Cooke (1989) cite the existence and 

importance of stock markets as a variable in the 

determination of a country's accounting and reporting 

practices. Stock markets have both a direct and indirect 

influence on corporate accounting and reporting practices. 

Choi (1973) hypothesizes that indirectly sophisticated stock 

markets increase the pressure on firms to provide better and 

more detailed financial reports. An exchange listing 

requirements and other regulations directly impact 

accounting and reporting practices of listed firms. A 

listing agreement, for example, may dictate the type and 

form of financial reports to be filed by listed companies, 

the type of information to be disclosed in various reports, 

and/or the accounting principles to be used in preparing 

such reports. 
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In Bahrain, however, the stock market can not be 

considered as "sophisticated". Established in 1989, Bahrain 

91 . 

Stock Exchange is only four years old . In addition, the 

Exchange is generally inactive. Trading in the Exchange is 

extremely limited. Table 2 (page 45) provides a summary of 

the trading activities in the Exchange for years 1989, 1990, 

and 1991. As shown in Table 2, the number of transactions 

per month ranged between 25 transactions in February, 1989 

and 586 in November, 1991. Based on 22 trading days per 

month, this means that the average number of transactions 

per day ranged between 1 and 30 transactions. Table 2 also 

shows that the total number of shares traded monthly never 

reached 1% of the total shares outstanding. In fact, the 

yearly trading was below 3% of total shares outstanding. 

This basically means that most Bahraini shareholders (more 

than 97%) do not trade their shares. 

In addition, unlike many stock exchanges, the Bahrain 

Stock Exchange chose not to regulate the financial reporting 

of listed corporations. The Exchange does not require 

(21) Like many other aspects of Bahraini economy, the 
Bahrain stock exchange is under the direct control of the 
Government of Bahrain. The Exchange's board of directors is 
chaired by the Minister of Commerce and Agriculture (Bahrain 
Stock Exchange, 1988) . 
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TABLE 2 

TRADING ACTIVITY- BAHRAIN STOCK EXCHANGE 
1989-1991 

Type 
1989 

Year 
1990 1991 

Number of Transactions: 
January 66 288 143 
February 25 189 190 
March 41 232 247 
April 26 172 268 
May 108 350 509 
June 185 441 336 
July 256 368 282 
August 268 144 270 
September 268 214 342 
October 367 222 497 
November 244 294 586 
December 225 344 554 

TOTAL 2079 3258 4224 

% of Shares Traded to Total 
Outstanding: 
January <1% <1% <1% 
February <1% <1% <1% 
March <1% <1% <1% 
April <1% <1% <1% 
May <1% <1% <1% 
June <1% <1% <1% 
July <1% <1% <1% 
August <1% <1% <1% 
September <1% <1% <1% 
October <1% <1% <1% 
November <1% <1% <1% 
December <1% <1% <1% 

TOTAL 

It It 
o\o 

II 
CN 

11 II 

3% 2% 

<1% = less than one percent 

Source: Bahrain Stock Exchange, 1990 and 1991 Annual Reports 
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listed firms to file a specific, standard report. The only-

requirement is to issue annual financial reports within six 

months from the end of a company's fiscal year (Bahrain 

Stock Exchange, 1988) . 

The Socio-Cultural Environment 

Since Parsons and Shils (1950), most accounting 

researchers have recognized that societal values (i.e. 

culture) affect a nation's accounting and reporting 

practices'". Jaggi (1975) suggested that people's actions 

and choices are guided by their values which are to a great 

extent the product of the cultural environment of a given 

society. Accounting and reporting practices reflect those 

values. Likewise, Violet (1983) asserted that accounting, 

as a social phenomena, is a product of its culture. Nair 

and Frank (1980), Arpan and Radebaugh (1985) and Gray (1988) 

have also suggested that cultural values affect both 

measurement principles and disclosure practices across 

countries. 

(22) Culture was defined by Hofstede (1980, p. 25) as 
"the collective programming of the mind which distinguishes 
the members of one human group from another." It consists 
of the values that people share with members of their 
societies. 
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Among the most important aspects of the socio-cultural 

environment that influence corporate accounting practices 

are: (1) the degree of interdependence a society maintains 

among individuals, i.e., the dominance of individualism 

versus collectivism, and (2) people's attitudes towards 

corporations and corporate objectives. Each of these two 

aspects is discussed below. 

Interdependence Among Individuals 

Hofstede (1984, p. 83-84) explained the difference 

between individualism and collectivism as follows: 

Individualism stands for preference for a 
loosely knit social framework in society wherein 
individuals are supposed to take care of 
themselves and their immediate families only. Its 
opposite, Collectivism, stands for a preference 
for tightly knit social framework in which 
individuals can expect their relatives, clan, or 
other in-group to look after them in exchange 
for unquestioning loyalty. 

In an individualistic society, such as that of the US, the 

focus of corporate accounting will be on profit measurement 

and return to owners of capital (stockholders). In a 

collectivistic society, on the other hand, the focus of 

accounting will be on measuring a firm's social success. In 

this society, corporate stability and growth becomes more 

important than accounting profit. 

Based on Hofstede's definition, Bahraini society can 

be classified as collectivistic. Bahrain is a very small 
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society; less than 300,000 Bahrainis live in a total area of 

about 268.46 square miles23. Almost everybody in Bahrain 

knows everybody else. In fact, many Bahrainis think of 

Bahrain as one big family. 

Unlike the US, Bahraini societal values do not glorify 

individualism. Rather, they emphasize cooperation and the 

well-being of the Bahrain community. Thus, they accept a 

greater governmental role in their economic and social 

affairs. The Government of Bahrain administers and controls 

many aspects of the people's economic and social affairs 

including: health care, education, housing, and social 

security. In addition, the prices of approximately 50 

"essential" commodities are controlled by the Ministry of 

Commerce and Agriculture. Also, the Government subsidizes 

certain foodstuffs such as rice and sugar (Price Waterhouse, 

1984). 

Attitude Towards Corporations 

Societal attitudes towards corporations and corporate 

objectives have also significant impacts on accounting 

practices. After establishing that corporate objectives 

reflect societal expectations and beliefs, McComb (1979) 

(23) Expatriate workers are excluded from the analysis 
because, as suggested earlier, they represent temporary 
workers who are not expected, and not allowed, to stay in 
the country after the expiration of their work contracts. 
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argued that "if it is accepted that corporate objectives may-

vary from one country to another, it follows that accounting 

and reporting practices may also vary as they relate to 

those diverse objectives." Regarding the type of 

information reported, AlHashim and Arpan (1988, p.7) 

contended that: 

In countries where people believe that a firm 
has a purpose in and a responsibility towards 
society much larger than merely earning profits 
and financial returns for stockholders, there is 
likely to be additional information concerning 
these wider responsibilities contained in 
corporate financial reports or in specially 
prepared reports. 

The collectivist culture of Bahraini society is 

reflected in people's attitudes towards corporations. 

Societal attitudes towards corporations can generally be 

characterized as positive, supportive, and trustful. The 

people of Bahrain support their corporations and believe 

that their existence is essential for the prosperity and 

well-being of the nation. The Government works closely with 

Bahraini corporations to achieve corporate stability, 

security, and long-term growth. Corporate subsidies and 

protection from foreign competition are common in Bahrain. 

In addition, lifetime employment is common in Bahraini 

corporations. 
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The Legal Environment 

AlHashim and Arpan (1988) and Meek and Saudagran 

(1990), among others, suggest that accounting regulation and 

tax laws have a direct influence on a nation's accounting 

and reporting practices. Each of these two aspects of the 

legal environment and their relevance to Bahrain is 

discussed below. 

Accounting Regulation 

In many countries, the government determines accounting 

practices by legislating or simply dictating what accounting 

procedures must be followed. Companies' laws containing 

accounting provisions are found in many countries. Mueller 

(1968) notes that the German act requires companies to set 

aside certain earnings as a "legal reserve." The act also 

prescribes when and how consolidated financial statements 

are to be prepared. Similarly, the French company act 

stipulates rules of asset valuation, income measurement, 

and the format of financial reports (Nobes and Parker, 

1985) . 

A developing country may import its accounting 

regulations from the developed nations. This is especially 

true for colonies. Many colonies imported, among other 

things, the accounting regulations of their former colonial 

overseer, even though such a system may have been 
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inappropriate at the colony's stage of development. Briston 

(1978, p. 107) examined the colonial influence, concluding 

that: 

In a number of countries, of course, the British 
influence is very long standing, and almost all 
of the colonial territories in which any 
substantial degree of industrial development took 
place under British rule will have had imposed 
upon them a British Companies Act with the usual 
reporting and auditing requirements. 

Hove (1986) found that the British Companies Act of 1948 was 

the basis of corporate legislation, including financial 

disclosure requirements, in Zimbabwe, a former British 

colony. He argued that this is not limited to Zimbabwe, but 

applies to most former British colonies. 

Bahrain is no exception. A British protectorate for 

over 100 years, it is not surprising that Bahrain adopted 

many aspects of British corporate regulations'24. 

Specifically, the accounting provisions contained in the 

Bahrain Commercial Companies Law of 1975 with respect to 

preparation, auditing and filing of annual financial 

statements are similar to those required by the British 

Companies Acts of 1948 and 1967^. These provisions are 

discussed below. 

(24) Under the treaty of protection, government was 
shared between the Amir of Bahrain and his British 
advisor. 

(25) For the legal requirements under British Companies 
Acts of 1948 and 1967, see Northey and Leigh (1971). 
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Article 166 of the Commercial Companies Law (1975) 

requires that all corporations (public and closed) prepare, 

for each financial year, a balance sheet and a profit and 

loss statement26. These statements must be audited by-

independent auditors and filed at the Ministry of Commerce 

and Agriculture within three months of the financial year 

end. The chairman of the board of directors and one other 

director are required to sign the balance sheet and the 

income statement. The filed reports are not available to 

the public (Deloitte, Haskins & Sells, 1984). However, 

public corporations are required under Article 167 of the 

Commercial Companies Law (1975) to publish their balance 

sheets, income statements, summary of boards' annual reports 

and full text of auditors' reports in one of the local 

Arabic newspapers27. The publication must take place at 

least fifteen days prior to the date set for the 

(26) Based on this Article, the Ministry of Commerce and 
Agriculture issued in 1976 Resolution No. 22. The Resolution 
suggested a model format for a corporate balance sheet and 
profit and loss statement, but not the accounting principles 
which should be used in preparing these statements. Because 
this Resolution provides only model formats, it was not 
enforced (interview with Matter, E., Superintendent, 
Companies Affaires, Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture, 
1993). 

(27) Currently there are two Arabic newspapers published 
in Bahrain. Both are widely available and circulated all 
over the country. Thus, it can be said that corporate 
financial statements are available to the public and easily 
accessed in Bahrain. 
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shareholders general meeting2®. 

The filed financial statements, of both public and 

closed corporations, are reviewed by a financial analysts at 

the Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture. The reviews focus 

on balance sheets and auditors' reports. The purpose of 

reviewing balance sheets is to make sure that there are no 

financial problems or difficulties that may have a negative 

impact on corporate stability and continuity (interview with 

Hughes, 1993)2^. Auditors' reports are reviewed, mainly, to 

see whether there are any breaches of the Commercial 

Companies Law of 1975, as amended, or the company's by-laws 

during the financial year (interview with Hughes, 1993)30. 

With respect to audit requirements, Article 184 of the 

Commercial Companies Law requires the general assembly of 

shareholders to appoint one or more auditors from among 

those licensed by the Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture 

(28) It is to be noted here that before the issuance of 
the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law in 1975, Bahraini 
corporations did not voluntarily make their financial 
statements available to the public (interview with Faraj, 
R., Partner, Ernst and Young- Bahrain Office). 

(29) Hughes, B. is a Financial Analyst at the Ministry of 
Commerce and Agriculture, State of Bahrain. Among other 
things, he is responsible for reviewing corporate financial 
reports. 

(30) Auditors in Bahrain are legally required to report, 
among other things, whether a company committed any breach 
of the Commercial Companies Law of 1975, as amended, and its 
own by-laws. 



54 

to practice auditing in Bahrain and to specify their 

remuneration. This Article also states that the auditor of 

a company can not be the promoter or director of the company 

nor can he/she perform any technical or administrative work 

for the company. The auditor's report, which must be read 

at the general meeting, should include the following 

(Article 186): 

(1) Whether he/she has obtained the information necessary 
for the satisfactory performance of his/her duties. 

(2) Whether the balance sheet and income statement contain 
all that is required by the Commercial Companies Law 
and the company's bylaws ( articles of association), 
and gives an "honest and clear" view of the true 
financial standing of the company. 

(3) Whether the company maintains orderly books of 
account. 

(4) Whether the inspection of inventory has been carried 
out in accordance with standard practice. 

(5) Whether the information stated in the report of the 
board of directors is in conformity with that 
contained in the books of the company. 

(6) Whether, to the extent of information available to the 
auditor, there has been a breach of the Commercial 
Companies Law or the articles of association of the 
company that may have had a material adverse effect on 
the company's financial position. The auditor should 
also report whether such violations are continuing. 

The above clearly shows that the function of Bahraini 

auditors is not limited to certifying financial statements. 

Auditors are legally required to examine and report on 

corporate compliance with Bahrain's Commercial Companies Law 
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and a company's by-laws (memorandum and article of 

associations). 

The Law (Article 187) also states that "the auditor 

shall be responsible for the accuracy of the particulars 

stated in his/her report and shall be liable in damages 

sustained by the company, the shareholders or third parties 

as a result of a mistake he/she makes in the performance of 

his/her duties as an agent for whole of the shareholders." 

However, the above liabilities cease to exist after the 

lapse of one year from the date on which the general 

assembly of shareholders meet to hear the report of the 

auditor. 

Article 189 of the Commercial Companies Law (19 75) 

requires that all corporations set aside annually 10% of 

their net profit as a "legal reserve," until that reserve is 

equal to 25% of the issued share capital. Distribution of 

this reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the 

payment of a dividend of 5% of the paid-up capital in years 

when profits are not sufficient for payment of this 

dividend. This Article also requires that any profit made 

from the sale of a company's fixed assets be transferred to 

a reserve account. The amount accumulated in this reserve 

account should be used for "restoring the assets of the 

company to its earlier state or to purchase new fixed 

assets." The establishment of legal reserve and capital 
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gain reserve foster corporate security and stability and 

direct corporations towards a "permanent concern" concept. 

Tax Laws 

Tax laws are another aspect of the legal environment 

that can impact accounting and reporting practices. Meek 

and Saudagaran (1990) cite tax laws as one of five generally 

agreed upon environmental factors that influence accounting 

practices. They argue that in many countries the tax law 

determines the accounting practices because companies must 

record revenues and expenses in their accounts in order to 

claim them for tax purposes. In France, Germany, and Italy, 

for example, if expenses are claimed for tax purposes they 

must also be shown as expenses in their financial 

statements. 

Tax is not an important consideration in Bahrain. Tax 

is only levied on the profits of corporate bodies engaged in 

the extraction and production of oil31. With the exception 

of oil companies, corporations operating in Bahrain are not 

(31) Currently, there are three oil companies in Bahrain: 
Bahrain National Oil Co. (totally owned by the government), 
Bahrain Petroleum Co. (ownership is 60% the government and 
40% Caltex), and Bahrain National Gas Co. (ownership is 75% 
the government, 12.5% Caltex, and 12.5% Arab Petroleum 
Investment Corporations). 
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subject to income tax. In addition, there are no taxes in 

Bahrain on personal income, sales, capital gains, or 

property. However, there are some indirect taxes such as a 

tax on gasoline, a municipality levy of 10% on rents paid by 

residents, and a 10% levy on the rents of business premises. 

Customs duties are also levied at varying rates on certain 

imports and exports. 

The Accounting Profession 

Beside economic, socio-cultural, and legal 

environments, a nation's accounting profession can have 

important influence on its accounting and reporting 

practices. Mueller (1968) was among the first to argue that 

a country's accounting profession plays a major role in 

establishing accounting and reporting practices. He 

suggested that a country will be more likely to adopt 

accounting and reporting practices of other countries when 

it has no or a weak accounting profession. 

Like many developing countries, Bahrain has a weak and 

generally inactive accounting profession. Currently, there 

is no professional organization in Bahrain that regulates 

the activities of the accounting profession. Accountants 

and auditors practicing in Bahrain have formed a 

professional organization, the Bahrain Society of 

Accountants and Auditors, but it has no regulatory powers. 
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The Society has no power to license accountants and auditors 

or to establish accounting and auditing standards. 

The Society was established in 1972 by a group of 

Bahraini accountants who were educated in the UK. During 

the period 1972-1976, the Society's activities were limited 

to conducting accounting seminars and classes (interview 

with Faraj, R., 1993)32. From 1977 to about 1984, the 

Society was totally inactive . From 1985 to present, the 

activity of the Society has been limited to conducting 

accounting seminars (interview with Faraj, R., 1993). 

The Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture is 

responsible for licensing auditors and maintaining a 

"Register of Auditors." The minimum academic and 

professional requirements specified by the Ministry of 

Commerce and Agriculture for individuals wishing to register 

as auditors are: 

(1) A university degree which includes accounting and 
auditing courses; and 

(2) A minimum of 3 years accounting or auditing 
experience. 

(32) Faraj, R. was the first president of the Bahrain 
Society of Accountants and Auditors. Currently, he is the 
vice president of the Society. Faraj is a Partner at Ernst 
and Young, Bahrain office. 

(33) The reason for the society's becoming inactive 
during the period 1977-1984 is the economic boom in the 
region during this period of time. During the economic boom, 
the leaders of the Society either left the profession and 
assumed leading positions in the newly created corporations 
or were preoccupied by the huge increase in the need for 
accounting services (interview Faraj, R., 1993). 
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Currently, licensed auditors practicing in Bahrain 

come from various countries with the majority being from 

India, the U.K. and the U.S. Most Bahraini auditors are 

educated and trained in the U.K., the U.S., or local and 

regional schools, heavily influenced by the U.S. and U.K. 

accounting curricula. 

International Influences 

Accounting technology and ideas can be readily 

imported and exported. As such, a country's accounting and 

reporting practices may emerge in response to external 

factors rather than local factors i.e., local practices 

might reflect cultural importation. There are two major 

vehicles or agents for cross national transfer of accounting 

technology and ideas: (1) the International Accounting 

Standard Committee (IASC), and (2) international accounting 

firms34. Each of these two agents and its expected 

(34) It is important to note here that although Bahrain 
is a member of many regional and international political 
organizations such as the United Nations (UN), the Arab 
League, and the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC), these 
organizations do not appear to have influenced the country's 
accounting practices. With the exception of the UN, none of 
the above organizations have been actively engaged in 
establishing corporate financial accounting policies. 
However, the UN activities focused on improving disclosure 
by transnational corporations (Choi and Mueller, 1992). 
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influence on corporate accounting and reporting practices in 

Bahrain is discussed below. 

International Accounting Standard Committee (IASC) 

The International Accounting Standard Committee (IASC) 

was founded in 1973 by professional accounting organizations 

in nine countries: Australia, Canada, France, Germany, 

Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, the UK, and the US. In 

1990, IASC consisted of 13 member countries (all but Mexico 

of the original 9, plus Italy, Jordan, Korea, Norway, and 

South Africa). Over the last two decades, the IASC has 

gained wide support and it now represents 104 accounting 

organizations from 78 countries (Ernst and Young, 1993). 

The main purpose of the IASC is to set accounting and 

reporting standards and promote their worldwide acceptance 

and observance (Choi, 1991). Through December 1992, IASC 

issued 31 international accounting standards (Ernst and 

Young, 1993). 

McComb (1979) suggested that the IASC has played an 

important role in transferring the British-American 

accounting practices to other nations. Taylor, Evans and 

Joy (1986) found that the reporting practices in a number of 

countries were influenced by the International Accounting 

Standards (IASs). The IASC (1988) also reported that many 
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developing countries adopted fully or in part the IASs. 

With respect to the Middle East, Ernst & Young (1993) 

reported the following: 

IASs are becoming increasingly important in the 
Middle East, and the regulatory authorities of 
certain countries in the area have already 
issued directives requiring full or partial 
compliance with them; other countries are 
considering issuing similar directives. 

In Bahrain, the government supported the adoption of 

IASs. In the last two decades, the government of Bahrain 

pursued an economic diversification program. One major 

element of this program is to establish Bahrain as an 

international business and finance center. As part of the 

Government efforts to "internationalize" the business 

environment in Bahrain, the Ministry of Commerce and 

Agriculture encouraged Bahraini corporations to adopt IASs. 

This started as early as 1983 when the Ministry invited a 

number of the accounting firms practicing in Bahrain to join 

a committee to study whether or not Bahrain should adopt 

IASs (Deloitte, Haskins and Sells, 1984). The Committee has 

recommended that Bahrain should adopt all effective IASs 

with the exception of IAS# 15 (information reflecting the 

O C 
effects of changing prices) . The Ministry, however, did 

(35) The minutes of the meeting are not available in the 
Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture. As such, I can not 
determine the reasons provided by the Committee to support 
its recommendation for adopting IASs. However, Hughes 
suggested that external legitimacy was among the main 
motives discussed by the Committee. 
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not formally adopt IASs because one major audit firm, namely 

Ernst & Young, strongly lobbied against adopting IASs 

O C 

(interview with Hughes, 1993) . Ernst & Young argued that 

they will have great difficulty in implementing all IASs 

because most of their clients (mainly banks) will not comply 

with the requirements of IAS# 24 (related party 

disclosures). 

In 1986, Bahrain became a member in the IASC. Since 

then, Bahraini corporations increasingly have adopted IASs. 

In its 1988 survey, the IASC listed Bahrain as one of 

twenty-six countries in which corporations listed on stock 

markets conform to all or most IASs. 

An extensive discussion about whether Bahrain should 

formally adopt IASs is currently taking place between 

officials from Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture, 

accounting firms, and management of Bahraini corporations 

(interview with Hughes, 1993). Early indications suggest 

that Bahrain will formally adopt IASs. The motive for 

adopting IASs appears to be to gain external legitimacy for 

Bahraini financial reports. In a seminar organized by the 

Bahrain Society of Accountants and Auditors in March, 1993, 

(36) Hughes, B. was the representative of the Ministry of 
Commerce and Agriculture on the Committee. 
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Hughes, explained the motive for the adoption of IASs, 

saying that: 

Bahrain is making a determined effort to 
consolidate and expand on its position as an 
International Financial and Business Center, and 
part of the image building revolves around the 
main characteristic which Bahrain offers to 
international business- legitimacy. In order to 
justly claim legitimacy, we have to have a set of 
ground rules which are strong, flexible and 
transparent. From the financial reporting aspect, 
the adoption of IASs will do just that. 

International Accounting Firms 

Seidler (1969, p. 40) found that historically "the 

most effective vehicle for the international transfer of 

accounting skills has been the international accounting 

firms." He also noted (p.40) that "today, the international 

accounting firms remain probably the most effective vehicle 

for the transfer of Anglo-American accounting skills to 

other countries." Briston (1978) suggested that 

international accounting firms play a major role in 

transferring British-American accounting and reporting 

practices to developing countries. 

International accounting firms' main influence come 

from their ability to impose, due to their prestige and 

size, home accounting and reporting practices on 

corporations in host countries. This is greatest when a 

host country does not have its own national accounting and 

reporting standards. International accounting firms also 
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influence local accounting and reporting practices through 

employing and training local nationals to practice the 

Western accounting technology and ideas (Briston, 19 78). 

International accounting firms have been an important 

influence on corporate accounting and reporting practices in 

Bahrain. As stated earlier, all Big Six international 

accounting firms ( i.e. Arthur Anderson & Co., Deloitte and 

Touche, Ernst & Young, Price Waterhouse, Coopers & Lybrand, 

and KPMG) are practicing in Bahrain. These firms (either 

those who operate independently or those who operate in 

association with local firms) dominate the accounting market 

in Bahrain. Most Bahraini corporations employ one of the 

six international accounting firms to perform their audit. 

A possible explanation for employing international audit 

firms is that those firms are better qualified (i.e., have 

the expertise and the resources) to perform accounting 

services than small local audit firms. 

In the absence of generally accepted local accounting 

standards in Bahrain, the six international accounting firms 

seem to have been able to impose accounting standards on 

their clients37. The IASs were the best candidate because 

(37) In a seminar organized in Bahrain in March, 1993, 
Hughes viewed this influence as salutary, stating that: "in 
Bahrain we have been fortunate in that the firms of auditors 
have by and large been able to impose standards on their 
clients." 



65 

for one, the IASs are the set of standards which can be 

imposed with minimal client's opposition since the 

Government of Bahrain also supports the adoption of these 

standards. In addition, IASs have international legitimacy-

attached to them. IASs also may have appealed to 

practitioners in international accounting firms because they 

are highly flexible and to a large extent similar to the 

American-British accounting practices with which the six 

international accounting firms are familiar. The 

flexibility in IASs stem from the alternative accounting 

treatments allowed under IASs38. 

Corporate Accounting and Reporting Practices in 

Bahrain- Expectations 

The analysis of the environment under which Bahraini 

corporations operate shows that Bahrain has a socio-economic 

system that can be characterized as non-individualistic 

(cooperative) capitalism39. This form of capitalism differs 

(38) On January l, 1989, IASC published statement of 
intent entitled Comparability of Financial Statements. The 
aim of this comparability project is to eliminate most of 
the choices of accounting treatment permitted under existing 
IASs. More discussion on this issue is presented in Choi and 
Mueller (1992, p. 266-270). 

(39) Abercrombie et al (1986) argued that capitalism per 
se does not require an individualistic culture. Based on 
the case of Japan, they showed that " rapid capitalist 
development is possible in a cultural context where 
individualism is little developed." 
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from that found in the US and some other Western nations. 

In cooperative capitalism, the social system does not 

glorify individualism and market competition. Rather, it 

emphasizes cooperation and advocates a greater governmental 

role in the economic and social affairs of people. 

Government, businesses and labor work together in a 

cooperative environment rather than working against each 

other. The society maintains positive, supportive, and 

trustful attitudes towards corporations. 

Based on the above socio-economic environment, it is 

reasonable to expect that accounting profit is not 

emphasized in the financial reporting practices of Bahraini 

corporations. Emphasizing accounting profit creates 

incentives for businesses to make monetary gain, rather than 

to produce socially desirable goods. Dewey (1922, p. 199) 

argued that by measuring gain and loss in monetary terms, 

accounting led to the false conclusion that "monetary gain 

should be the object of all action." 

Many aspects of Bahrain's socio-economic environment 

led to de-emphasis of accounting profit. First, in a 

monopolistic environment, such as that of Bahrain, 

accounting profit does not reflect management efficiency and 

performance. Rather, it reflects, among other things, price 

administration and production control. Thus, unlike 

American-British thinking which considers accounting profit 
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as a measure of corporate performance, accounting profit in 

Bahrain is basically seen as a fund that is available for 

distribution to all members of the community. 

In addition, most Bahraini corporations are closely 

held by the Government, institutional investors and a small 

number of wealthy individuals. These owners have usually 

limited, if any, need for general purpose financial 

statements, because they are either represented on the board 

of their corporations or can obtain needed information by 

word of mouth in a comparatively small financial community. 

Also, the majority of Bahraini corporations have 

limited needs for external long-term credit. They normally 

depend on internal resources (i.e., undistributed profit) to 

finance their operations. For short term credit, Bahraini 

banks generally consider a company's ownership more 

important than its financial statements. 

The last aspect of the socio-economic environment that 

makes accounting profit of little importance in Bahrain is 

societal attitudes towards corporations and corporate 

objectives. From a Bahraini point of view, the maximization 

of monetary wealth or profits for owners is an unacceptable 

corporate objective. Bahrainis view corporations as 

societal institutions that are responsible for people's 

well-being and societal welfare. People generally maintain 
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a positive attitude towards corporations. They trust and 

support local corporations. 

Given the socio-economic environment of Bahrain, 

Bahraini corporations are more likely to provide information 

that reflects their role in promoting the goals and 

objectives of the society. In the last decade, two issues 

were among the main concerns of the Bahraini society. These 

are: (1) the well-being of the society in general and 

Bahraini workers in particular, and (2) the replacement of 

expatriate workers with Bahraini workers, an objective 

commonly referred to as Bahrainization. Thus, I expect 

Bahraini corporations to disclose information on their 

performance with respect to recruiting, training, and 

improving the standards of living of Bahraini workers. In 

addition, since the importance of oil as a main source of 

Bahrain's hard currency is declining, the ability of a 

corporation to generate hard currency has become an 

important measure of management's efficiency. Hence, I 

expect that Bahraini export-oriented corporations to 

disclose detailed information on exports. Finally, since 

accounting profit is an irrelevant measure of management's 

efficiency, I expect Bahraini corporations to disclose other 

more relevant data such as production statistics. 

Because of legal requirements, however, Bahraini 

corporations must prepare and file traditional audited 
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financial statements, i.e., balance sheets and income 

statements, although only public corporations need to make 

such information publicly available. These requirements 

appear to be a result of the importation of British 

standards during the colonial period and a desire for 

"external legitimacy" today. Since the type of information 

required does not seem to be relevant to the indigenous 

needs of the country, there is little demand for such 

information from closed corporations, who do not have to 

make the legal reports publicly available. 

The financial statements published by public 

corporations are also expected to be influenced to a large 

degree by IASs. Four reasons can be advanced to explain why 

IASs are expected to dominate the accounting and reporting 

practices of public corporations. First, the Government of 

Bahrain strongly supports the adoption of IASs by Bahraini 

corporations. The Government believes that adoption of IASs 

improves the image of Bahrain as an "International Financial 

and Business Center". The adoption of IASs also makes the 

country part of the international community. Second, the 

accounting firms practicing in Bahrain, which are dominated 

by international accounting firms, also support the adoption 

of IASs. In the absence of local accounting standards, the 

adoption of IASs will give auditors more authority over 

clients and improve their image and status. Third, Bahrain 
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lacks a strong and active accounting profession. When local 

practitioners are not in a position to regulate and 

establish accounting standards, indigenous culture can be 

ignored. Finally, since accounting is not used for tax 

purposes, conflicts over adoption of accounting standards is 

minimized. 



CHAPTER III 

REPORTING PRACTICES OF CLOSED CORPORATIONS 

As stated in Chapter II, there are two legal types of 

corporations operating in Bahrain: closed and public. This 

chapter examines the reporting practices of closed 

corporations. Chapter IV focuses on the financial reporting 

practices of public corporations. 

This chapter is divided into five sections. Section 

one explains the selection of the sample. Section two 

discusses the data sources for examining the reporting 

practices of closed firms. Section three examines the 

disclosure of the legally required financial statements by 

closed corporations. Section four deals with the recurring 

disclosure of information other than that found in the 

legally required financial statements. Section five 

summarizes the chapter and its findings. 

The Sample 

The sample for examining the reporting practices of 

Bahraini closed corporations consists of 17 firms: 9 

manufacturing firms and 8 service companies. This sample 

was selected from a list of 32 Bahraini closed corporations 

obtained from the Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture. The 
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list is reproduced in Table 3 (page 73). From the 

Ministry's list, 11 financial institutions were eliminated 

because the accounting and reporting practices of financial 

institutions are not covered in this study. Of the 

remaining 21 firms, 17 expressed a willingness to 

participate in the study. The names of the firms who agreed 

to participate together with information about their 

ownerships, external auditors, and year of incorporation are 

presented in Table 4 (page 74). 

Table 4 shows that the government of Bahrain has 

significant ownership in Bahraini closed corporations, 

having some interest in 15 of the 17 corporations examined. 

Specifically, Government ownership ranges between 14% to 

100% in 15 of these closed corporations. Table 4 also 

indicates that the Government has a higher level of 

ownership interest in manufacturing companies than in 

service firms. In seven of the nine manufacturing companies 

the Government has more than 50% ownership, while the 

Government has more than 50% ownership in only three of the 

eight service companies. Table 4 also shows that the 

majority of closed corporations operate in a monopolistic 

environment. Seven of the nine manufacturing firms and four 

of the eight service companies are monopolies. The non-

monopolists firms operate in either a duopolistic or 

oligopolistic environment, i.e., none of the 17 corporations 
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TABLE 3 

LIST OF BAHRAIN! CLOSED CORPORATIONS BY TYPE OF 
BUSINESS ACTIVITY 

I. MANUFACTURING COMPANIES: 

1. Aluminium Bahrain Co. 
2. Bahrain National Oil Co. 
3. Gulf Aluminium Rolling Mill Co. 
4. Bahrain Petroleum Co. 
5. Gulf Petrochemical Industries Co. 
6. Bahrain National Gas Co. 
7. General Poultry Co. 
8. Bahrain Aluminium Extrusion Co. 
9. National Poultry Co. 
10. Bahrain Safola Co. 
11. Bahrain Atomizers International Co. 

II. SERVICE COMPANIES: 

12. Marina Club Co. 
13. Bahrain Saudi Aluminium Marketing Co. 
14. Arab Shipbuilding and Repair Yard Co. 
15. Gulf Air Co. 
16. Bahrain Airport Services Co. 
17. Bahrain National Cold Storage and Warehousing Co. 
18. Tourism Projects Co. 
19. Bahrain Aviation Fuelling Co. 
20. Alayam News Press Co. 
21. United Arab Marine Co. 

III. FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (BANKS AND INSURANCE): 

22. Gulf Investment and Trading Establishment 
23. Grindlays Bahrain Bank 
24. Bahrain Credit 
25. Bahrain Investment Bank 
26. Bahrain Islamic Investment Co. 
27. Gulf International Bank 
28. Bahrain Norwich Union Insurance Co. 
29. Bahrain Islamic Insurance Co. 
30. National Insurance Co. 
31. Arab Insurance Group Co. 
32. United Insurance Co. 

Source: Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture, State of 
Bahrain. 
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TABLE 4 

BAHRAINI CLOSED CORPORATIONS- THE SAMPLE 

Company Name Year of 
Incorporation 

% Ownership Market 
BG LO FO Structure 

I. MANUFACTURING COMPANIES: 
1. Aluminium Bahrain 1968 75% 0% 25% M 
2. Bahrain National Oil Co. 1976 100% 0% 0% M 
3 . Bahrain Petroleum Co. 1981 60% 0% 40% M 
4. Gulf Petrochemical 1980 33% 0% 67% M 

Industries Co. 
5. Bahrain National Gas Co. 1979 75% 0% 25% M 
6. General Poultry Co. 1977 100% 0% 0% 0 
7. Bahrain Aluminium 1977 79% 21% 0% M 

Extrusion Co. 
8. National Poultry Co 1977 40% 60% 0% 0 
9. Bahrain Atomizers 1973 51% 0% 49% M 

International Co. 

II. SERVICE COMPANIES: 
1. Marina Club Co. 1981 30% 70% 0% 0 
2. Bahrain Saudi Aluminium 1983 74% 0% 26% M 

Marketing Co. 
3. Arab Shipbuilding and 1974 14% 0% 86% D 

Repair Yard Co. 
4. Gulf Air Co. 1950 25% 0% 75% M 
5. Bahrain Airport Services 1977 0% 100% 0% M 
6. Tourism Projects Co. 1986 100% 0% 0% 0 
7. Bahrain Aviation 1985 60% 0% 40% M 

Fuelling Co. 
8. Alayam News Press Co. 1989 0% 100% 0% D 

Ownership: 
BG= Bahrain Government 
LO= Private local owners 
FO= Foreign ownership 

Market Structure: 
M: Monopoly 
D: Duopoly 
0: Oligopoly 

Source: 
(1) Year of incorporation and ownership structure data are 

based on interviews with representatives of the 17 closed 
corporations. 
(2) Market structure data are based on an evaluation by a 

Bahraini economists. The evaluator has a Ph.D degree in 
economics. The questionnaire presented to him is reproduced 
in Appendix A (page 163). 
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operate in a market that can be characterized as 

"competitive." 

Data Sources 

The analysis of the reporting practices of Bahraini 

closed corporations is based on interviews conducted with 

representatives from each of the seventeen firms listed in 

Table 4 4 0. Each interview sought to find out the 

following: 

1. Whether or not the company makes its legally required 
financial statements available to the general public, 

2. The reasons the company does or does not make its 
legally required financial statements available to the 
general public, 

3. Whether or not the company publishes or makes available 
to the general public periodic reports other than 
financial statements, and 

4. The reasons the company publishes or makes available to 
the general public periodic reports other than financial 
statements. 

To satisfy the above stated purposes, each person 

interviewed was asked the following four specific questions: 

1. Does your company make its legally required financial 
statements (i.e., balance sheet and profit and loss 
account) available to the general public? 

2. Why does your company make/not make its legally required 
financial statements available to the general public? 

(40) In some companies, I interviewed the general 
manager. In others, I iaterviewed the accounting department 
manager or somebody of similar position. 
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3. Are there any reports, other than the legally required 
financial statements, that your company make available to 
the general public on a regular basis? 

4. If the answer to question 3 is yes, then: 
a. what are these reports? and 

b. why does your company publish such reports? 

The findings with respect to each of the above four 

questions are summarized in Appendix B (page 166). In the 

next two sections, I discuss these findings. 

Disclosure of Financial Statements 

All firms interviewed prepare and file with the 

Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture annual audited 

financial statements (i.e., balance sheet and income 

statement) as per the requirement of Article 166 of the 

Bahrain Commercial Companies Law (1975)41. Corporations' 

bankers and current shareholders have access to these 

statements. However, these financial statements are not 

published in local newspapers or made available to the 

general public on a request basis or to prospective 

stockholders. 

The majority interviewed (13 of 17 people) suggested 

that they do not publish their legally required financial 

statements because there is no legal requirement for such 

(41) Bahrain closed corporations who have foreign 
ownership may also need to prepare audited financial 
statements for the financial accounting purposes of its 
foreign owners. 
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publication. The question that one might ask here is: why, 

if Bahraini corporations prepare these statements and incur 

audit costs, do they not voluntary disclose them? The 

balance of this section attempts to provide an answer to the 

above question. 

The absence of voluntary disclosure by Bahraini closed 

corporations is not surprising since, for one, the 

traditional agency argument for voluntary disclosure does 

not apply to the operating environment of these closed 

firms4'2. The agency argument is based on the assumption of 

widespread corporate ownership and separation of ownership 

from control. However, most Bahraini closed corporations 

are closely held and, thus, no real separation of ownership 

and control exists. Most of these corporations are either 

totally owned by the government of Bahrain or jointly owned 

by the government of Bahrain and foreign corporation(s) or 

foreign government(s). In addition, the traditional agency 

argument assumes that corporations raise capital in a 

competitive and sophisticated capital market. However, this 

assumption is also irrelevant to Bahraini closed 

(42) The traditional agency argument suggests that 
corporate management would voluntarily disclose information 
in order to minimize the agency cost associated with 
separation of ownership from control. For a detailed 
discussion of the traditional agency argument for voluntary 
disclosure, see Wallace (1980) and Leftwich, Watts and 
Zimmerman (1981). 



78 

corporations because these corporations are not legally-

allowed to issue stocks or bonds to the general public. 

Another possible reason for the absence of voluntary-

financial statements disclosure by Bahraini closed 

corporations is the lack of usefulness of such statements. 

Because traditional financial statements with their focus on 

profit measurement are not considered useful by the general 

public, Bahraini closed corporations do not publish such 

statements. Instead, they publish information that is of 

direct interest to the public. Bahraini closed corporations 

operate in an environment characterized by significant 

government ownership and control, monopolistic market, 

limited need for external finance, and cooperative and 

supportive societal attitudes towards corporations. In this 

environment, the information provided in the traditional 

financial statements is of little relevance. Accounting 

profit does not measure management's efficiency. Management 

efficiency can be better evaluated by measures relating to 

production efficiency (such as actual units produced) and a 

company's contribution to the well-being of the society. 

Also, information on a company's training and welfare 

programs for their Bahraini workers appears to be more 

relevant. 

Mautz and May (1978) cite two traditional reasons for 

non-disclosure: (1) fear of competition, and (2) cost of 
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disclosure. To examine whether the above reasons explain 

the absence of voluntary financial statements disclosure by 

Bahraini closed corporations, the representatives of these 

corporations who were interviewed were asked whether fear of 

competition and cost of publication led to non-disclosure of 

financial statements. The answers were "No" for both 

questions. Sixteen of the seventeen people interviewed 

stated that competition is not the reason for the non-

disclosure. Competition is not important because most of 

the seventeen closed firms operate in a monopolistic 

environment i.e., they have no competitors. With respect to 

cost of publication, all seventeen people interviewed 

suggested that the out of pocket cost for publishing 

financial statements is immaterial and, thus, has no impact 

on disclosure. 

Duggar (1989) suggests that in a monopolistic market, 

corporations maximize profit by exploiting workers and 

consumers by paying sweating wages and administering prices. 

As such, one may argue that Bahraini closed corporations do 

not publish financial statements in order to hide their 

monopolistic profit. This explanation, however, appears 

irrelevant given the characteristics of Bahraini closed 

corporations and the environment under which they operate. 

The Government of Bahrain has significant ownership interest 

in closed corporations. The Government is not in the 
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business of exploiting its people, rather it works towards 

promoting societal well-being. In addition, Bahrain has a 

culture that emphasizes the rights of the society over those 

of the individual. In this culture, corporations, the 

Government, and the people work together in a cooperative 

and trustful environment for the well-being of all. As 

such, corporate stability, security, and continuity are more 

important than profit maximization. 

Disclosure of Information Other than Financial 

Statements 

Seven of the seventeen closed corporations examined in 

this study publish, on a regular basis, a report to the 

general public. This report is commonly referred to as the 

"annual review". These annual reviews are unaudited. In 

the balance of this section, I first examine the 

characteristics of firms that publish annual reviews and 

compare them to those of firms which do not publish annual 

reviews. Then, I discuss the types of information disclosed 

in these reviews. 

Characteristics of Firms that Publish Annual Reviews 

In order to understand the characteristics of firms 

that publish annual reviews and distinguish them from firms 

that do not publish such reviews, the two groups of firms 
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were compared with respect to the following: ownership 

structure (government, local private, and foreign 

ownerships), size, external auditor, and industry (i.e., 

manufacturing Vs. service). Size is measured by number of 

employees at the end of 19914^. Information on the above 

characteristics for each of the 17 closed firms are 

presented in Table 5 (page 82). 

Table 5 shows that the structure of ownership seems to 

differ between the firms that issue annual reviews and those 

that do not. None of the firms that issue annual reviews 

has private local ownership, while private local ownership 

exists in 5 of the 10 firms that do not issue reviews. In 

addition, foreign ownership exists in 6 of the 7 firms that 

issue reviews. However, only 3 of the 10 firms that do not 

issue reviews have foreign ownership. In fact, one of these 

3 firms (Bahrain Aviation Fuelling Co.) is totally owned by 

a firm (Bahrain Petroleum Co.) that publishes an annual 

review. 

With respect to size and economic significance, 

Table 5 shows that the firms which issued annual reviews 

are, in general, larger in terms of number of workers than 

those which did not issue annual reviews. These firms also 

(43) Because of non-disclosure, no other measures for 
size (e.g., sales, assets, etc.,) are available for all 
firms. 
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TABLE 5 

COMPARISONS BETWEEN CLOSED FIRMS THAT ISSUE ANNUAL REVIEWS 
AND THOSE THAT DO NOT 

Company Name % Ownership 
BG LO FO 

# of Aud- Indu 
workers itor stry 

FIRMS ISSUED REVIEW: 
1. Aluminium Bahrain 75% 0% 25% 1914 E&Y M 
2. Bahrain National Oil Co. 100% 0% 0% 589 E&Y M 
3. Bahrain Petroleum Co. 60% 0% 40% 2732 E&Y M 
4. Gulf Petrochemical 33% 0% 67% 373 E&Y M 

Industries Co. 
5. Bahrain National Gas Co. 75% 0% 25% 350 E&Y M 
6. Bahrain Saudi Aluminium 74% 0% 26% 29 E&Y S 

Marketing Co. 
7. Arab Shipbuilding and 14% 0% 86% 843 E&Y S 

Repair Yard Co. 

:i. FIRMS DID NOT ISSUE REVIEWS 
1. General Poultry Co. 100% 0% 0% 47 E&Y M 
2 . Bahrain Aluminium 79% 21% 0% 244 E&Y M 

Extrusion Co. 
3. National Poultry Co 40% 60% 0% 11 E&Y M 
4. Bahrain Atomizers 51% 0% 49% 47 E&Y M 

International Co. 
5. Marina Club Co. 30% 70% 0% 27 E&Y S 
6. Gulf Air Co. 25% 0% 75% 5000 E&Y S 
7. Bahrain Airport Services 0% 100% 0% 1700 PW S 
8. Tourism Projects Co. 100% 0% 0% 69 E&Y S 
9. Bahrain Aviation 60% 0% 40% 105 E&Y S 

Fuelling Co. 
10 . Alayam News Press Co. 0% 100% 0% 32 KPMG S 

Ownership: 
BG= Bahrain Government 
LO= Private local owners 
FO= Foreign ownership 

Industry: 
M= Manufacturing firm 
S= Service firm 

Auditors: 
E&Y= Ernst & Young 
KPMG= KPMG-Fakhro 
PW= Price Waterhouse 

Source: Interviews with representatives of the 17 closed 
corporations. 
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operate in the most economically significant industries in 

Bahrain. 

The audit firm, however, does not seem to be a 

discriminatory factor. All but two of the seventeen closed 

firms are audited by a single accounting firm, Ernst & 

Young. The reason for this is government ownership. The 

Government of Bahrain has ownership interest in all 15 firms 

audited by Ernst & Young, while no ownership at all in the 

two firms that are not audited by Ernst & Young. For many 

years, Ernst & Young served as the Government's auditor, 

auditing all government ministries as well as all semi-

governmental agencies and organizations. 

Finally, the firms that issued annual reviews are 

predominantly manufacturing companies. Of the 7 firms that 

issue annual reviews, 5 are in manufacturing. While of the 

10 firms that do not issue annual review, only 4 are in 

manufacturing. 

In sum, the majority of closed corporations that issue 

annual reviews are characterized by being large, as measured 

by number of workers, while simultaneously having 

significant foreign ownership. Firms that do not issue 

reviews are smaller in terms of number of employees and/or 

have no or insignificant foreign ownership. 
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Types of Information Disclosed in the Reviews 

Content analysis of the 1991 annual reviews shows that 

none of the seven reviews include traditional financial 

statement (i.e., balance sheets and income statements) data. 

Accounting profit is not emphasized or even mentioned in 

most reviews. The emphasis is usually placed on three types 

of information: production and operation, sales and exports, 

and employment of Bahrainis, training and staff welfare 

programs. Each type of information is discussed below. 

All seven closed corporations devoted significant 

portion of their annual reviews to discuss the company's 

operation and provide statistical data on production. For 

example, in its 1991 review, Arab Shipbuilding and Repair 

Yard Co. (ASRY) provided a detailed breakdown of its 

operations including number of ships repaired, number of 

ships painted, number and types of mechanical, pipe, boiler 

& steel, and electrical works performed, and number of man-

hours worked. The portion of ASRY's 1991 review that deals 

with the company's operation is reproduced as Exhibit 1 in 

Appendix F (page 180). 

Another example of the emphasis on productivity is 

found in the 1991 review of Gulf Petrochemical Industries 

Co. (GPIC). The company's report (p. 3) stated the 

following: 

Both the Ammonia and Methanol plants were operated 
safely and efficiently during 1991. Production for 
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the year totalled 823,737 metric tonnes which is 
both higher than the budgeted figure of 793,350 
metric tonnes and the highest production figure so 
far, despite the critical situation in the Gulf 
region. 
By 31st December, 1991, the total cumulative 
production for the Ammonia and Methanol Plants 
since the start of operation on 19th June and 2nd 
July 1985 reached 2,334,460 metric tonnes and 
2,595,793 metric tonnes respectively. 

Similar emphasis on production was found in the annual 

reviews of the remaining five •firms. 

The second type of information emphasized in the 

reviews is that related to a company's sales and exports. 

All seven closed firms provided information on their 

marketing and sales performance including unit and amount of 

sales by product line and by region. For example, in its 

1991 review, Bahrain Saudi Aluminium Marketing Co. (BALCO) 

provided a detailed breakdown of its sales by product line 

and by region, both in US dollars and tonnage. The relevant 

portion of BALCO's 1991 review is reproduced as Exhibit 2 in 

Appendix F (page 180). 

The reviews also give significant coverage to the 

employment of Bahrainis, employee training, staff housing 

and other staff welfare programs. Bahrain National Oil Co 

(BANOCQ), for example, disclosed in its 1991 review detailed 

information about its training and development programs 

including the number of people trained and types of training 

programs (see Exhibit 3 in Appendix F, page 180) . GPIC 
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disclosed the following in its 1991 review about its 

Bahraini employees: 

The percentage of Bahraini employees in the 
Company had increased to 66% by the end of the 
year. 

With respect to staff housing and other welfare 

programs, Aluminium Bahrain (ALBA) disclosed the following 

about their housing program in their 1991 annual review: 

As part of the Company's incentive and welfare 
program, the Albaskan scheme provided during 
1991, 13 houses for National employees, bringing 
the total number of houses to more than two 
hundred at a total cost of BD 6,200,000, in 
addition to housing loans which surpassed 
BD 907,000. 

Similarly, BANOCO disclosed the following in its 1991 

review: 

BD 664,696- the highest ever level- was 
disbursed to employees during 1991 in the form of 
loans for housing. This followed the increase in 
maximum loans to eligible employees to five times 
the yearly salary from four times. Since the 
scheme was implemented 208 employees have 
benefitted to a combined total of BD 4,340,096. 

The emphasis on production, exports/sales, and 

training and welfare of Bahraini workers is not surprising 

given the socio-economic environment under which Bahraini 

closed corporations operate. In a monopolistic market with 

significant government ownership and control, information 

provided in the traditional financial statements have 

little, if any, relevance. In this environment, accounting 

profit does not reflect managerial efficiency in attaining 
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the primary objectives of ensuring corporate stability and 

security. Actual production of goods and services provides 

a better measure of managerial effectiveness. In addition, 

since all firms that issued reviews are mainly export 

oriented, management's ability to market (export) their 

products becomes an important measure of their efficiency. 

Finally, in a society where the well-being of the community 

comes before that of the individuals, achieving societal 

objectives is more important than returns to shareholders. 

As such, improving workers' standards of living through 

housing and other welfare programs, and recruiting and 

training Bahraini workers (i.e., the Bahrainization 

objective) are among the most important functions of 

Bahraini corporations. In fact, the Government of Bahrain 

monitors large firms, especially those with foreign 

ownership, very closely to make sure that they are 

implementing the Bahrainization process by recruiting and 

training Bahraini workers, and promoting social welfare 

programs such as providing workers with housing and loans at 

favorable terms. This is mainly accomplished through 

government representation in the board of directors of 

Bahraini major corporations. In addition, the Ministry of 

Labor and Social Affaires exercises close control over the 

issuance of work permits for foreign workers. These permits 

are mandatory for granting entry visa for foreign workers. 
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Summary 

The examination of the reporting practices of Bahraini 

closed corporations shows that none of them make traditional 

financial statements (i.e., balance sheets and income 

statements) available to the public. The traditional 

argument for voluntary financial statements disclosure 

(e.g., Wallace, 1980; Leftwich et al., 1981) does not hold 

in the environment under which Bahraini closed corporations 

operate. Market incentives for voluntary disclosure appear 

to be irrelevant to Bahraini closed corporations. 

However, Bahraini closed corporations disclose 

different types of information. In a report that is 

commonly referred to as an "annual review", Bahraini closed 

corporations provide three main types of information: 

(1) information on actual production of goods and services, 

(2) information on unit sales and sales revenue for both 

local market and export, and (3) information on recruitment, 

training, and welfare programs for Bahraini workers. This 

reporting practice is consistent with the socio-economic 

environment of Bahrain. In an economy that is characterized 

by monopoly and significant government ownership and control 

of businesses, and a culture that emphasizes collectivism 

rather than individualism, traditional financial statements 

that focus on profit measurement do not provide data that 

are relevant for evaluating managerial efficiency. In this 
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environment, measures such as productivity, worker training, 

social programs, staff housing, etc., are better indicators 

of corporate performance. 

In sum, the analysis of the reporting practices of 

Bahraini closed corporations suggests that in the absence of 

regulations, corporate financial reporting seems to reflect 

the socio-economic environment under which they operate. 

Accounting provides the information that is needed and 

considered important by the society. In Bahrain, for 

example, corporations disclose information on their 

performance with respect to recruiting, training, and 

improving the standards of living of Bahraini workers, 

because Bahrainization is one of the major concerns of the 

Bahraini people. Also, because profit does not provide 

appropriate measure of managerial efficiency in an 

environment characterized by significant government 

ownership and control, monopolistic markets, and a 

collectivist culture, Bahraini closed corporations disclose 

other measures of managerial efficiency such as production 

statistics. 



CHAPTER IV 

REPORTING PRACTICES OF PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 

The purpose of this chapter is to provide an analysis 

of the reporting practices of Bahraini public corporations, 

i.e., stock-market listed firms. The chapter is divided 

into five sections. In the first section, I discuss sample 

selection and provide information about the firms which are 

included in the sample. In the second section, I state the 

data sources for this part of the study. In section three, 

I examine the disclosure practices by public corporations 

with respect to financial statements. In section four, I 

discuss the disclosure of information other than that found 

in financial statements. In the last section, I provide a 

summary for the chapter. 

The Sample 

The analysis of the reporting practices of Bahraini 

public corporations is based on a sample of thirteen firms. 

This sample represents all public firms listed in the 

Bahrain Stock Exchange at the end of 1992 except banks, 

insurance companies and other financial institutions. The 

sample consists of 3 manufacturing firms, 7 service firms 

other than hotels, and 3 hotels. The names of firms 
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included in the sample, year of incorporation, and market 

structure are presented in Table 6 (page 92). Table 6 shows 

that none of the 13 public corporations operate in a market 

that can be characterized as "competitive.11 Six of the 13 

firms operate as monopolies, and the remaining 7 operate in 

either duopolistic or oligopolistic markets. In addition, 4 

of the 13 firms operate in a "price controlled" market. 

These firms produce and/or sell goods that fall under what 

the Government of Bahrain consider as "essential goods." 

Table 7 (page 93) presents information on the 

ownership structure of Bahraini public firms. Table 7 shows 

that the Government of Bahrain has majority ownership in 3 

Bahraini public corporations, and some interest in 9 of the 

13 public corporations44. Government ownership ranges 

between 9% and 65% in the 12 corporations. Also, Bahraini 

public and private companies have significant ownership in 

a number of public corporations. Foreign owners own more 

than 20% of the total shares outstanding in 5 of the 13 

public companies. In each of these five firms, foreign 

ownership does not represent individual foreign investors. 

(44) The Government of Bahrain has no ownership in 
Bahrain Maritime and Mercantile International because the 
main business activity of this company is import and sales 
of alcoholic drinks. The Government does not want to be seen 
by its people trading in a product that is prohibited by 
their religion, Islam. 
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TABLE 6 

THE SAMPLE- PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 

Company Name Date of 
Incorporation 

Market 
Structure 

I• Industries Sector: 
1. *Delmon Poultry 1980 
2. *Bahrain Flour Mill 1972 
3. Bahrain Light Industries 1979 

11• Services Sector: 
1. Bahrain Ship Repairing & 1962 

Engineering 
2. Bahrain Cinema 1968 
3. *National Imports & Exports 1973 
4. General Trading & Food Processing 1977 
5. Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile 1980 

International 
6. *Bahrain Telecommunications 1981 
7. Bahrain Car Park 1981 

III • Hotels Sector: 
1. Bahrain Hotels 1967 
2. National Hotels 1978 
3. Bahrain Tourism 1974 

0 
M 
0 

D 

M 
M 
0 
M 

M 
M 

0 
0 
0 

* Operate in a governmental "price controlled" market. The 
company receives cash subsidy to cover its losses and 
provide a reasonable return to shareholders. In the past, 
this return represented dividends in the range of 10% to 15" 
of par value. 

Market Structure: 
M= Monopoly 
D= Duopoly 
0= Oligopoly 

Source: 
(1) Year of incorporation: 1991 annual reports of the 13 

corporations. 
(2) Market structure data are based on an evaluation by a 

Bahraini economist. The evaluator has a Ph.D degree in 
economics. The questionnaire presented to him is reproduced 
in Appendix A (page 163). 
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OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE OF PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 
(At Different Dates in 1989) 

93 

Company Name % Ownership 
LOCAL FOR-

GOV INS IND DIR TOTAL EIGN 

I. Industries Sector: 
1. Delmon Poultry 16% 28% 54% 2% 100% 0% 
2. Bahrain Flour Mill 66% 1% 25% 1% 93% *7% 
3. Bahrain Light Industries 18% 65% 16% 1% 100% 0% 

II. Services Sector: 
1. Bahrain Ship Repairing 10% 61% 27% 1% 99% 1% 

& Engineering 
2. Bahrain Cinema 16% 5% 72% 6% 100% 1% 
3. National Import & Export 22% 6% 70% 2% 100% 0% 
4. General Trading & Food 26% 6% 66% 2% 100% 0% 

Processing 
5. Bahrain Maritime & 0% 22% 25% 5% 52% *48% 

Mercantile Inter. 
6. Bahrain Telecomm- 56% 14% 9% 1% 80% *20% 

unications 
7. Bahrain Car Park 9% 49% 19% 2% 79% *21% 

Ill . Hotels Sector: 
1. Bahrain Hotels 42% 5% 11% 1% 59% *41% 
2. National Hotels 25% 3% 11% 8% 47% *53% 
3. Bahrain Tourism 63% 6% 27% 1% 97% 3% 

GOV= The government of Bahrain and its organizations. 
INS= Other Bahraini public and private companies 
IND= Bahraini individuals 
DIR= Bahraini board of directors 
FOREIGN= Ownership by foreign firms or individuals 

*= Foreign ownership represents foreign companies, not 
individuals. 

Source: Bahrain Stock Exchange, Bahraini Shareholding 
Companies Guide. 1991. 

(45) The ownership data for various firms are not as of 
one specific date. No significant changes in ownership 
structure took place during the years 1990 and 1991 because 
of the limited trading during these years (see Chapter II 
for more detail). 
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Rather, it represents a foreign company. Taking the 

ownership of the Government together with that of local and 

foreign firms suggest that most Bahraini public corporations 

do not have widespread stock ownership. This observation is 

further supported by the data presented in Table 8 (page 96) 

which clearly shows that both the number of individual 

shareholders and their ownership are limited in most 

Bahraini public corporations. 

Table 9 (page 97) shows total assets and the way such 

assets were financed as of December 31, 1991 for each firm 

in the sample. As shown in Table 9, the total assets of 

twelve of the thirteen public corporations are mainly 

A C 

financed by shareholders' equity . The percentage financed 

by shareholders' equity ranges from 53% to 94% with most 

firms (ten of the twelve) having more than 70% equity 

financing. Only two of the thirteen firms have long-term 

debt as of December 31, 1991. The above analysis clearly 

suggests that the use of leverage by Bahraini public 

corporations is very limited. 

The above observation is further supported by the data 

presented in Table 10 (page 98). Table 10 shows that over 

(46) However, for most firms, this equity financing does 
not come from large number of "small" investors. Rather, it 
comes from the Government, institutional investors, and 
small number of wealthy individuals. 
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the four year period 1988-1991, only 5 firms had some short-

term debt and no firm had debt that exceeds 13% of its 

assets. Also, during the same period, there were only three 

firms with long-term debt. Only one of the three had a debt 

to asset ratio greater than 25%. 

Since it is generally true that if a company relies 

exclusively on equity financing, the return to shareholders 

may be significantly less than that available when a 

reasonable amount of debt is incurred to finance the 

company, then one may ask the following question: why do 

managers of Bahraini public firms not use leverage to 

maximize shareholders' wealth? One explanation is that 

. . 4,7 

Bahraini corporations have basically no need for debt . 

Another explanation is that managers of Bahraini public 

corporations have no incentive to "leverage" because they 

are not expected to "maximize" shareholders wealth. As with 

other planned economies, such as Japan, shareholders 

represent only one corporate constituency and not 

necessarily the most important constituency (Galbraith, 

1987). Bahraini managers are expected, among other things, 

to: supply the market with goods and services at reasonable 

(47) As suggested in Chapter I, there are no restraints 
to the use of interest in banking operations in Bahrain 
since the Bahraini people have accepted Western banking 
practices for long time. In fact, Bahrain is now home to 
over 120 local and international financial institutions that 
practice Western banking. 
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TABLE 8 

INDIVIDUAL OWNERSHIP OF PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 
(At Different Dates in 1989) 

Company Name % of 
Ownership 

# of 
Shareholders 

I. Industries Sector: 
1. Delmon Poultry 54% 2,117 
2. Bahrain Flour Mill 25% 2, 067 
3. Bahrain Light Industries 16% 836 

II. Services Sector: 
1. Bahrain Ship Repairing & Engineering 27% 549 
2. Bahrain Cinema 72% 349 
3. National Imports & Exports 70% 5,505 
4. General Trading & Food Processing 66% 4,038 
5. Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile Inter. 25% 132 
6. Bahrain Telecommunications 9% 14,403 
7. Bahrain Car Park 19% 1, 807 

Ill . Hotels Sector: 
1. Bahrain Hotels 11% 481 
2. National Hotels 11% 6, 062 
3. Bahrain Tourism 27% 4,996 

Source: Bahrain Stock Exchange, Bahraini Shareholding 
Companies Guide. 1991. 

(48) The ownership data for various firms are not as of 
one specific date. No significant changes in ownership 
structure took place during the years 1990 and 1991 because 
of the limited trading during these years (see Chapter II 
for more detail). 
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Table 9 

TOTAL ASSETS AND SOURCES OF FINANCE- PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 
(December 31, 1991) 

Company Name Total Financed bv (As % of Total 
Assets 

BD 000 
Equity 

Assets) 
Current 
Liabil. 

Long-Term 
Liability 

I. Industries Sector: 

1. Delmon Poultry 6,568 71% 20% 9% 

2. Bahrain Flour Mill 6,932 92% 8% 0% 

3. Bahrain Light Indu-
stries 

4,213 17% 27% 56% 

II. Services Sector: 

1. Bahrain Ship Repair-
ing & Engineering 

8,042 87% 13% 0% 

2. Bahrain Cinema 3,119 81% 19% 0% 

3. National Imports 
& Exports 

19,893 77% 23% 0% 

4. General Trading & 
Food Processing 

7, 604 61% 39% 0% 

5. Bahrain Maritime & 
Mercantile Inter. 

13,788 53% 47% 0% 

6. Bahrain Telecommu-
nications 

166,032 79% 21% 0% 

7. Bahrain Car Park 9,668 92% 8% 0% 

Ill . Hotels Sector: 

1. Bahrain Hotels 20,852 80% 20% 0% 

2. National Hotels 26,496 94% 6% 0% 

3. Bahrain Tourism 18,598 84% 16% 0% 

Source: 1991 Annual Reports issued by the 13 corporations. 
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Table 10 

DEBT FINANCING- PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 

Company Code *Short-Term Debt/Assets Long-Term Debt/Assets 
1988 1989 1990 1991 1988 1989 1990 1991 

Industries Sector: 
1. DP 11% 10% 9% 9% 24% 20% 15% 9% 
2. BFM 1% 1% 1% <1% 2% 1% 0% 0% 
3. BLI 2% 2% 6% 13% 65% 68% 67% 56% 

Service Sector: 
1. BASREC 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2. BC 0% 6% 0% 3% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
3. NIE 0% 4% 0% 7% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
4. GTFP 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
5. BMMI 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
6. BATELCO 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
7. BCP 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Hotels Sector: 
1. BH 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
2. NH 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
3. BTR 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

•Short-Term Debt is defined as short-term loans and debit 
bank accounts. Items such as trade credit, accruals, 
directors' fees payable, dividends payables, etc., are 
excluded. 

Company Codes: 
DP= Delmon Poultry Co. 
BFM= Bahrain Flour Mill Co. 
BLI= Bahrain Light Industries Co. 
BASREC= Bahrain Ship Repairing & Engineering Co. 
BC= Bahrain Cinema Co. 
NIE= National Imports & Exports Co. 
GTFP= General Trading & Food Processing Co. 
BMMI= Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile International Co. 
BATELC0= Bahrain Telecommunications Co. 
BCP= Bahrain Car Park 
BH= Bahrain Hotels Co. 
NH= National Hotels Co. 
BTR= Bahrain Tourism 

Source: 1988-1991 Annual Reports issued by the 13 
corporations. 
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prices, promote corporate stability and continuity, employ 

and train Bahrainis, improve the standards of living of 

their workers, and participate in promoting the well-being 

of the Bahraini society. Leverage is not consistent with 

the overall objective of ensuring corporate stability and 

security. 

To summarize, the above analysis shows that Bahraini 

public corporations: (1) operate in markets that can be 

characterized as "noncompetitive", (2) are closely owned by 

institutional investors and the Government of Bahrain, and 

(3) rely mainly, in many cases exclusively, on equity 

financing rather than leverage. But, the equity financing 

for most Bahraini public corporations does not come from 

large number of "small" investors. Rather, it comes from 

the Government of Bahrain, institutional investors, and a 

small number of wealthy individuals. 

Data Sources 

Data for examining the financial reporting practices 

are derived from the annual reports published by the 

thirteen Bahraini public corporations during the period 

1982-1991. Annual reports are selected to examine the 

financial reporting practices of Bahraini public 

corporations because they are the only periodic reports made 

available to the public by Bahraini corporations. Bahraini 
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corporations do not publish semi-annual or quarterly-

financial statements. 

Disclosure of Financial Statements 

Unlike closed corporations, Bahraini public firms must 

make their financial statements available to the general 

public (Article 167 of the 1975 Commercial Companies Law). 

All 13 public corporations examined in this study include 

the following three financial statements in their annual 

reports: a balance sheet, an income statement, and a 

statement of changes in financial position/cash flow 

statement. In addition to the above three financial 

statements, firms audited by KPMG-Fakhro publish statement 

of changes in shareholders equity. Samples of the above 

statements are presented as Exhibit 4, Exhibit 5, Exhibit 6, 

Exhibit 7, and Exhibit 8 in Appendix F (page 180). 

The publication of the above financial statements by 

Bahraini public corporations reflects cultural importation, 

rather than the needs of the socio-economic environment of 

Bahrain. As stated in Chapter II, in an environment 

characterized by monopolistic market, absence of widespread 

corporate ownership, limited use of leverage, extensive 

government control and regulation of business and social 

affairs, and a collectivistic culture, traditional financial 

statements should be of little relevance. In this 
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environment, accounting profit would not be considered the 

primary or even an appropriate measure of managerial 

efficiency. As the preceding discussion of closed 

corporations suggests, data related to actual production of 

goods and services, local sales and exports, and 

recruitment, training, and welfare programs for Bahraini 

workers appear to be more relevant indicators of managerial 

efficiency in Bahrain. 

The British colonial influence seems to be reflected 

in the legal requirements adopted for corporate financial 

reports in Bahrain. After gaining its independence in 1971, 

Bahrain seems to have adopted several aspects of the British 

business regulations that had direct impact on financial 

reporting practices. The legal requirement that all 

corporations prepare and file audited financial statements 

with the Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture (Article 166 

of the 1975 Bahrain Commercial Companies Law) and the legal 

requirement that public corporations make their financial 

statements available to the public (Article 167 of the 1975 

Bahrain Commercial Companies Law) were probably adopted from 

the British companies acts. These legal requirements are 

inconsistent with the environment under which Bahraini 

corporations operate. In fact, one may argue that in the 

absence of the legal requirement of Article 167, Bahraini 

public corporations would have not made their audited 
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financial statements available to the public. This is 

clearly the case with respect to closed corporations. 

Although closed corporations operate in the same environment 

and have similar characteristics, they do not make their 

financial statements available to the public, although they 

prepare and file audited statements with the Ministry of 

Commerce and Agriculture. 

Beside colonialism, international accounting firms 

practicing in Bahrain played an important role in importing 

Western corporate financial reporting practices to Bahrain. 

Bahraini public corporations are not legally required to 

publish statement of changes in financial position/cash flow 

statement. However, all 13 public corporations examined in 

this study voluntarily issue such statements. A historical 

review suggests that Peat, Marwick, Michell & Co introduced 

the statement of changes in financial position in Bahrain in 

the reports of companies it audited in 1977. Peat, Marwick, 

Michell & Co., which opened its Bahrain office in 1977, 

replaced Saba & Co. as an external auditor for Bahrain Ship 

Repairing and Engineering Co. (BASREC). In this same year, 

BASREC published statement of changes in financial postion 

and was the first Bahraini public corporation to do so. 

Like statement of changes in financial position, the 

cash flow statement was introduced to the financial 

reporting practices of Bahraini public corporations by an 
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international accounting firm. In 1991, four of the 13 

public firms examined in this study issued cash flow 

statements instead of statements of changes in financial 

position. These four firms differ in size, industry, and 

ownership structure. However, they have a common auditor, 

KPMG-Fakhro4^. This suggests that the issuance of cash flow 

statement by the four public firms is most likely due to 

auditor's influence. 

The Government of Bahrain also played an important 

role in facilitating the importation of Western corporate 

financial reporting practices. Unlike many other aspects of 

corporate activities, the Government did not issue specific 

regulations for accounting and reporting practices of public 

corporations. This lack of specific accounting regulation 

contributed towards the importation of Western accounting 

and reporting practices. 

In addition to the above, the Government of Bahrain 

encouraged Bahraini public corporations to adopt Western 

accounting practices as represented by the International 

Accounting Standards (IASs). As suggested in Chapter II, 

(49) These four firms represent all firms in the sample 
that are audited by KPMG-Fakhro except one, Bahrain Ship 
Repairing & Engineering Co. 
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this started as early as 1983 when a committee, formed by 

the Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture, representing both 

government officials and accounting firms practicing in 

Bahrain recommended the adoption of all effective IASs with 

the exception of IAS# 15 (information reflecting the effects 

of changing prices). Since then, an increasing number of 

Bahraini corporations, encouraged by their auditors, have 

adopted IASs. Currently, the Ministry of Commerce and 

Agriculture is in the process of mandating the use of IASs 

by Bahraini corporations (Hughes, 1993)50. The motive for 

mandating IASs appears to be to gain external legitimacy for 

Bahraini financial reports and, thus, moving the country one 

step closer to the international community (Hughes, 1993). 

To be part of the international community, a country needs, 

among other things, to adopt corporate financial reporting 

practices that are internationally accepted. 

Disclosure of Information Other than Financial 

Statements 

Beside financial statements, Bahraini public 

corporations disclose in their annual reports information 

(50) It is to be noted that there are great similarities 
among American, British and IASs with respect to corporate 
financial reporting, i.e., type and content of corporate 
financial statements. However, some differences exist in the 
recognition and measurement of various items that make-up 
each financial statement (Coopers and Lybrand, 1991). 
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that reflects their role in promoting the goals and 

objectives of the Bahraini society. One issue of major 

concern to the Bahraini people is the dominance of foreign 

workers, Bahrain is a country that has large percentage of 

expatriate workers. Of 95,377 people working for companies 

covered by the Social Insurance System in 1991, there were 

70,421 (74%) expatriate workers (Directorate of Statistic, 

1992). The replacement of foreign workers by Bahrainis 

(i.e., Bahrainization) and training and welfare of Bahraini 

workers, thus, became among the most important social/ 

national objectives. Achieving the above objectives is an 

important criterion of management's performance in Bahrain. 

Therefore, Bahrain public corporations, like closed 

corporations, provide information on employee training, 

welfare, and Bahrainization programs. But, with the 

exception of Bahrain Telecommunications Co., below, they 

present less detailed information, than closed corporations. 

Below are four examples of such information presented in the 

1991 directors' report of Bahrain Tourism Co., General 

Trading and Food Processing Co., Bahrain Hotels Co., and 

Bahrain Telecommunications Co., respectively: 

Example 1: 
Bahrainisation is a priority of the company and 
the company is continuing to implement its 
programmes in order to reach this goal. 

Example 2: 
Our Bahrainisation programme is progressing 
according to plan and we are in the process of 
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employing more Bahrainis at various levels in 
your Company. 

Example 3: 

We have continued to encourage and support the 
training of Bahrainis in the hotel industry. 
Currently many Bahrainis are undergoing in 
house training and development within the hotel 
managerial and other positions. Several students 
of the Bahrain Hotel and Catering Center have 
had practical training in hotel services at the 
Gulf Hotel. 

Example 4: 

Since the formation of Batelco ten years ago, 
BD18m has been invested in the training and 
development of our staff 
During the year, 1086 staff attended training 
courses of which 123 were undertaken overseas. 
We continue to encourage the attainment of 
professional qualifications and personal skills. 
To this end 33 staff members took part in full 
time overseas courses 
At the year end, the total number of employees 
was 2,122 of which 92% were Bahraini nationals. 
During the year, Batelco reviewed staff 
emoluments. The resulting remuneration package, 
which was introduced in April, 1991, compares 
favorably with other local organizations. A 
further BD600,000 was allocated to the Staff 
Housing Scheme which provides loans for 
renovating, building or purchasing homes. The 
fund distributed under this scheme to date total 
BD 1.5 million. 
The membership of the Batelco Employees' Saving 
Scheme increased by 105 to 1479. The fund stood 
at BD2,737,000 at the year end. 

In addition to disclosing information on employee 

training, welfare, and Bahrainization programs, Bahraini 

public corporations disclose other information of concern to 

the Bahraini society, although such disclosure is limited. 

Two examples of such information are found in the 1991 

annual reports of Bahrain Maritime and Mercantile 
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International Co. and Bahrain Tourism Co. These are 

reproduced, respectively, below: 

Example 1: 
Furthermore, during the year, our philanthropic 
efforts towards needy organizations continued. 
Assistance was given to a wide cross section of 
worthy causes, and we exceeded, by far, the 
amounts paid out in earlier years. Moreover, a 
fund was established as a "trust" scheme for a 
larger charity cause in the future. 

Example 2: 
Following the policy of the Ministry of 
Information and its efforts to promote the 
Tourism Market in Bahrain, the company has 
contributed in many activities on International 
Levels to enhance Bahrain Heritage and Culture. 
The company also invited numerous international 
companies working in the tourism field to visit 
Bahrain and participated in exhibitions and 
tourism conferences. 

The second example clearly shows the cooperative environment 

under which Bahraini corporations operate. Corporations and 

the Government work together to promote the social welfare 

of the Bahraini community. 

Summary 

The analysis of the financial reporting practices of 

Bahraini public corporations shows that such practices are 

dominated by traditional financial statements that focus on 

short-term profit measurement. Bahraini public 

corporations, like those in the United States and other 

Western nations, publish three traditional financial 

statements: a balance sheet, an income statement, and either 
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statement of changes in financial position or cash flow 

statement51. These financial statements are accompanied by 

a report from the company's board of directors. The 

financial statements together with the directors' report are 

audited by an independent public accountant. 

The disclosure of traditional financial statements by 

Bahraini public corporations appears to reflect Western 

cultural importation, rather than the needs of the socio-

economic environment of Bahrain52. Bahraini corporations 

operate in a culture that does not glorify individualism and 

private property rights. Most Bahraini public corporations 

do not have widespread stock ownership and, therefore, there 

is little demand for financial statement disclosure to 

protect "small" investors, who have limited control over 

corporate activities. In addition, traditional financial 

statements should be of little relevance because most 

Bahraini public corporations operate in an environment 

characterized by monopolistic markets and extensive 

government control and regulation of business and social 

(51)In addition to the three financial statements, some 
Bahraini public corporations publish statement of changes in 
shareholders equity. 

(52) In fact, one can argue that the adoption of Western 
reporting practices is harmful because it makes management 
focus on profit maximization rather than societal goals and 
well-being. 



109 

affairs. In this environment, accounting profit is not the 

primary or even an appropriate measure of managerial 

performance. Corporations in Bahrain have responsibility 

beyond maximizing shareholders wealth. 

British colonialism and international accounting firms 

played an important role in exporting Western financial 

reporting practices to Bahrain. The British colonial 

influence seems to be reflected in the legal requirements 

adopted for corporate financial reports in Bahrain, i.e., 

Article 166 and 167 of the 1975 Commercial Companies Law. 

International accounting firms encouraged their local 

clients to adopt Western reporting practices (e.g., 

statement of changes in financial position/cash flow 

statement). 

The Government of Bahrain facilitated the importation 

of Western financial reporting practices by supporting the 

adoption of IASs. Although these reporting practices are 

inconsistent with the socio-economic environment of Bahrain, 

they serve as "external legitimacy" purpose. To be part of 

the world community, Bahrain adopted corporate financial 

reporting practices that are internationally accepted. The 

incentive, however, is not to raise foreign capital because 

foreign investment is still limited and controlled in 

Bahrain. 
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Given limited usefulness of Western accounting 

measures, Bahraini public corporations, like closed 

corporations, voluntary provide other data which are more 

consistent with the nation's needs. This include data on 

employee training and welfare, Bahrainization programs, and 

charitable contributions. Such voluntary disclosure 

suggests that Bahraini public corporations would disclose 

information consistent with the environment of Bahrain when 

there are no legal requirements for disclosure of financial 

statements or need for "external legitimacy." 



CHAPTER V 

SPECIFIC ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING PRACTICES- PUBLIC 

CORPORATIONS 

The previous chapter covered the general financial 

reporting practices of Bahraini public corporations. It was 

found that the financial reporting practices of Bahraini 

public corporations are dominated by Western reporting 

practices. This chapter has two purposes. First, to 

provide a detailed analysis of the accounting and reporting 

practices of Bahraini public corporations with respect to 

specific balance sheet and income statement items and other 

important accounting issues. Second, to examine the extent 

to which specific accounting practices are consistent with 

the requirements of International Accounting Standards 

(IASs). 

The balance of this chapter is divided into six 

sections. In section one, I explain the methodology used 

for selecting the specific accounting items that will be 

examined in this chapter. In section two, I provide 

information about the sample. In section three, I discuss 

data sources for this part of the study. In section four, I 

provide an analysis of auditors' reports on the financial 

statements of Bahraini public corporations. The purpose of 

111 
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the analysis is to see the extent to which auditors' reports 

refer to IASs. In section five, I examine the accounting 

practices of Bahraini public corporations with respect to 15 

specific accounting items and discuss the extent to which 

such practices are consistent with IASs. In the last 

section, I summarize the chapter and its findings. 

The Selection of Accounting Items 

Fifteen accounting items were selected for examining 

the specific accounting and reporting practices by Bahraini 

public corporations. These items are: 

Balance Sheet Items: 
1. Property, Plant and Equipment 
2. Investments 
3. Accounts Receivable 
4. Inventories 
5. Current Liabilities 
6. Capital and Reserves 

Income Statement Items: 
7. Revenue Recognition 
8. Government Grants and Assistance 
9. Extraordinary or Unusual Items 

10. Earnings per Share 

Other Specific Accounting and Reporting Issues: 
11. Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
12. Foreign Currency Translation 
13. Accounting Changes 
14. Related Party Transactions 

15. Segmental Information 

The above items were selected from a list of 29 topics 

presented in Coopers and Lybrand's 1991 International 
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Accounting Summaries book53. The selection process was made 

by presenting the Coopers and Lybrand's list of 29 topics to 

a group of 18 people: 3 academic accountants, 3 professional 

auditors practicing in Bahrain, 3 accountants working for 

Bahraini corporations, 3 investors, 3 government officials, 

and 3 bankers. Subjects were asked to judge the importance, 

for understanding the accounting and reporting practices of 

non-financial Bahraini public corporations, of each of the 

29 items. The questionnaire is presented in Appendix C 

(page 169) . 

The items that were judged by more subjects as 

"important" than as "not important" are included in the list 

of topics to be examined. Of the 29 specific accounting 

topics, 15 items met the above criterion. The results of 

the questionnaire are presented in Table 11 (page 114). 

The Sample 

The sample for examining the specific accounting and 

reporting practices of public corporations consists of 

thirteen firms. These thirteen firms are the same as those 

used in Chapter IV for examining the financial reporting 

(53) Coopers and Lybrand's 1991 International Accounting 
Summaries book provides detailed summaries of accounting 
standards in 24 countries (none Persian Gulf), as well as 
the International Accounting Standards and European 
Community Directives. 
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TABLE 11 

THE IMPORTANCE OF VARIOUS ACCOUNTING TOPICS FOR THE 
UNDERSTANDING OF ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

OF BAHRAINI PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 

Topic Not 
Important 

Important Do 
Not 
Know 

Balance Sheet Items: 
1. Property, Plant 

and Equipment 
2. Intangible Asset 
3. Leases 
4. Investments 
5. Accounts Receivable 
6. Inventories 
7. Current Liabilities 
8. Long-Term Debt 
9. Contingencies 

10. Capital & Reserves 

0 

9 
9 
0 
0 
1 
1 

10 
9 
2 

18 

8 
7 

18 
17 
17 
17 
8 
8 

16 

1 
2 
0 
1 
0 
0 
0 
1 
0 

Income Statement Items: 
11. Revenue Recognition 0 18 0 
12. Government Grants 3 15 0 

and Assistance 
13. Research & Development 14 1 3 
14. Capitalized Interest 8 6 4 
15. Imputed Interest 9 3 6 
16. Extraordinary Items 4 14 0 
17. Income Taxes 17 1 0 
18. Pensions 11 7 0 
19. Discontinued Operations 10 6 2 
20. Earnings per Share 6 12 0 

)thers: 
21. Disclosure of Accounting 0 18 0 

Policies 
22. Business Combinations 10 6 2 
23. Foreign Currency 2 16 0 
24. Changing Prices/ 15 3 0 

Inflation Accounting 
25. Accounting Changes 4 13 1 
26. Prior Period Adjustments 11 4 3 
27. Post Balance Sheet Events 11 5 2 
28. Related Party Transactions 1 16 1 
29. Segmental Information 7 10 1 
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practices of Bahraini public corporations. They represent 

all stock market listed firms except banks, insurance 

companies and other financial institutions. 

As stated in Chapter IV, the 13 firms included in the 

sample: (1) operate in markets that can be characterized as 

"noncompetitive" and highly regulated, (2) closely owned by 

the Government of Bahrain, institutional investors, and a 

small number of wealthy individuals, and (3) rely mainly, in 

many cases exclusively, on equity financing rather than 

leverage. Tables 6 through 10 (pages 92, 93, 96, 97, and 

98, respectively) provide additional details for each firm 

in the sample. 

Data Sources 

The analysis in this chapter covers both the 

reporting (disclosure) and the accounting (measurement and 

valuation) practices of Bahraini public corporations with 

respect to 15 specific accounting issues. The data for 

analyzing the reporting (disclosure) practices come from 

annual reports published by the 13 Bahraini public 

corporations during the period 1982-1991. However, the data 

for examining the accounting (measurement and valuation) 

practices come from two sources: published annual reports 

and structured personal interviews. A specific accounting 

practice is generally identified based on the information 
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disclosed in annual reports. However, when no clear common 

accounting practice could be identified from annual reports, 

information about the common accounting practice in Bahrain 

was obtained through structured personal interviews with 

auditors practicing in Bahrain. 

The subjects for the interviews were selected using a 

two-step procedure. First, I identified the auditing firms 

who audited the thirteen public firms included in the 

sample. Five different auditing firms were identified in 

this step. Second, I spoke to the partner in charge in each 

firm explaining the purpose of my study and requesting that 

he recommend one of his staff for an interview. Based on 

each partner's recommendation, I contacted the five 

candidates and arranged for the interview. The candidates 

were either senior managers or partners. 

Each person interviewed was asked 10 questions with 

respect to accounting practices for investments (2 

questions), accounts receivable (2 questions), inventories 

(3 questions), current liabilities (1 question), and 

accounting changes (2 questions). These questions together 

with interviewees' responses are presented in Appendix D 

(page 172). The responses are discussed later in the 

chapter when the accounting practices with respect to each 

of the above 5 items are examined. 
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The data on IASs requirements came from Coopers and 

Lybrand's 1991 International Accounting Summaries book. 

This book was chosen because it provides detailed summaries 

of IASs for each of the 15 accounting items that are 

examined in this study. A summary of IASs' requirements for 

each of the 15 items is presented in Appendix E (page 176). 

Analysis of Auditors' Reports 

The analysis of auditors' reports is based on the 

annual reports issued by the 13 Bahraini public corporations 

during the years 1981-1991. Table 12 (page 118) presents 

the results of the analysis. It clearly shows that in the 

last decade Bahraini public corporations have increasingly 

adopted IASs. In 1981, the financial statements of only two 

Bahraini public corporations were prepared in accordance to 

IASs. By 1991, however, the numbers of listed firms 

adopting IASs jumped to nine firms, or 70% of the firms 

examined. 

The observed increased adoption of IASs by Bahraini 

public firms is not surprising. Both the Government of 

Bahrain and the international accounting firms practicing in 

Bahrain encouraged managers of Bahraini public corporations 

to adopt IASs. The Government did so to improve the image 

of Bahrain as am "International Business and Finance Center" 
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TABLE 12 

ANALYSIS OF AUDITORS' REPORTS 

Company Auditor Did Auditors' Report State that the 
Code Code Financial Statements are Prepared in 

Accordance with IASs? 
81 82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

BASREC KPMG-F* N N N N N N N N N N N 
NIE KPMG-F Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 
BLI KPMG-F NA Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 
DP KPMG-F NA NA Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 
BTR KPMG-F Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 
BMMI JAWAD** N N N N N N N N N N Y 
BCP JAWAD N N N N N N N N N N Y 
BC JAWAD N N N N N N N N N N Y 
BATELCO E&Y N N N N N N N N N N N 
BH E&Y N N N N N N N N N N N 
BFM SABA N N N N N N N Y Y Y Y 
NH SABA N N N N N N N Y Y Y Y 
GTFP KAZALA N N N N N N N N N N N 

TOTAL- YES 2 3 4 4 4 4 4 6 6 6 9 

NA= Not Available 
Company Codes: 
BASREC= Bahrain Ship Repairing & Engineering Co. 
NIE= National Imports & Exports Co. 
BLI= Bahrain Light Industries Co. 
DP= Delmon Poultry Co. 
BTR= Bahrain Tourism 
BMMI= Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile International Co. 
BCP= Bahrain Car Park 
BC= Bahrain Cinema Co. 
BATELCO= Bahrain Telecommunications Co. 
BH= Bahrain Hotels Co. 
BFM= Bahrain Flour Mill Co. 
NH= National Hotels Co. 
GTFP= General Trading & Food Processing Co. 

Auditors Code: 
KPMG-F= KPMG-Fakhro 
JAWAD= Jawad Habib & Co. 

E&Y= Ernst & Young 
SABA= Saba & Co. 

KAZALA= Talal Abu Kazala & Co. 
* KPMG-F was formed in 1988 when Fakhro Establishment (local 
firm) merged with KPMG. From 1980-1988, Fakhro Establishment 
was associated with Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. 
** JAWAD became a member firm of Coopers and Lybrand in 1990 

Source: Annual Reports of the 13 corporations (1981-1991) 
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i.e., for international legitimacy purpose (Hughes, 1993). 

The international accounting firms supported IASs for two 

reasons. First, IASs are the set of standards which can be 

imposed with minimum client's opposition since the 

Government of Bahrain also supports adoption of these 

standards. Second, IASs are highly flexible (i.e., allow 

alternative treatments) and to a large degree similar to the 

accounting practices of the international accounting firms' 

home practices, i.e., American-British accounting 

practices. 

The influence of individual auditing firms on the 

adoption of IASs is clear from the data presented in 

Table 12. All early adopters of IASs had the same auditor, 

KPMG-Fakhro. In addition, the two firms (BFM AND NH) which 

adopted IASs in 1988 were both audited by Saba & Co, a 

member firm of Deloitte and Touche since 1978. Also, all 

three firms audited by Jawad Habib & Co. (who became a 

member firm of Coopers and Lybrand in early 1990) adopted 

IASs in the same year, 1991. Finally, the two firms audited 

by Ernst & Young have not adopted IASs for their financial 

reports. The above observations suggest that auditors first 

decide to adopt IASs and then encourage and convince their 

clients to accept IASs as the basis for preparing their 

financial statements. 
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Analysis of Specific Accounting Practices 

In this section, I provide an analysis of the 

accounting and reporting practices of Bahraini public 

corporations with respect to each of the 15 accounting items 

identified earlier. Also, I discuss the extent to which the 

specific accounting and reporting practices of Bahraini 

public corporations are consistent with the requirements of 

IASs and explain any observed variations. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Bahraini public corporations generally carry property, 

plant and equipment at depreciated historical cost. 

However, land and property are sometimes revalued upward to 

their current market values. These revaluations, however, 

are not widely practiced. During the period 1982-1991, only 

two of the 13 Bahraini public corporations examined in this 

study reported upward revaluation of fixed assets. Where 

fixed assets are revalued, the basis of revaluation is 

usually disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

For example, the notes accompanying the 1989 financial 

statements of National Hotels Company stated the following: 

During 1989 the company revalued the land based on 
an appraisal made by an independent land broker, 
whose report dated November 8, 1989 stated the 
land value at BD9,894,560. The revaluation has 
resulted in a Revaluation Surplus BD9,594,560 
which is included in Shareholders' Equity. 
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The depreciation method most often used in Bahrain is 

the straight-line method. During the period 1982-1991, all 

thirteen firms examined in this study used the straight-line 

method. This is not surprising. In a country, like 

Bahrain, that does not have a corporate income tax and where 

management compensation schemes are not tied to the level of 

reported profit, management would be tempted to use a simple 

depreciation method such as straight-line. 

Disclosure levels by Bahraini public corporations with 

respect to property, plant and equipment is generally 

adequate. Usually the accounting policy note states the 

basis on which fixed assets are valued, the depreciation 

method, and the estimated useful lives of the categories of 

assets to be depreciated. Below is a typical example 

reproduced from the notes to the 1991 financial statements 

of Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile International: 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation, except for land which 
is not depreciated. Depreciation of fixed assets 
is provided by the straight line method at 
percentages of cost related to the expected useful 
lives of the assets. The major classes of deprec-
iable assets with their estimated useful lives are 
summarized below; the spread of lives recognizes 
the diversity of assets within each class: 

Freehold buildings 5-15 years from occupation 
Leasehold buildings 15-20 years; over lease period 
Other assets 3-15 years 

(54) Freehold buildings are buildings that are built on 
land owned by the company. Leasehold buildings are buildings 
that are built on leased land, in most cases the land is 
leased from the Government of Bahrain. 
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In addition, public corporations usually provide details of 

fixed assets, in the notes to the financial statements. 

These include, for each class of assets, the gross amount of 

depreciable assets, depreciation amount for the period, 

accumulated depreciation, and net value of assets. 

The above analysis clearly shows that the accounting 

practices of Bahraini public firms with respect to property, 

plant and equipment are consistent with IASs. The basis of 

property, plant, and equipment's valuation, depreciation 

method, and level of disclosure are all consistent with 

IASs' requirements and provide adequate information for all 

purposes. 

Investments 

The most common investment transaction Bahraini public 

corporations make is the purchase of equity stocks of other 

Bahraini corporations i.e., investment in equity securities. 

Eleven of the thirteen firms examined in the study had 

reported equity investment in their 1991 financial 

statements. Only two firms reported investments other than 

equity securities: one reported investment in land and one 

reported investment in managed funds. 

Bahraini public corporations usually classify 

investments in marketable equity securities as long-term 

investments. This is consistent with IASs because most 
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Bahraini corporations purchase equity for the purpose of 

long-term holding rather than trading, i.e., they rarely 

change portfolios. Eight of 11 firms that showed marketable 

equity investments in their 1991 financial statements, 

classified such investments as non-current assets. The 

three firms which classified marketable equity securities as 

current assets are all audited by KPMG-Fakhro. This may 

suggest auditor influence on client's adoption of accounting 

policies. 

Bahraini public corporations usually value both 

current and non-current marketable equity securities at 

lower of cost or market value. But, when marketable equity 

securities are classified as current assets, the lower of 

cost or market value on individual basis is used, while a 

portfolio basis is used for non-current assets. The above 

treatments are consistent with IAS requirements. 

Because the aggregate cost of marketable equity 

securities carried by Bahraini public corporations is 

usually lower than their aggregate market value, it is 

common practice for these corporations not to disclose the 

accounting treatment for changes in the carrying value of 

equity investment. Similarly, because Bahraini public 

corporations rarely sell equity investment, I found very 

limited disclosure about the accounting treatment of sale of 

equity investments. Therefore, I collected data with 
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respect to the above two matters through interviews. The 

interviewees ( 5 auditors) suggested that decreases in the 

carrying value of all equity securities are generally 

charged to income. They also stated that the common 

practice for calculating the gain or loss on sales of equity 

securities is to take the difference between net proceeds 

and the carrying amount (usually cost) of the equity sold, 

which is reported in the income statement. The above 

practices are consistent with the requirements of IASs. 

The disclosure level with respect to equity investments 

is generally reasonable and consistent with the requirements 

of IASs. The accounting policy used and the aggregate cost 

and market values are usually disclosed. However, name of 

investee, number of shares held, and cost and market values 

of individual investments are usually not disclosed. The 

disclosure of this information, however, is not required by 

the IASs. 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are usually presented in the 

balance sheet of Bahraini public corporations net of 

provision for doubtful accounts. All five auditors 

interviewed suggested that it is a common practice for 

Bahraini corporations to establish a specific provision for 

bad debts. However, the amount of provision and the method 
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used for its calculation are usually not disclosed. Most 

firms only disclose that a provision for doubtful 

receivables was established. The following is a typical 

example reproduced from the accounting policies note 

accompanying the 1991 financial statements of Bahrain Cinema 

Company: 

Debtors were stated after deducting adequate 

provision for doubtful debts. 

The lack of adequate disclosure with respect to 

accounts receivable may be due to the absence of specific 

requirements for accounts receivable disclosure within the 

IASs. The IASC has not issued a specific accounting 

standard for accounts receivables. The treatment and 

disclosure of accounts receivable are covered, in general, 

by IAS# 13 (Presentation of Current Assets and Current 

Liabilities) and IAS# 18 (Revenue Recognition). 

Inventories 

Consistent with IASs, the general practice of Bahraini 

public corporations is to value inventories at the lower of 

cost and net realizable value. Cost includes overhead 

related to putting the inventories in their current location 

and condition. Cost is normally determined by either the 

FIFO or the weighted average methods. However, none of the 

firms examined in the study used the LIFO method. The 

absence of taxation in Bahrain coupled with a low inflation 
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rate may explain, in part, why the LIFO method is not used 

by Bahraini public corporations. 

It is not a common practice for Bahraini public 

corporations to provide information on the basis for 

estimating net realizable value (e.g., market price, 

contracted price, etc.). In addition, no information is 

provided on whether inventories are written down to net 

realizable value on an item by item basis or by groups of 

similar items. However, the interviewees (i.e., the five 

auditors) suggested that in Bahrain "net realizable value" 

is commonly defined as selling price less reasonable 

disposal costs. They also suggested that writing down 

inventories to their net realizable value depends on the 

nature and value of inventories. When the inventory is made 

up of large number of similar items that are not 

individually material, it is usually written down using 

groups of similar items method. However, when the inventory 

is made up of relatively small number of expensive items, 

then it is normally written down based on an item by item 

method. The above accounting practices are consistent with 

IASs. 

Inventory disclosure level in the financial statements 

of Bahraini public corporations also is consistent with the 

requirements of IASs. The accounting policy adopted for 

inventory valuation and cost determination formula are 
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usually disclosed. In addition, most firms provide some 

details of their inventories; they classify inventory into 

stocks and goods in transit and provide a breakdown of 

inventories by types of goods. Manufacturing firms usually 

disclose the following components of inventories: finished 

goods, work in progress, and raw materials. 

Current Liabilities 

It is common practice for Bahraini public corporations 

to make separate disclosure, either in the body of the 

balance sheet or in the notes accompanying the financial 

statements, of significant individual liabilities and 

accrued amounts. The most common among these liabilities 

and accruals are: 

- Bank balances and overdrafts 
- Current portion of long-term loan 
- Accounts payable 
- Accrued expenses 
- Advances from customers 
- Provision for employees' leave and terminal benefits55 

- Proposed dividends5® 
- Unclaimed dividends 
- Directors remuneration 
- Charitable contributions 

(55) Provision for employees' leave represent accrued 
cost of vacation. Terminal benefits represent a legally 
required end-of-service bonus which is payable to workers 
who are not covered under the pension benefits of the 1976 
Social Insurance Law, as amended. 

(56) Proposed dividends are dividends proposed by the 
board of directors but not yet approved by shareholders. 

(57) Unclaimed dividends are dividends that are declared 
by the company but not yet collected by its shareholders. 
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The latter item, charitable contributions, appears to 

be most frequently treated as a profit distribution not an 

expense. Of four firms that disclosed the amount of 

charitable contributions in their 1991 income statements, 

three treated them as profit distribution. This treatment 

reflects the notion that corporations should operate, 

primarily, for the benefit of the community, not only their 

shareholders. From shareholders' perspective, charitable 

contributions are expenses. The accounting practices of 

Bahraini public corporations suggest that society is 

entitled to share corporate profit. 

It is generally not clear from the financial 

statements whether bank balances and overdrafts, accounts 

payable, and accounts receivable are stated gross or net 

after offsetting assets and liabilities from the same party. 

However, based on the data collected from the interviews, it 

can be stated that the general accounting practice in 

Bahrain is not to offset assets and liabilities from the 

same party. This is consistent with IASs. 

Capital and Reserves 

The share capital of Bahraini public corporations 

usually consists of one class of stock, common stock. None 

of the 13 Bahraini public corporations examined in this 

study issued preferred stocks, stock warrants, stock 
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options, or convertible securities58. Article 104 of 

Bahrain Commercial Companies' Law (1975) requires that the 

common stocks be issued at or above par value. Issuance of 

common stocks below par value is illegal. 

Reserves maintained by Bahraini public corporations 

can in general be classified into three types: statutory or 

legal reserve, general reserve, and reserves for specific 

purposes such as reserve for future capital expenditure and 

reserve for price fluctuation. The legal reserve is created 

by an annual transfer of 10% of the net profit to the 

reserve account. The law authorizes the cessation of 

appropriations once the reserve reaches 25% of the company's 

paid-up capital. This reserve may only be distributed to 

pay a 5% dividend if net income for the year is insufficient 

or on liquidation of the company. A general reserve and 

reserves for specific purposes are discretionary. Like the 

legal reserve, these reserves are treated as appropriations 

of earnings. 

Bahraini public corporations made extensive use of 

reserve accounting. Most of the 13 firms examined in this 

study accumulated large amounts of income in their reserve 

accounts (see Table 13, page 131). At December 31, 1991, 10 

(58) A possible explanation for this is the lack of 
sophisticated capital market in Bahrain. 
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of these firms had accumulated reserves that are greater 

than 25% of their paid share capital. These reserves are 

mostly discretionary because the legal reserve is limited to 

25% of the paid share capital. 

Based on the above analysis, it can be argued that 

Bahraini public corporations use reserve accounting to limit 

income distribution and, thus, promote corporate stability 

and continuity. This interpretation is consistent with the 

socio-economic environment of Bahrain. As stated earlier, 

Bahraini corporations do not operate primarily for the 

benefit of shareholders. Rather, they are more concerned 

with promoting societal goals and objectives such as 

corporate stability and security. 

With respect to disclosure level, information provided 

by Bahraini public corporations relating to capital and 

reserves generally meet the requirements of IASs. It is 

common practice to find a disclosure of the amount of share 

capital, reserves, and retained earnings in the balance 

sheets of Bahraini public corporations. Reserves are 

usually classified into different types such as legal 

reserve, general reserve, etc. The number of shares 

authorized and issued, par value, and any movement in share 

capital during the year also are usually disclosed in the 

notes accompanying the financial statements. Explanations 
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TABLE 13 

ANALYSIS OF SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES- PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 
(As at December 31, 1991) 

Company Share Legal Other Total Reserve 
Code Capital Reserve Reserves* Reserves to Capital 

(000's) (000's) (000's) (000's) ( % ) 

Industries: 
1. DP 2,956 335 1,100 1,435 49% 
2. BFM 3,500 859 1,803 2,662 76% 
3. BLI 1,250 73 - 73 6% 

Service: 
1. BASREC 800 200 1,400 1,600 200% 
2. BC 1,222 625 283 908 74% 
3. NIE 6,000 2,000 7,137 9,137 152% 
4. GTFP 2,500 625 1,150 1,775 71% 
5. BMMI 5,400 1,350 - 1,350 25% 
6. BATELCO 70,000 15,000 15,000 30,000 43% 
7. BCP 7,032 748 610 1,358 19% 

Hotels: 
1. BH 8,484 2,121 820 2,914 37% 
2. NH 14,442 247 9,595 9,842 68% 
3. BTR 6,589 906 990 1,896 29% 

* Other reserves are discretionary and does not include 
retained earnings, i.e., unappropriated profit. 

Company Codes: 
DP= Delmon Poultry Co. 
BFM= Bahrain Flour Mill Co. 
BLI= Bahrain Light Industries Co. 
BASREC= Bahrain Ship Repairing & Engineering Co. 
BC= Bahrain Cinema Co. 
NIE=* National Imports & Exports Co. 
GTFP= General Trading & Food Processing Co. 
BMMI= Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile International Co. 
BATELCO= Bahrain Telecommunications Co. 
BCP= Bahrain Car Park 
BH= Bahrain Hotels Co. 
NH= National Hotels Co. 
BTR= Bahrain Tourism 

Source: 1991 Annual Reports issued by the 13 corporations. 
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about different types of reserve and movement in reserve 

accounts are normally disclosed. 

Revenue Recognition 

Consistent with IASs, the recognition of revenues by 

Bahraini corporations generally follows the accrual concept, 

whether for goods or for services. Firms that derive their 

income from sales of goods usually recognize revenue when 

goods are delivered to customers or when customers become 

entitled to take delivery of the goods. Firms that derive 

their income from rendering services generally recognize 

revenue when the service has been provided. Below are three 

examples of revenue recognition methods. These examples are 

taken from the 1991 notes accompanying the financial 

statements of Bahrain Tourism Co., General Trading and Food 

Processing Co., and Delmon Poultry Co., respectively: 

Hotel income is recognized when services are 
rendered. 

Revenue is recognized at point of sale on an 
accrual basis. 

Sales are recognized when a customer becomes 
entitled to take delivery of the goods. 

In addition to revenue from sales of goods or 

services, bank interest and dividends from equity investment 

are two important sources of income for many Bahraini public 

corporations. Interest income is commonly accounted for by 

the accrual method. However, the time of recognition of 
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dividend income varies among Bahraini firms. Some firms 

recognize dividend income when dividends are received, i.e., 

cash basis. Others recognize dividend income when dividends 

are declared. This variation, however, has in most cases no 

impact on the reported annual income because, in Bahrain, 

dividends are usually declared and paid within the same 

financial year^. 

As required by IASs, most Bahraini public firms 

disclose the accounting policies followed for revenue 

recognition. In 1991, 12 of the 13 firms examined in this 

study provided some information on revenue/income 

recognition. In addition to disclosure of accounting 

policies, Bahraini corporations usually disclose sales and 

other income separately either in the income statement or in 

the notes to the financial statements. 

Government Grants and Assistance 

The government of Bahrain provides various types of 

grants and assistance to Bahraini corporations. These 

typically include: (1) cash grants for firms which produce 

price controlled goods, (2) business sites at a nominal 

(59) Most Bahraini public corporations declare and pay 
dividends only once a year. 
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rent, and (3) loans at favorable terms. In addition, large 

manufacturing firms operating in Bahrain receive: (1) fuel, 

water, and power at reduced rates, and (2) reduction or 

exemption of custom duty on imported raw materials and/or 

equipment and machinery. Since none of the 13 public firms 

examined in this study are entitled to the last two types of 

subsidies, the discussion below focuses on the first three 

types of government assistance. 

Two of the 13 firms examined in this study, receive 

cash grants on a regular basis because they produce price 

controlled goods. Cash grants are not automatic. Every 

year, these firms submit a subsidy request to the Ministry 

of Finance. The amount of subsidy requested is generally 

sufficient to cover dividends to shareholders, transfer to 

legal reserve, and remuneration to the board of directors. 

Once approved, the grant is presented in the income 

statement for the year to which it relates. The above 

practice is another example that, in Bahrain, net income is 

not a measure of management efficiency. It only represents 

the amount available for appropriation. In addition, the 

practice of providing cash grants to cover dividends to 

shareholders clearly suggests that corporations in Bahrain 

are not viewed as belonging to shareholders. But, 

shareholders, like other constituencies, do have a right to 

a "reasonable" return on their capital. 
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Beside a cash subsidy, the Government of Bahrain makes 

business sites available for corporations for minimal annual 

rent. In fact, many of the 13 firms examined in this study 

operate on land that is leased from the government on a 

long-term rental agreement (usually for 50 years). Rent 

paid on government provided sites is usually treated as an 

expense of the period to which it is related. Most 

corporations disclose the fact that the land on which the 

company's plants and/or offices are situated is rented from 

the government. However, only some firms disclose the terms 

of the land-lease agreement such as the annual rent, the 

period of lease, etc. 

The Government of Bahrain also either provides or 

guarantees loans, at favorable terms, to local corporations. 

The actual amount of interest paid on loans granted or 

guaranteed by the Government is charged to the income 

statement as interest expense. The terms of the loan are 

usually disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

However, in some cases the interest rate charged on 

government loans is not disclosed. 

In general, the accounting treatment for various types 

of government grants or assistants is consistent with the 

requirements of IASs. In addition, disclosure level with 

respect to these transactions generally meets the 

requirements of IASs. 
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Extraordinary or Unusual Items 

International Accounting Standards require that gains 

or losses that are not part of a company's normal activities 

be described as unusual and disclosed separately in the 

income statement. Bahraini corporations do not always 

conform to IAS requirements. In fact, I observed some 

inconsistency in the accounting treatment of extraordinary 

or unusual gains/losses among Bahraini corporations and for 

the same corporation over time. For example, General 

Trading and Food Processing Company (1987) presented a loss 

on sale of shares in the income statement as "unusual loss". 

Bahrain Light Industries Company (1987), on the other hand, 

showed a loss on sales of equity investment in the income 

statement under "other expenses". A corporation may also 

treat a specific transaction in one year as extraordinary 

and in another as ordinary. For example, in 1982 Bahrain 

Tourism Company treated a gain on sale of land as ordinary 

gains while in 1985 it treated similar gains as unusual. 

Similarly, in 1987 Bahrain Ship Repairing and Engineering 

Company showed a write-down of fixed assets as an 

exceptional item while in 1988 it classified another 

write-down as a depreciation expense. 

The observed inconsistency in the treatment of unusual 

items further supports the argument that accounting profit 

is of no major importance in Bahrain. If the accounting 
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profit is important to managers, one might expect to find 

that managements of Bahraini corporations were keen to 

present irregular and infrequent losses as unusual items. 

Earnings Per Share 

It is not a common practice for Bahraini listed 

corporations to disclose earnings per share (EPS) 

information in their financial statements. Since EPS 

implies a proprietary concept, i.e., corporations belong to 

their owners and managers should be assessed on data that 

reflects stewardship, this omission is not surprising. Of 

the 13 firms examined in this study, only 4 firms reported 

EPS figures on their 1991 financial statements: Bahrain 

Tourism Co., National Imports and Exports, Delmon Poultry 

Co., and Bahrain Telecommunication Co (BATELCO). The first 

3 firms have the same auditor, KPMG-Fakhro. Also unlike the 

last firm which presented EPS figures as part of a 

"Financial Highlights" section in the annual report, the 

first 3 firms presented EPS figures on the face of the 

income statement. Thus, it is possible that the disclosure 

of EPS information by the 3 firms is a result of auditors' 

influence^®. 

(60) Currently, IASs do not require disclosure of any 
information on EPS. 
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The disclosure of EPS figures by BATELCO may be 

attributable to the company's British management team. 

BATELCO is managed by the British company Cable and Wireless 

pic. Cable and Wireless also owns 20% of BATELCO. Thus, 

the disclosure of EPS figures by this company may reflect 

British practice. 

The limited disclosure of EPS figures by Bahraini 

public corporations provides further evidence that Western 

accounting practices with their focus on profit measurement 

are not considered important by Bahraini managers. The 

usual argument for disclosing EPS figures is that such 

figures are useful indicators of an enterprise's success, 

management effectiveness, earnings potential, and future 

dividends. However, in Bahrain where firms operate in a 

monopolistic, planned economy and a cooperative culture, EPS 

is not a useful measure of corporate success or a good 

indicator of its management's effectiveness. In addition, 

when, as in Bahrain's case, public corporations are 

controlled by the government and institutional investors, 

EPS figures are not good indicators of future dividends. 

It is important to note here that although EPS appears 

to be of little relevance to Bahrain, 12 of the 18 people 

(67%) who completed Questionnaire 2 suggested that EPS is 

important. A possible explanation for this inconsistency is 

that people who were interviewed were indoctrinated, through 
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Anglo American education and texts, to think that EPS data 

are important^1. 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

Consistent with IASs requirements, Bahraini public 

corporations usually disclose the accounting policies 

adopted in preparing their financial statements. In 1991, 

all thirteen firms examined in this study disclosed their 

significant accounting policies. The types of accounting 

policies disclosed and the frequency of their disclosure in 

the 1982-1991 financial statements of the 13 firms examined 

in this study are presented in Table 14 (page 140). 

Table 14 shows that over the period 1982-1991 the level of 

disclosure in the financial statements of Bahraini public 

corporations with respect to the accounting policies used in 

the preparation of these statements improved. This 

improvement may reflect the increased adoption of IASs by 

Bahrain public corporations. 

(61) As suggested in Chapter II, large number of Bahraini 
accounting and business graduates were educated and trained 
in the U.K., the U.S., and local or regional schools that 
are heavily influenced by the British and American business 
curricula. 
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TABLE 14 

TYPE AND FREQUENCY OF DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
1982-1991 Financial Statements 

Type of # of Firms Disclosed the Policy 

Policy 82* 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 

Accounting Convention 6 6 6 6 7 7 9 9 10 13 

Sales/Turnover 9 10 10 11 11 11 12 12 12 12 

Fixed Assets & 
Depreciation 

12 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 

Investment 7 7 10 10 10 10 11 12 12 12 

Foreign Currencies 8 8 8 8 8 8 9 9 10 11 

Inventories 9 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 11 

Accounts Receivable 2 2 4 4 5 5 6 6 6 7 

Employees' Terminal 
benefits 1 2 2 2 2 3 4 5 5 6 

Reserve/Appropr-
iation of Income 2 2 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 

Government Subsidy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Intangible Assets 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 

Leases 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 

Treasury Stock 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 

Consolidation 2 2 2 2 2 2 1 0 0 0 

Source: 1982-1991 corporate annual reports 

* In 1982 the annual reports of 12 corporations were only 
available. From 1983-1991, the annual reports of all 13 
corporations were available-
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Foreign Currency Translation 

There are two principal accounting issues with respect 

to foreign currency translation: (1) accounting for 

transactions in a foreign currency, and (2) translating the 

financial statements of foreign subsidiaries. Because most 

goods are imported from abroad, foreign currency 

transactions are encountered by almost all business 

enterprises xn Bahraxna . However, translatxon of financial 

statements of foreign subsidiaries is not a major area of 

concern because relatively few Bahraini public corporations 

have foreign subsidiaries. Because of the above, the 

discussion in this section is limited to the accounting and 

reporting practices for foreign currency transactions. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are usually 

translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the 

transaction or a rate that approximates it. In most cases, 

this is the rate at which banks convert the foreign currency 

to the local currency (Bahrain Dinar, BD), i.e., the actual 

rate. At the balance sheet date, monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are usually 

(62) It is to be noted here that the virtually fixed 
parity between the Bahrain currency (Bahraini Dinar or BD) 
and the US Dollar substantially reduces the impact of 
foreign exchange fluctuations as much of the country's trade 
is transacted in dollars. 
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translated into Bahraini Dinars using the rates of exchange 

prevailing at that date (the closing rate). Exchange gains 

or losses arising on the translation are recognized in the 

income for the year. 

In 1991, eleven of the 13 firms examined in this study-

adopted the above stated accounting practices with respect 

to foreign currency transactions and foreign currency 

t 

monetary items . These practices are consistent with the 

IASs' requirements. 

With respect to disclosure, it is common practice for 

Bahraini public corporations to disclose the accounting 

policy adopted for foreign currency translation. However, 

disclosure of the following is rarely made: (1) exchange 

gains (losses) credited (charged) to income statement, 

(2) amount of foreign currency assets and liabilities 

outstanding at balance sheet date, and (3) amount of foreign 

currency transactions undertaken during the year. Of the 

above three items, only the disclosure of the first item 

(i.e., foreign exchange gains or losses) is required by 

IASs. Since financial statements of most Bahraini public 

corporations are prepared in accordance with IASs, the lack 

(63) Whether the remaining two firms adopted different 
accounting policies for foreign currency translation can not 
be determined because these two firms did not disclose their 
accounting policy with respect to foreign currency 
translation. 
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of disclosure may be due to the immateriality of the foreign 

exchange gains/losses. This explanation is reasonable 

because most imported goods are paid for in US dollars and 

the exchange rate between US dollar and local currency 

(Bahraini Dinar) is virtually fixed. 

Accounting Changes 

Changes in accounting policies and/or estimates are 

common among Bahraini public corporations. During the 

period 1982-1991, all thirteen firms made one or more 

accounting changes (see Table 15, page 144). Since no 

mandatory accounting standards exist in Bahrain, all 

accounting changes are discretionary. 

Close examination of the nature of accounting changes 

made by Bahraini public corporations suggest that many 

corporations undertook income-decreasing accounting changes. 

Table 16 (page 145) shows that out of a total number of 60 

accounting changes made by the 13 firms, there were 33 (or 

55%) income decreasing accounting changes, while there were 

only 10 (or 17%) income increasing accounting changes. 

These observed income-decreasing accounting changes provide 

additional evidence that corporate stability and continuity 

are of major concern for Bahraini public corporations. 

Limiting income distribution, through income-decreasing 
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TABLE 15 

ANALYSIS OF NUMBER OF ACCOUNTING CHANGES MADE BY 
BAHRAINI PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 

(1982-1991) 

Company Did Accounting Policy or Accounting Estimate 
Code Changed? ._ 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 Total # 
Changes 

BASREC NC C NC NC C C C C C C 7 
NIE C NC NC C NC C C NC NC C 5 
BLI NC NC C C NC C NC NC NC NC 3 
DP * NC NC C C C NC NC C C 5 
BTR C C NC C NC C C NC NC C 6 
BMMI NC C NC C NC C NC NC C C 5 
BCP NC NC NC NC NC NC NC NC C NC 1 
BC NC C C C NC C NC C C C 7 
BATELCO NC C C C C C NC C NC NC 6 
BH NC NC NC C C NC NC NC NC NC 2 
BFM C NC NC C NC NC C NC NC NC 3 
NH NC C NC C NC C C C NC NC 5 
GTFP C NC C C C C NC NC NC NC 5 

TOTAL # OF C 4 6 4 11 5 10 5 4 5 6 60 

* The annual report is not available 
NC= No changes in accounting policies or estimates. 
C= An accounting policy or estimate was changed. 
Company Codes: 

BASREC= Bahrain Ship Repairing & Engineering Co. 
NIE= National Imports & Exports Co. 
BLI= Bahrain Light Industries Co. 
DP= Delmon Poultry Co. 
BTR= Bahrain Tourism 
BMMI= Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile International Co. 
BCP= Bahrain Car Park 
BC= Bahrain Cinema Co. 
BATELCO= Bahrain Telecommunications Co. 
BH= Bahrain Hotels Co. 
BFM= Bahrain Flour Mill Co. 
NH= National Hotels Co. 
GTFP= General Trading & Food Processing Co. 

Source: Annual Reports of the 13 corporations (1982-1991) 



145 

TABLE 16 

ANALYSIS OF TYPES OF ACCOUNTING CHANGES MADE BY 
BAHRAINI PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 

(1982-1991) 

Company-
Code 

What is the Impact of the Change in Accounting 
Policy or Estimate on Income? , 

82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91 Total 
IN DE NO 

BASREC 
NIE NO 
BLI 
DP • 

BTR IN 
BMMI 
BCP 
BC 
BATELCO 
BH 
BFM IN 
NH 
GTFP NO 

TOTAL 4 

DE 

DE 

DE DE DE DE DE DE 
-- DE 
NO NO 

DE NO 
DE --
DE - -

DE DE 
IN --
DE --
DE DE 
DE --

NO IN DE 
NO DE NO DE 
- - - - DE DE 
- - - - DE 

NO 
DE 

IN - - DE 
- - NO NO NO NO 

-- NO 
IN DE 
DE --

- - DE 
DE IN IN 

NO 

DE NO 
-- DE 
IN IN 

NO 

0 
0 
1 
0 
1 
2 
0 
2 
0 
0 
1 
3 
0 

7 
3 
0 
3 
5 
3 
0 
2 
4 
2 
2 
2 
0 

0 
2 
2 
2 
0 
0 
1 
3 
2 
0 
0 
0 
5 

4 11 5 10 6 10 33 17 

* The annual report is not available. 
--No accounting change took place 
IN= The accounting change has income increasing impact. 
DE= The accounting change has income decreasing impact. 
NO= The accounting change has no impact on income or its 

impact on income can not be determined. 
Company Codes: 

BASREC= Bahrain Ship Repairing & Engineering Co. 
NIE= National Imports & Exports Co. 
BLI= Bahrain Light Industries Co. 
DP= Delmon Poultry Co. 
BTR= Bahrain Tourism 
BMMI= Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile International Co. 
BCP= Bahrain Car Park 
BC= Bahrain Cinema Co. 
BATELCO= Bahrain Telecommunications Co. 
BH= Bahrain Hotels Co. 
BFM= Bahrain Flour Mill Co. 
NH= National Hotels Co. 
GTFP= General Trading & Food Processing Co. 

Source: Annual Reports of the 13 corporations (1982-1991) 
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accounting changes, promotes corporate stability and 

security (Jinnai, 1990). 

Bahraini corporations usually do not disclose their 

accounting policies with respect to accounting changes. 

Because of this lack of disclosure, the accounting treatment 

of changes in accounting policies or estimates is not always 

clear from published annual reports. However, based on data 

collected from interviewing five auditors, the following 

were suggested as the most common practice with respect to 

accounting changes: 

1. Adjustment resulting from change in accounting policy 
is separately disclosed in the current period income 
statement as part of net income. 

2. Adjustment resulting from change in accounting estimate 
is treated prospectively either as part of current 
period's income if the change affects current period 
only, and in the period of change and future periods if 
the change affects both periods. 

The above accounting practices are consistent with the 

requirements of IASs. 

Although the IASs require that the effect together 

with the reason for accounting changes be disclosed, not all 

Bahraini public corporations disclose such information. In 

fact, some Bahraini corporations make accounting changes 

without disclosing that accounting changes are made^4. This 

(64) An analyst has to examine the annual reports of two 
subsequent years to be able to discover that accounting 
changes took place, i.e., only comparative analysis will 
highlight that accounting changes took place. 
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lack of disclosure may suggest that in Bahrain accounting 

profit is not viewed as a measure of managerial efficiency. 

Related Party Transactions 

Bahraini public corporations rarely disclose any 

information about transactions with related parties such as 

associated companies, company's directors and/or management, 

and major shareholders, customers, and suppliers. During 

the period 1982-1991, only one of the thirteen firms 

examined in this study reported transactions with related 

parties. None of the firms reported whether or not 

transactions (loans, credit, sales, etc.) with the company's 

directors, management, or persons connected to them took 

place during the period for which financial statements were 

prepared. Also, none of the thirteen firms disclosed 

transactions with major shareholders (e.g., the Government), 

customers, and/or suppliers. Finally, none of the firms 

disclosed the accounting policy adopted with respect to 

related party transactions. 

The observed lack of disclosure of transactions with 

related parties is not surprising. Related party disclosure 

emerged in an individualistic culture with widespread 

corporate ownership where mistrust and fear of exploitation 

of owners (shareholders) by their agents (managers) is 

strong (Merino And Neimark, 1982). In a country where 
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managers' primary obligation is not shareholders and where 

direct government oversight exists, related party 

transactions may be considered a stabilizing economic force, 

rather than a dysfunctional factor (Jinnai, 1990). Also, in 

a competitive market economy, disclosure of transactions 

with related parties serves to ensure that transactions are 

conducted on an arm's-length basis. However, in Bahrain 

there is no concern with monopolization and, thus, 

disclosure of transactions among related parties is of 

little importance^. 

Corporations that have transactions with related 

parties are required under IASs to disclose the nature of 

the related party relationships as well as the types of 

transactions and the elements of the transaction necessary 

for the understanding of the financial statements (Coopers 

and Lybrand, 1991). No such disclosure is observed in the 

financial statements of Bahraini public corporations. In 

1991, none of the 13 Bahraini public corporations provided 

disclosure with respect to related party transactions 

although the financial statements of 10 of these firms were 

(65) Lack of concern with monopolization may explain why 
Bahrain has no monopoly or antitrust laws. 
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prepared in accordance with IASs^^. An important question 

for future research will then be: why are Bahraini auditors 

willing to certify that financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with IASs when these statements do not disclose 

information on related party transactions? 

Segmental Information 

Bahraini public corporations rarely provide segmental 

information. In 1991, only 2 (Delmon Poultry Co. and 

Bahrain Flour Mills Co.) of the 13 Bahraini public 

corporations examined in this study provided some segmental 

information. The first firm disclosed both sales and profit 

contributions by business segments. The second firm 

disclosed purchases and sales by products. What is common 

between these two firms is that both companies receive cash 

subsidies from the Government because they produce and sell 

price-controlled goods. This suggests that in Bahrain 

segmental disclosure became necessary to justify the 

subsidies, since subsidies are based on product lines. For 

example, Delmon Poultary Co. has two products: chicken and 

feed. Since subsidy rates for chicken and feed are not the 

(66) One may argue that lack of disclosure of related 
party transactions in the financial statements of the 13 
Bahraini public corporations reflects absence of such 
transactions. However, this argument is weak because 16 of 
the 18 people who completed Questionnaire 2 suggested that 
related party transactions are important in Bahrain. 
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same, segmental disclosure becomes necessary. 

Although some of the remaining 11 corporations clearly-

had identifiable business segments, they did not provide any 

segmental data. For example, Bahrain Maritime and 

Mercantile International had the following business segments 

in 1991: wholesale and retail of consumable goods, 

insurance, travel and shipping, and sales of technical 

equipment. However, the company did not disclose 

information by business segments. 

The lack of segmental disclosure by Bahraini public 

corporations is not surprising because the sources of 

pressure that led to segmental disclosure in the US and 

other Western nations are irrelevant to Bahrain. The 

pressure for segmental disclosure in the West, mainly the 

US, resulted from: (1) capital markets need for segmental 

data in order to allow investors to do a better job of 

predicting firm's risk and return, and (2) government 

concern over conglomerate movement and monopoly (Stevenson, 

1980). However, neither factor is of concern in Bahrain. 

As suggested in Chapter II, small investors do not provide 

significant capital to Bahraini public corporations and 

corporate ownership in Bahrain conveys no special 

privileges. Major investors (the government, institutional 

investors, and wealthy individuals) can obtain all the 

information they need through their membership in the 
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companies' boards of directors or through word of mouth in a 

comparatively small financial community. 

In addition to absence of pressure from investors, 

there is no pressure from the Government for segmental 

disclosure. All significant corporations operating in 

Bahrain are under close control from the Government. 

Monopoly is not a concern for Bahraini people or government. 

Bahraini culture does not view competition as salutary, but 

rather as a destabilizing factor that should be avoided67. 

Public corporations are required under IASs to 

disclose segmfental information (Coopers and Lybrand, 1991). 

As suggested above, however, most Bahraini public 

corporations did not provide segmental disclosure although 

their financial statements were prepared in accordance with 

IASs (e.g., BMMI). As suggested earlier, the investigation 

of why Bahraini auditors are willing to certify that 

financial statements are prepared in accordance with IASs 

when there are some non-complaiance is fruitful area for 

future research. 

(67) In fact, Chandler (1962) and Galambos (1991) 
demonstrated that oligopoly is the most efficient economic 
structure. 
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Summary-

Three major findings emerged from the analysis of the 

specific accounting and reporting practices of Bahraini 

public corporations. First, the accounting practices in 

Bahrain are dominated by the IASs. This dominance is 

observed in both auditors' reports and the specific 

accounting practices. The majority of 1991 auditors' 

reports on the financial statements of the 13 Bahraini 

public corporations stated that such statements are prepared 

"in accordance with International Accounting Standards." In 

addition, the accounting practices with respect to most of 

the 15 specific items are, in general, consistent with the 

requirements of IASs. 

Two main forces influenced the adoption of IASs by 

Bahraini public corporations: (1) the Government, and 

(2) the international accounting firms that practice in 

Bahrain. The Government encouraged Bahraini public 

corporations to adopt the IASs because using the IASs is 

expected to improve the image of Bahrain as an 

International Financial and Business Center" and makes 

Bahrain ps-̂ rt of the international community (Hughes, 1993) 

The international accounting firms supported the IASs 

because: (1) IASs are the set of standards which can be 

imposed with minimum client's opposition since the 

Government of Bahrain also supports adoption of these 
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standards, and (2) IASs are highly flexible (i.e., allow 

alternative treatments) and to a large degree similar to the 

accounting practices of the international accounting firms' 

home practices, i.e., American-British accounting practices. 

The analysis of the specific accounting practices of 

Bahraini public corporations shows that Bahraini auditors 

certify that financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with IASs although there is some non-compliances (e.g., 

disclosures of transactions with related parties and 

segmental disclosure). Finding an explanation for the above 

observation can be a fruitful area for future research. 

Finally, the analysis of the specific accounting 

practices suggests that Bahraini public corporations are 

concerned with minimizing income distributions and promoting 

corporate stability and security. Conservatism is observed 

in many aspects of accounting practices in Bahrain. For 

example, Bahrain public corporations usually use the lower 

of cost or market for the valuation of investments in equity 

securities although the purpose of such investments is long-

term holding. In addition, many Bahraini corporations 

undertook income-decreasing accounting changes in order to 

limit dividends. Also, Bahraini public corporations made 

extensive use of reserve accounting to limit income 

distribution. Over the years, large amounts of reserves 
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were accumulated. Such reserves are mostly discretionary, 

not compulsory. 

The concern of Bahraini public corporations with 

promoting corporate stability and security suggests that 

these corporations are more concerned with the well-being of 

the Bahraini society than with maximizing stockholders' 

wealth. In fact, evidence exists which suggests that 

Bahraini corporations do not view ownership as the paramount 

corporate interest. For example, most Bahraini public 

corporations treat charitable contributions as profit 

distributions not expenses. This practice suggests that 

society is entitled to share corporate profit. 



CHAPTER VI 

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

The primary objective of this dissertation has been to 

determine the factors that influence the development of 

financial accounting and reporting practices in a developing 

country, such as Bahrain. One hypothesis, the 

"environmental hypothesis", suggests that the socio-economic 

structure of a nation determines the selection of its 

corporate financial reporting and disclosure practices. As 

such, a country's financial reporting and disclosure 

practices could be explained by an analysis of its 

socioeconomic environment. An alternative hypothesis, the 

"cultural importation hypothesis", suggests that a 

developing nation may adopt Western financial reporting and 

disclosure practices that are inconsistent with its basic 

socio-economic conditions. In this case, a nation's 

financial reporting and disclosure practices could not be 

predicted by an analysis of its socio-economic environment. 

Bahrain provided an excellent environment in which to 

test the two hypotheses. This is because Bahrain has two 

types of corporations (public and closed) that have similar 

economic characteristics (e.g., size, ownership, and capital 

structure) and operate under the same socio-cultural 

155 
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environment but differ with respect to legal requirements 

for disclosure of traditional financial statements. 

Bahraini closed corporations are not legally required to 

make traditional financial statements available to the 

general public, although they must prepare and file such 

statements with the Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture, 

while public corporations are required to publish financial 

statements. 

I posited that the need to gain legitimacy for their 

published reports would create an incentive for public 

corporations to adopt established Western corporate 

accounting and reporting practices. Since this incentive 

does not exist for closed corporations, I expected them to 

provide information that was consistent with the needs of 

the Bahraini society. 

I used an interpretive framework to conduct an in-depth 

analysis of the Bahraini socioeconomic environment. This 

analysis suggests that the economic incentives that agency 

theorists have advanced to explain the emergence of 

financial reporting and disclosure practices in Western 

countries do not appear to be applicable in the Bahraini 

environment. Then, I conducted a detailed examination of 

the general financial reporting practices of both Bahraini 

public and closed corporations. This analysis supported my 

expectations. Bahraini closed corporations do not publish 
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traditional financial statements, although they prepare and 

file them with the Ministry of Commerce, and Agriculture as 

per the legal requirement of Article 166 of the Bahrain 

Commercial Companies Law (1975). Rather, they provide data 

that enable users to assess corporate effectiveness in 

meeting three objectives that are of great concern in 

Bahrain: Bahrainization, increasing hard currency through 

exports, and promoting corporate security and stability. 

Public corporations typically do not provide such data. My 

subsequent detailed analysis of the specific reporting 

practices of Bahraini public corporations, showed that 

cultural importation has occurred. These corporations have 

adopted International Accounting Standards that reflect 

Western accounting practices. This, however, is not 

surprising. Faced with the legal requirement to publish 

their audited financial statements, which can be traced 

directly to colonial rule, Bahraini public corporations have 

an incentive to legitimize their reports by adopting 

internationally accepted accounting and reporting practices. 

It is important to note here that since Bahraini closed 

corporations incur audit costs for filing financial 

statements with the Ministry, the cost of publishing annual 

reports in one of the local newspapers would be minimal. 

The failure to do so suggests that the information provided 

in such reports is not considered meaningful or relevant in 
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assessing corporate performance in Bahrain. In fact, one 

could argue that publication of such data might be 

dysfunctional since it would focus on a measure of 

managerial efficiency that is inconsistent with Bahraini 

values and culture. 

International accounting firms, supported by the 

government of Bahrain, appear to have played an important 

role in promoting acceptance of the IASs in Bahrain. The 

Government of Bahrain supported international accounting 

firms' efforts to make their clients adopt IASs because the 

adoption of IASs is expected to improve the image of Bahrain 

as an "International Financial and Business Center" and make 

the country a full-fledged member of the international 

community (Hughes, 1993). International accounting firms, 

on the other hand, supported the adoption of IASs for two 

reasons: (1) IASs are the set of standards which can be 

imposed with minimum client resistence since the Government 

of Bahrain also supports the adoption of these standards, 

and (2) IASs are highly flexible (i.e., allow alternative 

treatments) and to a large degree similar to the accounting 

practices of the international accounting firms' home 

practices, i.e., American-British accounting practices. 

In fact, I observed that some international accounting 

firms practicing in Bahrain certify that the financial 

statements are prepared in accordance with IASs although 
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these statements do not fully meet existing international 

standards. It is not clear why these accounting firms are 

willing to issue such certificates and this can be an 

important area for future research. 

International accounting firms also have had an 

important role in transferring Western corporate accounting 

and reporting practices to Bahrain. For example, Bahraini 

public corporations are not legally required to publish 

statement of changes in financial position/cash flow 

statement. However, all 13 public corporations examined in 

this study voluntarily issue such statements. My analysis 

suggests that these statements were introduced to the 

financial reporting practices of Bahraini public 

corporations by international accounting firms. Why they 

did so remains a question for future research, but three 

explanations appear plausible. First, since publication of 

cash flow statements is mandatory in many Western nations, 

the voluntary publication of these reports may be perceived 

as a way to add additional credibility to Bahraini reports. 

Second, audit firms may have introduced cash flow statements 

to the financial reporting practices of Bahraini public 

corporations simply to increase their work to generate 

larger audit fees. Third, audit firms may have seen 

publication of cash flows as a means of de-emphasing 

accounting profit, which does not provide an adequate 
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measure of managerial performance in the Bahraini 

socioeconomic environment. 

In sum, colonialism, the need for external legitimacy 

and the influence of international audit firms all have 

contributed to the importation of Western financial 

reporting and disclosure practices by Bahraini public 

corporations. However, it is important to note that while 

Bahraini public corporations have accepted international 

accounting standards and present traditional financial 

statements, they continue to implement the standards in a 

manner that maximizes corporate stability and security by 

minimizing income distributions through extensive use of 

techniques such as reserve accounting, systematic use of 

income-decreasing accounting changes, and conservative 

accounting policies. Also, Bahraini public corporations 

tend to treat charitable contributions as profit 

distributions not expenses, suggesting that corporate 

managers recognize that Bahraini corporations are not viewed 

as operating primarily for the benefit of shareholders. A 

wide group of stakeholders have a right to the distribution 

of corporate profits. 

Many researchers have pointed out that the adoption of 

Western financial reporting practices can have a negative 

effect on developing countries. One such negative impact is 

lack of disclosure of information needed by these countries' 
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governments, such as the effects of the activities of 

corporations on employment generation, the environment 

(e.g., water and air pollution), and the distribution of 

income within the society. Samuels and Oliga's (1982, p.82) 

conclusion that International Accounting Standards "are not 

particularly relevant to the needs of Egypt and other less 

developed countries" seems to be applicable to Bahrain. 

Similarly, Briston and Al-Ashkar (1983) suggested that IASs' 

emphasis on external auditing and on external reporting to 

investors may be inappropriate since these are areas of low 

priority for many developing countries, including Bahrain. 

In a country like Bahrain that has no strong tradition of 

private property rights or well developed capital markets, 

the informational needs of shareholders should not be the 

focal point of accounting. 

To conclude, it appears that in the absence of any 

requirements mandating publication of specific information, 

a country's corporate accounting and reporting practices 

will reflect its socio-economic environment. However, the 

need for external legitimacy may result in adoption of 

financial reporting practices that are inconsistent with a 

country's basic environmental conditions when audited 

financial statements must be published. In this case, 

Bahraini corporations adopted accounting and reporting 

practices that were of little relevance to the local 
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environment, although they may continue to adopt specific 

accounting practices that modify the impact of the imported 

standards. 

The adoption of Western financial reporting practices 

may be dysfunctional to a developing nation like Bahrain. 

These practices do not provide the information that is 

necessary to gauge corporate performance in promoting 

national goals and objectives. Therefore, Bahrain, as well 

as other developing countries, needs to consider carefully 

the possible negative impact of importing Western financial 

reporting practices before adopting such practices. 

The findings of this dissertation may not be 

applicable to all developing countries since each country 

has a unique socioeconomic environment. Also, this study 

was limited to corporations and its findings may not be 

generalizable to other forms of business such as sole 

proprietorships or partnerships. 

An important area for future research would be to 

examine why audit firms certify that financial statements 

are prepared in accordance with IASs although these 

statements do not fully meet existing international 

standards. Also future researchers may more fully examine 

the socioeconomic impact of adopting International 

Accounting Standards by developing nations. 
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QUESTIONNAIRE 

I am currently working on my PhD dissertation which 
deals with the accounting and reporting practices of 
Bahraini corporations. The purpose of this questionnaire is 
to determine the market structure for the firms which I will 
examine. The Questionnaire consists of a list of 30 Bahraini 
corporations (17 closed firms and 13 public corporations). 
For each firm, please indicate whether it operates in a 
monopolistic, duopolistic, oligopolistics, or competitive 
markets. 

Please complete the personal information below and the 
questionnaire in the next page. 

Thank You for your cooperation. 

Name: .... 

Job Title: 

Employer: 
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THE QUESTIONNAIRE 

Company Name Market Structure 

CLOSED CORPORATIONS 
Manufacturing Corporations: 
1. Aluminium Bahrain Co M D 0 C 
2. Bahrain National Oil Co M D 0 C 
3. Bahrain Petroleum Co M D 0 C 
4. Gulf Petrochemical Industries Co M D 0 C 
5. Bahrain National Gas Co M D 0 C 
6. General Poultry Co M D 0 C 
7. Bahrain Aluminium Extrusion Co M D 0 C 
8. National Poultry Co M D 0 C 
9. Bahrain Atomizers International Co M D 0 C 

Service Corporations: 
1. Marina Club Co M D 0 C 
2. Bahrain Saudi Aluminium Marketing Co M D 0 C 
3. Arab Shipbuilding and Repair Yard Co M D 0 C 
4. Gulf Air Co M D 0 C 
5. Bahrain Airport Services Co M D 0 C 
6. Tourism Projects Co M D 0 C 
7. Bahrain Aviation Fuelling Co M D 0 C 
8. Alayam News Press Co M D 0 C 

PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 
Manufacturing Corporations 
1. Delmon Poultry M D 0 C 
2. Bahrain Flour Mill M D 0 C 
3. Bahrain Light Industries M D 0 C 

Service Corporations 
1. Bahrain Ship Repairing & Engineering .... M D 0 C 
2. Bahrain Cinema M D 0 C 
3. National Imports & Exports M D 0 C 
4. General Trading & Food Processing M D 0 C 
5. Bahrain Maritime & Mercantile International M D 0 C 
6. Bahrain Telecommunications M D 0 C 
7. Bahrain Car Park M D 0 C 
8. Bahrain Hotels M D 0 C 
9. National Hotels M D 0 C 
10. Bahrain Tourism M D 0 C 

M= Monopoly D= Duopoly 0= Oligopoly C= Competitive 
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Question 1: 
Does your company make its legally required financial 
statements (i.e., balance sheet and profit and loss 
account) available to the general public? 

Response: 
Yes= 0 
No= 17 

Question 2: 
Why does your company make/not make its legally required 
financial statements available to the general public? 

Response: 
Number of Interviewees 

Reason Mentioned the Reason 
a. Publication is not legally 13 

required. 
b. No tradition for publication 3 

was established by closed firms. 
c. Lack of pressure from the public 2 

for disclosure. 
d. Other reasons 3 

Question 3: 
Are there any reports, other than the legally required 
financial statements, that your company make available to 
the general public on a regular basis? 

Response: 
Yes= 7 
No= 10 

Question 4: 
If the answer to question 3 is yes, then: 

a. What are these reports? 
Response: 
Annual reviews 

* Total responses is greater than 17 because some of the 
interviewees stated more than one reason for non-disclosure 
of financial statements. 
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b. Why does your company publish such reports? 
Response: 

The representatives of 6 of the 7 firms that issue 
annual reviews suggested that reason for issuing 
reviews is to inform the general public of the 
accomplishments and progress of the country's most 
economically significant companies. One interviewee 
suggested that his firm publish reviews because 
other economically significant closed corporations 
are doing so. 
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QUESTIONNAIRE 

I am currently working on my PhD dissertation which 
deals, in part, with the accounting and reporting practices 
of Bahraini stock-market listed corporations. I will 
examine both general financial reporting practices and 
accounting and reporting practices for specific balance 
sheet and income statement items as well as other specific 
accounting topics. The purpose of this questionnaire is to 
identify the specific accounting topics which I should 
examine in order to gain clear understanding of the 
accounting and reporting practices of Bahraini listed 
corporations. 

The Questionnaire consists of a list of 29 accounting 
topics. Please indicate the importance of each of these 
topics for gaining clear understanding of the specific 
accounting and reporting practices of NON-FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS (i.e., banks, insurance companies, etc.) by 
circulating only one of the following: 

N= Not Important 
1= Important 
D= Do Not Know 

Please complete the personal information below and the 
questionnaire in the next page. 

Thank You for your cooperation. 

Name: .... 

Job Title: 

Employer: 



171 

THE QUESTIONNAIRE 

Topic Importance 

Balance Sheet Items: 
1. Property, Plant and Equipment 
2. Intangible Assets 
3. Leases 
4. Investments 
5. Accounts Receivable 
6. Inventories and Work in Progress 
7. Current Liabilities 
8. Long-Term Debt 
9. Contingencies 
10. Capital and Reserves 

Income Statement Items: 
11. Revenue Recognition 
12. Government Grants and Assistance 
13. Research and Development 
14. Capitalized Interest Costs 
15. Imputed Interest 
16. Extraordinary or Unusual Items 
17. Income Texas 
18. Pensions 
19. Discontinued Operations 
20. Earnings per Share 

Others: 
21. Disclosure of Accounting Policies .... 
22. Business Combinations 
23. Foreign Currency Translation 
24. Changing Prices/Inflation Accounting . 
25. Accounting Changes 
26. Prior Period Adjustments 
27. Post Balance Sheet Events 
28. Related Party Transactions 
29. Segmental Information 

N= Not Important 
1= Important 
D= Do Not Know 

N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 

N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 

N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
N I D 
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I. INVESTMENTS 

I. Is there a single common* accounting practice with 
respect of treatment of decreases in the carrying value 
of equity investment? 
a. If yes, what is the practice? 
b. If no, what are the practices? 

Response: 
Yes= 5; all 5 suggested that decreases in the carrying 

value of equity securities are generally 
charged to the income of the period. 

No= 0 

2. Is there a single common accounting practice for 
determining (calculating) the gain or losses on sales 
of equity investment? 
a. If yes, what is the practice? 
b. If no, what are the practices? 

Response: 
Yes= 5; all 5 suggested that gain or loss on sales of 

equity securities is calculated by taking the 
difference between net proceeds and the 
carrying amount of equity sold. The carrying 
amount is usually the historical cost of the 
equity investment. 

No= 0 

II. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

3. Is there a single common practice for calculating the 
amount of provision for doubtful accounts receivable? 

a. If yes, what is the practice? 
b. If no, what are the practices? 

Response: 
Yes= 5; all 5 suggested that it is common practice 

for Bahraini corporations to establish 
specific provision. But general provision is 
not common. 

No= 0 

* Common accounting practice is defined as the accounting 
practice which is adopted by the majority (more than 50%) of 
Bahraini public corporations other than banks, insurance, 
and other financial institutions. 
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4. Is sales of accounts receivable common transaction in 
Bahrain? 

a. If yes, how the transaction is commonly accounted 
for? 

Response: 
Yes= 0 
No= 5 

III. INVENTORIES 

5. Is there a single common practice for determining the 
type of expenses included in calculating the cost of 
inventory? 

a. If yes, what is the practice? 
b. If no, what are the practices? 

Response: 
Yes- 5; all 5 suggested that it is common practice in 

Bahrain to include, as part of inventory 
cost, all expenses incurred to bring the 
inventory to the storage ready for sale. 

No= 0 

6. Is there a single common practice for defining the term 
"net realizable value" as used with respect inventory in 
"lower of cost or net realizable value"? 

a. If yes, what is the practice? 
b. If no, what are the practices? 

Response: 
Yes= 5; all 5 suggested that "net realizable value" 

is commonly defined in Bahrain as the selling 
price less reasonable disposal costs. 

No= 0 

7. Is there a single common practice for writing down 
inventories to their net realizable value? 

a. If yes, what is the practice? 
b. If no, what are the practices? 

Response: 
Yes= 5; all 5 suggested that writing down inventories 

to their net realizable value depends on the 
nature and value of inventories. When the 
inventory is made up of large number of 
similar items that are not individually 
material, it is usually written down using 
groups of similar items method. However, when 
the inventory is made up of relatively high 
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value small number of items, then it is 
normally written down based on an item by-
item method. 

No= 0 

IV. CURRENT LIABILITIES 

8. Is current assets and current liabilities are commonly 
offset against each other in the financial statements of 
Bahraini corporations? 

a. If yes, under what conditions? 

Response: 
Yes= 0 
No= 5 

V. ACCOUNTING CHANGES 

9. Is there a single common practice for treating the 
adjustment resulting from changes in accounting policies? 

a. If yes, what is the practice? 
b. If'no, what are the practices? 

Response: 
Yes= 5, all 5 suggested that adjustment resulting 

from change in accounting principle (or 
policy) is usually charged to current period 
income without restating prior period records 
or statements. 

No= 0 

10. Is there a single common practice for treating the 
adjustment resulting from changes in accounting 
estimates (e.g., changes in depreciable lives)? 

a. If yes, what is the practice? 
b. If no, what are the practices? 

Response: 
Yes= 5, all 5 suggested that adjustment resulting 

from change in accounting estimates is 
treated as part of current period income if 
the change affects current period only, and 
in period of change and future periods if the 
change affects both. 

No= 0 
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1. Property. Plant and Equipment: 

- Revaluation is permitted. 
- Depreciation method: any appropriate systematic 

allocation over assets' useful life. 
- Additional accelerated depreciation is not permitted. 
- Disclosure of current value of land and buildings is 
not generally required. 

2. Investments: 

- Current investments should be valued at either market 
value or at lower of cost or market value. 

- Noncurrent investments should be valued at one of the 
following methods: cost, lower of cost or market 
value, or cost adjusted for permanent diminutions in 
value. 

- Portfolio basis of valuation is permitted for current 
investments. 

3. Accounts Receivable: 

- No treatment for trade discount and rebates are 
specified. 

- Any practical method is allowed for calculating 
allowance for doubtful accounts. 

- No specific disclosure is required for allowance for 
doubtful accounts. 

4. Inventories: 

- Inventories should be valued at the lower of cost or 
net realizable value. 

- Cost may be determined using the FIFO, LIFO, weighted 
average cost, specific identification, or base-stock 
formula. 

5. Current Liabilities: 

- Hidden/discretionary provisions are not permitted. 

Capital and Reserves: 

- Equity is defined in the Framework as residual interest 
in assets after deducting all liabilities. 

* This summary is taken from Coopers and Lybrand's 1991 
International Accounting Summaries book. 
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- Legal reserve should be treated as appropriations of 
retained earnings rather than expenses. 

- Separate disclosure is required of each class of share 
capital together with certain information such as 
shares authorized, capital not yet paid, par value per 
share, etc. 

7. Revenue Recognitions: 

- Revenue from sales or services should be recognized 
by the accrual method. 

- The accounting policies followed for revenue 
recognition should be disclosed. 

- Sales and other operating revenue should be disclosed 
separately in the income statement. 

8. Government Grants and Assistance: 

- Grants should be deferred, if applicable to more than 
one period, and taken to income as related expenses are 
incurred. 

- Grants may be netted against acquisition cost of 
related assets. 

9• Extraordinary or Unusual Items: 

- Items that are not part of normal activities should be 
described as unusual and disclosed separately in the 
income statement. 

10. Earnings Per Share (EPS): 

- Currently, IASs do not require disclosure of any 
information on EPS. 

11. Disclosure of Accounting Policies: 

- If a fundamental accounting assumption (going concern 
or accrual) is not followed, that fact should be 
disclosed, together with the reason. 

- The significant accounting policies used should be 
disclosed. 

12. Foreign Currency Translation: 

- Foreign currency transactions should be accounted for 
by applying the exchange rate in effect at the date of 
the transaction or a rate that approximates the actual 
rate. 
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- Outstanding foreign currency monetary items at each 
balance sheet date should be translated at the closing 
rate at that date. For short-term monetary items, 
exchange differences should be recognized in income. 
However, for long-term monetary items, exchange 
differences may be deferred and recognized on a 
systematic basis over the life of the items. 

- Disclosure should be made of the translation method 
used and the net exchange differences taken to income. 

13. Accounting Changes; 

- Resulting adjustment from change in accounting policy 
should be either: 
a. separately disclosed in the current period income 

statement as part of net income. 
b. reported by adjusting the opening retained earnings 

for the current period and amending comparative 
information for prior periods. 

- Resulting adjustment from change in accounting estimate 
should be treated as part of current period's income if 
the change affects current period only, or in the 
period of change and future periods if the change 
affects both. 

14. Related Party Transaction: 

- Related parties include associated companies, major 
shareholders, directors and other key management 
personnel. 

- Related party relationships, where control exists, 
should be disclosed irrespective of whether there have 
been transactions during the period. 

- If there have been related party transactions, the 
nature of the relationship, the type of transaction and 
the elements of the transaction necessary for an 
understanding of the financial statements should be 
disclosed. 

15. Segmental Information: 

- Listed or "economically significant11 firms should 
report segment information for all significant 
industrial and geographical segments. 

- The following should be disclosed for each segments: 
a. sales and other operating revenue. 
b. segment results. 
c. segment assets. 
d. the basis of intersegment pricing. 
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PRODUCTION 

The Gulf crisis as expecred affected ASRY seriously both in tocal volume of sales 
and amount of work carried out in the various Production Centres. 

In spite, however, of the advene conditions, due to the excellent perfor-
mance during the last months of the year, the overall results have been better 
than those of the 1990 which has been a good year for the Company. 
On a monthly basis the performance of the Yard during the last 3 quarters of the 
year has been the highest ever with an average of300,000 manhours per month 
and 6-7 ships per day in the Yard. 

In particular, the total ship repair manhours sold reached 2,697,000 i.e. 
increased by 66% compared with the previous year. 

Dry dock occupancy was 87.4% practically the same as last year but the 
total number of vessels exceeded the budget by about 22%. 

The steel repairs volume reached 2054 tons which can be considered a 
very good result in view of the fact that the Yard operated fully for 3 months. 

Blasting and painting works have been increased compared to last year by 
about 8%. A large volume of internal blasting and coating work inside the tanks 
has been carried out on a Tanker using the latest equipment recently acquired 
by the Yard, for dehumidtfication of the tanks and Grit Vacuveyors for removal 
of the grit. 

Boiler works have exceeded those in 1:990 by 66%. 
In the Electrical Service the amount of cables installed was nearly double 

that of 1990. In Mechanical and Piping Service the total figures were consider-
ably higher compared to the previous year. 

MECHANICAL WORKS 1991 

Tailshafts withdrawn 27 
Main Engine Cyl. Overhauled 29 
Aux. Engine Cyl. Overhauled 90 
Main Engine Bearings Overhauled 53 
Bearings Remetalled 33 
Turbo Blowers Overhauled 55 
Main Turbines Overhauled 9 
Aux. Turbines Overhauled 17 
Turbines Bearings Overhauled 16 
Wtnches & Windlasses Overhauled 42 
Winches & Windlasses Brakes 
Renewed 123 
Heat Exchangers Overhauled 147 
Pumps Overhauled 197 
Sea and Intermediate Valves 
Overhauled 2,274 
Boiler Mountings Overhauled 495 
Cargo Stripping Valves Overhauled 470 

PIPEWORK 

PIPE DIA (MM) LENGTH(M) 

Under 50 mm 
50-100 mm 
100 - 250 mm 
250 - 500 mm 
Over 500 mm 

14,642 
6,711 
7,330 
3,987 
1,254 

- ->v • 

NOl or SHIPS KCMJftfD ACCUMULATED fIGUMS 
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Source: 1991 Annual Review of Arab Ship Repairing & 
Engineering Co. 
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EXHIBIT 1 (Continued) 

SAMPLE OF DISCLOSURE- CLOSED CORPORATIONS 

BOILER & STEEL WORK 
Boiler Repairs 
Steel Work Fabricated/ 
Installed (in Torn) 

ELECTRICAL WORKS 

Motors Rewound 
Transformers Rewound 
G>ils Rewound 
Cables (in Mm Installed) 

43 

2054 

439 
55 

145 

19.145 

HULL TREATMENT EXTER-
NAL HULL CLEANING 
A N D PAINTING 

(In Sq. Meter*) 
High Pressure Washing 745,721 
Scraping 158*695 
Grit Blasting + 

Internal 492,865 
Painting + Internal 2,447.752 

STEELWORK TONNES 

Ship repair 1964.6 
Others 90.1 

DOCK WORK 

Vessels dry docked 
(70,000 DWT and above) 17 
(Below 70.000 DWT) 40 
Total 57 

Avenge say in dry dock per vessel 

Vessels over 70.000 DWT 
9.76 davs 

Vessels below 70.000 DWT 
3.69 days 

Cumulative Tonnage 
4.47 Mill DWT 

NUMBER OF SHIPS 
REPAIRED 
ACCUMULATED FIGURES 
FROM OCTOBER 1977 UPTO END 

OF 1991 

Dry docked 
Afloat 
Total 

750 
393 

1.143 

D W T OF SHIPS REPAIRED 

A C C U M U L A T E D FIGURES 

Fnim January 1977 to 31st December. 1991 

INDUSTRIAL ENGINEERING 

Various works for Ministry oi 
Works. Power & Water. Civil 
Aviation. US Navy, CARMCO. 
GliC, GPIC, AMSEA. ALBA. 
BAN AG AS, BASREC. Hyundai 
were carried out. 

STEEL REPAIR 1991 

SHIPS NAME TONS 

HUDSON BAY I 6 
USS TRIPOLI 123 
HYUNDAI FLOATING DOCK .. 43 
SAMNANCER 106 
NEJMAT EL PETROL XXII 48 
LENI 287 
COUGAR 177 
CONNECTICUT 71 
ONCE 36 
PIVOT 166 
IRAN TORAB 12 
BERGE ARROW 8 
MAFRA 10 
TOPAZ 207 
NEJMAT EL PETROL 19 
IBN AL MOATAZ 4 
AlFARABl 5 
PETROSHIP B 6 
POLYANTHOUS 166 
ALBERRY 8 
IRAN NAVAB 4 
MOUNTAIN CLOUD 112 
NANDHAR1 4 
OLYMPIC BREEZE 24 
ENDURANCE GLORY 52 
IRAN ABOZAR 7 
NAJRAN 24 
BERGE NISA 42 
TIMOR SEA 5 
JUNDlA 47 
OLYMPIC ARMOUR II 61 
UCOXX 16 
WORLD BRA2IL1A 14 
A1MAHAD 5 
SHIRVAN 7 
JAWHARAHU 4 
ALSAMA AL ARABIA 5 

TOTAL mi 

OTHER SHIPS 23.7 

GRAND TOTAL 1964.7 

Dry docked 91.178.734 
Afloat 49,163,573 
TOTAL 140,342.357 

SHIPS PAINTED 

SHIP'S NAME DWT. 

IRAN BEHESTI 38411 
HUDSON BAY 150000 
TRIPOLI 15CC0 
SANSUN HONOR 19427 
JAGUAR 28629 
SAMN ANGER 357128 
CONNECTICUT 223765 
NEJMAT a PETROL 5805 
LENI 173715 
N AND KISHORE 19602 
ONCE 269917 
OWL TRADER 12444 
IRAN TORAB 29102 
IBN Al MOATAZ 23618 
BERGER ARROW 48987 
MAFRA 133752 
PIVOT 232164 
VALETTO 20625 
AIFARABI 41158 
NEJMAT EL PETROL 18817 
FILIKOS 85398 
TOPAZ 157773 
F1NIXH 9260 
PETROSHIP B 41061 
Al BERRY 61803 
MARUIM 133752 
POLYANTHUS 259355 
DELVALLE 13248 
IRAN NOVAB 43342 
TOLMIROS 97004 
OLYMPIC BREEZE 268778 
NAVARR1NO 15147 
MOUNTAIN CLOUD 285506 
UN ITED PROGRESS 19350 
NANDHARI 19602 
NAJRAN 28025 
ENDURANCE GLORY 32250 
UCOXX 13143 
IRAN ABOZAR 43365 
BERGE NISA 322400 
OLYMPIC ARMOUR 268450 
TIMOR SEA 49946 
KANIKA VI 4000 
JUNDIA 117979 
Al MAHAD 47815 
SAWAHIL 35 8000 
BOW EAGLE 24728 

SHIRVAN 69560 

J A W H A R A H II 4825 

Source: 1991 Annual Review of Arab Ship Repairing & 
Engineering Co. 
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EXHIBIT 2 

SAMPLE OF DISCLOSURE- CLOSED CORPORATIONS 

Combined with a macro-environmental and S.W.O.T. analysis, 

the Company had an overall audit of its marketing objectives 

with the view to develop a short, medium and long term 

strategic plan that embodied additional services targeted at 

end-users. Our objective was to capture and maintain a sufficient 

market share in different markets eg. Far East, South East Asia, 

the Middle East and Europe. 
t 

In 1991, despite the recession in North America and major parts 

of Europe, slow down of economic growth in Germany and 

Japan parallel with an abnormal oversupply situation that 

depressed the primary aluminium market - a situation which led 

to an overall trend decline in prices - Balco was able to sell a total 

of 204,471 mt of aluminium, only 25% less than 1990 sales, and 

hence managing to generate a total of US$ 300.041 million in 

sales revenue. 

Our successful hedging activities contributed significantly into 

our profitability plus the fact that a well defined marketing plan 

with clear market objectives allowed us to serve the customers in 

22 countries. 

SALES AND MARKETING 

Kr».«ur. \ 
- r.><«4ni<<r * vt f i 

r* t 
l«l Tm\ 

. MM | 

152.1 H IM.4) l<#S4H» a*.!?! 

Source: 1991 Annual Review of Bahrain Aluminum Marketing Co. 
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EXHIBIT 2 (Continued) 

SAMPLE OF DISCLOSURE- CLOSED CORPORATIONS 

SALES BY PRODUCTS 

BALCO continues to keep abreast of international developments 

in the worldwide aluminium industry. Product development was 

one area we kept within our focus constantly. As a result, in 

1991, we concentrated on premium products such as extrusion 

billets, slabs; powder, wheel alloy and standard / Tee EC ingots 

hence meeting our customer's continuous demand for better 

quality metal and closer customer contact. 

Categorically, our output was 63% in premium products and 37% 

non-premium products, almost similar in proportion to 1990. It is 

* this policy that allowed our sales revenue to reach such heights. 

Source: 1991 Annual Review of Bahrain Aluminum Marketing Co. 
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EXHIBIT 2 (Continued) 

SAMPLE OF DISCLOSURE- CLOSED CORPORATIONS 

SALES BY PRODUCT 

iNnn-Pmi iuf f l 1 | Premium 1 

SALES BY PRODUCT % <1991 > 

EC ft SPEC 

* 'X 
• , . . f j t W 

Source: 1991 Annual Review of Bahrain Aluminum Marketing Co, 
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EXHIBIT 2 (Continued) 

SAMPLE OF DISCLOSURE- CLOSED CORPORATIONS 

SALES BY REGION 

In 1991, BALCO managed to establish its presence in few 

additional markets that offered good prospects. We catered to 67 

customers in 26 countries opposed to 73 customers and 30 

countries in 1990. The Gulf Co-operation Council (GCC), Far East 

and South East Asia captured 66% and 29% of our metal 

respectively. Despite Europe's significant potential of aluminium 

demand, our share compared to 1990, remained almost the same 

at 5% mainly due to import duty. 

One reason behind GCC's lead in acquiring such high levels of 

6ur metal is the existence of a fairly wide chain of downstream 

aluminium industries which, it is envisaged in 1992, will require 

more quantities to be allocated to the GCC 

However BALCO's commitment to the international market will 

never be jeopardised and we will continue to serve all 

prospective customers. The build-up of market share will 

obviously coincide with our future expansion when we reach 

levels of 460,000 mt/year by the end of 1993. 

Source: 1991 Annual Review of Bahrain Aluminum Marketing Co. 
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EXHIBIT 3 

SAMPLE OF DISCLOSURE- CLOSED CORPORATIONS 

A tntmrnq stumor htM at At turning mam 
a! the Company i m 

Training by Division 

nuance Mgmt Exploration/ 
A Admin. Sendees Production Marketing Total 

Total Employees g g t, . g | r 231 — . 5 8 9 

Training .1016. ^ _ IX v 2831 _ 954 ,4997 
** ""***. «£? 90*4 

..4 

15.6 113 10.0 4.1 8.48 

Average Days 
Training Per 
Employee 

Type of Training - Man-Days 

. Finance Mgmt Exploration/ Marketing .Total 
Admin. Services Ptodudkm t *. 

ig and 
lanpower p 
Ivelopment £ 

set continues to be placed 

flf developing tjw competence ofstaff 

to cany out the wide variety of tasks 
Ŝ  

required by the Company, at a h " 
v 

level of professionalism. Attendance at 

outside courses increased while ^ 

special In-house training was 
> 

conducted for technical, management 
* 

and communication skills. A training 

programme for service station 

forecourt attendants was devised. 

2*40 

resources aadtto 
•zzsm 

Two graduates who had bean 

sponsoredby the Company were 
* J % - v 

assigned to trainee positions lacMf. 

engineering and accountancy. 
, ** 

A number of employees went abroad 

to pursue fuikime studies in areas 

including petroleum engineering/ 

computer skills and internal auditing. 

. Long-term needs were addressed with 

the establishment in 1991 of a Career 

Development Committee. This will ajm 

— . . . 

Additionally, two > 

programmes for graduates were 

designed in accountancy, geology and 

petroleum engineering. 

&r 

) 

t 

Source: 1991 Annual Review of Bahrain National Oil Co 
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BALANCE SHEET 
at 31 December 1991 Bahraini Dinars 

1991 — 1990 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and bank 615,28* 158,037 
Short-term fixed deposits 1,468.233 1*38,750 

Marketable securities (note 4) 189,550 189,550 

Accounts receivable 

Trade 417321 326,264 

Accrued income and other 176,390 149,788 

Inventories 1,039,453 1,240,905 

3,906,429 370334 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Loan repayments due within one year (note 6) 592,517 587,689 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

Trade creditors 186,126 79,432 
Other 169,108 153,109 

Proposed dividend (note 2) 295,571 266,014 
Provision for Labour Law obligations 38,370 31381 

1,281.692 1,117,625 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 2*24,737 2385,669 

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (note 5) 2*61,762 2797.735 

MEDIUM TERM LOANS (note 6) (601,184) (993,701) 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 4,685315 4389,703 

financed by: 
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 
Share capital (note 1) 2,955714 2,955.714 

Statutory reserve (note 3) 334.630 272,792 

Reserve for future developments (note 1) 600.000 -

General Reserve 500.000 -

Unappropriated profits (page 3) f94,9Zi 1,161.197 

Total equity 4,685,315 4389.703 

Mohamed Abdulta Al-Mannai Siddiq Saved Sharaf Al-Alawi Yousof Saleh Al-Saieh 
Chairman Deputy Chairman Managing Director 

The financial statements are comprised of pages 3 to 9. 

Source: 1991 Annual Report of Delmon Poultry Co. 
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SAMPLE OF INCOME STATEMENT- PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 
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Profit and Loss Account 
—r- '*• 

Year ended 31 December 1991 Bahraini Dinars 

1991 1990 

SALES • Holiday Inn Bahrain (note 1) 4,384,892 3,120,429 

OPERATING COSTS (2,644,302) (2,173,886) 

PROFIT FROM HOTEL OPERATIONS before depreciation 1,740,590 946,543 

DEPRECIATION of hotel buildings and equipment (note 2) (503,587) ( 521,936) 

PROFIT FROM HOTEL OPERATIONS 1,237,003 424,607 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) 
Dividend income 193,563 194,550 
Income from managed funds 180,888 -

Interest on short-term deposits 155,698 159,217 
Rent income 134,435 119,275 
Miscellaneous income 56,574 41,105 
Depreciation of non-hotel buildings (note 2) ( 21,300) ( 17,372) 
General and administrative expenses ( 111,364) ( 95,322) 

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,825,497 826,060 

APPOPRIATIONS (Subject to shareholders' approval) 
Dividends to shareholders 803,180 714,317 
Directors' remuneration 38,500 20,000 
Transfer to statutory reserve 182,549 82,606 
Unappropriated 801,268 9,137 

1,825,497 826,060 

Earnings per BD 1 share 272 ffls 116 His 
Dividend per BD 11 share 120 His 100 His 

Moharaed Y'Jalal 
Chairman 

Qassim M Fakhro 
Managing director 

A Nabi Daylami 
General Manager 

The financial statements are comprised of pages 8 to 13 

Source: 1991 Annual Report of Bahrain Tourism Co. 
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EXHIBIT 6 

SAMPLE OF STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION- PUBLIC 
CORPORATIONS 

(jyitatement of Source & Application of Funds 

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1991 

1991 
BD 

1990 
BD 

SOURCES OF FUNDS 
From operations: 

Profit for the year 
Item not involving the movement of funds: 

Depreciation 
Total generated from operations 

3,796,974 

841.430 
4,638,404 

2,119,029 

909,976 
3,029,005 

Other source: 
Disposal of investment 10,000 

Total sources of funds 4,648,404 3,029,005 

FUNDS APPUED 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
Purchase of licence 
Purchase of investment 
Dividend paid 
Directors* fees paid 
Charitable donations paid 

567,058 
283,076 
28,475 

1,696,896 
40,000 
11,800 

640,958 

27,500 
1,018,138 

40,000 
12,752 

Total applications of funds 2,627,305 1,739,348 

INCREASE IN WORKING CAPITAL 
Arising from: 

Increase in inventories 
(Decrease) increase in receivables 
Increase in payables 

2,021,099 

162,877 
(35,942) 

(195,598) 

1,289.657 

466.418 
221,111 
(209,091) 

(68,663) 478,438 

Increase in liquid funds 2,089,762 811.219 

2,021,099 1,289.657 

The attached notes I to tO form part of these financial statements 

Source: 1991 Annual Report of Bahrain Hotels Co. 
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SAMPLE OF CASH FLOW- PUBLIC CORPORATIONS 
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C A S H :F LOWS 
year ended 31 December 1991 -Bahraini dinars 

Operating activities 

CASH RECEIVED FROM CUSTOMERS 

PAYMENTS TO SUPPLIERS FOR GOODS 
Payments to employees 

Payments for services and overhead expenses 

CASH INFLOW OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Financing and investing activities 

Dividends paid for previous year 

Directors' remuneration paid 
Purchase of shares in Bahrain Development Sank BSC 
Purchase of marketable securities 
Capital expenditure on fixed assets 

Dividends received 
Interest received 
Rent received 

NET CASH OUTFLOW IN THE YEAR (1990 : mrlow) 

DECREASE IN LIQUID FUNDS 
Cash and bank 
Short-term deposits 
Bank overdraft utilised (1990 : repaid) 

Net decrease (1990 : increase) 

1991 

9,964,157 

1990 

13,611,570 

(9.021,716) (11,534.468) 
( 173.046) ( 238.121) 
( 150.921) ( 156.197) 

613.474 1.682.734 

(2.070.027) 
( 50,000) 
(1.000.000) 
( 757,342) 
( 756) 

927,754 

687.340 

11,959 

(1.637,596) 

( 463,797) 
125,053 

(1,298.352) 
(1.637,596) 

( 1.745,560) 
( 50.0001 

( 403.3651 

( 9.122) 

959.05 i 

423.912 

4,138 

366.338 

222.317 
( 171,500) 

315.521 
366.338 

Note: This is the first year thuc a statement of cash flows has tfeen presented. Accordingly, the 1990 fig-
ures above do not necessarily resemble the figures in the statement of changes in financial position 
which was presented as part of 1990 financial statements. 

fh« nniiKMi xatemmu iff lomproni at pa^« o »o 13 

Source: 1991 Annual Report of National Imports & Exports Co 
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EXHIBIT 8 

SAMPLE OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY- PUBLIC 
CORPORATIONS 

C H A N C E S IN 
vear ended 31 December 1991 

) H A R E H O L D C H S * C J Q U I T Y 

Bahrain! dinars 

1991 1990 

SHARE CAPITAL in shares of BD 1 each 

Authorised issued and fully paid 6.000.000 6.000,000 
* 

Share Retained Tool 

EQUITY at 1 January 1991 capital earnings equity 

Share capital 6,000.000 - 6,000,000 5.000.000 

Retained earnings 

Statutory reserve - 2.000.000 2,000.000 1000.000 

Contingency reserve - 6,300.000 6,500.000 6,500.000 

General reserve - 751,256 751256 1,731.256 

Unappropriated - 209,829 209.829 99.528 

6,000,000 9,461,085 15,461.085 15.350.780 

Movements in the year 

BONUS ISSUE CAPITALISATION 

Issued share capital - - - 1.000.000 

From general reserve - - - (1.000.000) 

RETAINED EARNINGS TRANSFERS 

To appropriations (page o) - (209.829) (209.829) ( 99.524) 

From appropriations (page o) - 95.454 95.454 209,529 

NET DECREASE (1990 : increae) - (114.375) (114.375) 110.305 

EQUITY at 31 December 1991 

Share capital 6.000.000 - 6.000.000 o.OOO.OOO 

Retained earnings 

Statutory reserve - 1000.000 2.000.000 2.000.000 

Conuncency reserve - 6.500.000 6.500.000 6.300.000 

Generai reserve 731.256 751.256 "51.236 

Unappropriated - 95 4 $4 95.454 20° ?2° 

Twai caum (pace ?) 6.000.000 9.346.710 15.346.710 13.461.083 

Source: 1991 Annual Report of National Imports & Exports Co. 
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